AUSTRALIA & NEW ZEALAND BANKING GROUP LTD Form 6-K April 11, 2007

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 6-K

REPORT OF FOREIGN ISSUER PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-16 OR 15D-16 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For 19 February 2007 and the Period from 3 March 2007 to 31 March 2007

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited

ACN 005 357 522

(Translation of registrant s name into English)

Level 6, 100 Queen Street Melbourne Victoria 3000 Australia

(Address of principal executive offices)

Indicate b	v check ms	ark whether	the registrant	files or	will file annua	d reports under	cover of Form	20-F or 1	Form 40	LF.

Form 20-F x Form 40-F o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant by furnishing the information contained in this Form is also thereby furnishing the information to the Commission pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Yes O No X

If Yes is marked, indicate below the file number assigned to the registrant in connection with Rule 12g3-2(b):

This Form 6-K may contain certain forward-looking statements, including statements regarding (i) economic and financial forecasts, (ii) anticipated implementation of certain control systems and programs, (iii) the expected outcomes of legal proceedings and (iv) strategic priorities. Such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are beyond our control and which may cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statement contained in these forward-looking statements. For example, these forward-looking statements may be affected by movements in exchange rates and interest rates, general economic conditions, our ability to acquire or develop necessary technology, our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel, government regulation, the competitive environment and political and regulatory policies. There can be no assurance that actual outcomes will not differ materially from the forward-looking statements contained in the Form 6-K.

Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited (Registrant)

By:

/s/ Simon Pordage Deputy Company Secretary (Signature)*

Date 11 April 2007

2

^{*} Print the name and title of the signing officer under his signature.

RECOMMENDED CASH OFFER

by

ANZ Online Holdings Pty Limited ACN 124 093 625

a wholly-owned subsidiary of

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited ABN 11 005 357 522

to acquire all of your shares in

ETRADE Australia Limited ABN 12 003 042 082

for

\$4.05 CASH

per share

This is an important document and requires your immediate attention. If you are in doubt as to how to deal with it please consult your financial or other professional adviser.

[inside front cover]

IMPORTANT INFORMATION

Bidder s Statement

Important dates

Bidder s Statement lodged with ASIC 2 March 2007

Offer opens (date of offer) [date - leave blank when lodged]

Offer closes (unless extended) 7:00pm (Melbourne time) on [date leave blank when lodged]

This Bidder s Statement is dated 2 March 2007.

This Bidder s Statement is given by ANZ Online Holdings Pty Limited ACN 124 093 625 to ETRADE Australia Limited ABN 12 003 042 082 under Part 6.5 of the Corporations Act. This Bidder s Statement includes an Offer dated [despatch date leave blank when Bidder s Statement is lodged] to acquire your E*TRADE Shares and also sets out certain disclosures required by the Corporations Act.

A copy of this Bidder s Statement was lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) on 2 March 2007. ASIC takes no responsibility for the contents of this Bidder s Statement.

A number of defined terms are used in this Bidder s Statement. These terms are defined in Part 8.

Investment decisions

This document does not take into account the investment objectives, financial situation or particular needs of any person. Before deciding whether or not to accept the offer you may wish to seek independent financial and taxation advice.

Forward looking statements

This document contains forward looking statements. Forward looking statements are not based on historical facts, but are based on current expectations of future results or events. These forward looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions which could cause actual results or events to differ materially from the expectations described in such forward looking statements. While ANZ and ANZ Online believe that the expectations reflected in the forward looking statements in this document are reasonable, no assurance can be given that such expectations will prove to be correct. Matters as yet not known to ANZ and ANZ Online or not currently considered material by ANZ or ANZ Online may cause actual results or events to be materially different from those expressed, implied or projected in any forward looking statements. Any forward looking statement contained in this document is qualified by this cautionary statement.

[ANZ Letterhead]

[date of offer] 2007

Recommended Cash Offer For Your E*TRADE Shares

Dear E*TRADE Australia shareholder,

I am pleased to present you with this Offer to acquire all your shares in E*TRADE Australia for \$4.05 per share.

The independent directors of E*TRADE Australia (Kerry Roxburgh, Brett Spork, Jim Dominguez and Ian Hunter) have said they will unanimously recommend that E*TRADE Australia shareholders accept the Offer, and that they intend to accept this Offer for their own holdings of E*TRADE Australia, in the absence of a superior proposal and subject to an independent expert concluding that the Offer is fair and reasonable.(1)

Benefits of the Offer

ANZ s Offer provides very attractive value for your investment in E*TRADE Australia. The Offer represents:

- a **25.5**% premium to the three month volume weighted average price of E*TRADE Australia shares prior to the announcement of the Offer on 19 February 2007; and
- a **39.4**% premium to the three month volume weighted average price of E*TRADE Australia shares before recent press speculation of a possible takeover.(2)

ANZ is E*TRADE Australia s largest shareholder with a 34.2% shareholding accumulated as part of a strategic alliance formed between ANZ and E*TRADE Australia in 1999.

ANZ believes that E*TRADE Australia s business would benefit from additional management and operational expertise and support to consolidate and build on its recent growth. ANZ can provide this.

How to accept the Offer

The Offer is scheduled to close at 7:00pm (Melbourne time) on [date].

To accept this Offer please follow the instructions on the enclosed Transfer and Acceptance Form. If you have any questions in relation to the Offer, please contact ANZ s Offer Information Line on

- (1) ASX announcement by E*TRADE Australia of 19 February 2007
- (2) E*TRADE boss's unexpected exit fuels takeover talk, Australian Financial Review, 16 January 2007, page 14

1300 301 126 (within Australia) or +61 2 9936 1977 (outside Australia) between the hours of 9:00am and 5:00pm Melbourne time (Monday to Friday)(3), or visit ANZ s website at www.anz.com.

I encourage you to consider this document carefully and accept ANZ s Offer.

Yours faithfully

Brian Hartzer Group Managing Director, Personal Division Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited

(3) As required by the Corporations Act, all calls will be recorded, indexed and stored.

ii

CONTENTS

PART 1 SUMMARY OF THE OFFER	
PART 2 WHY YOU SHOULD ACCEPT THE OF	<u>FE</u> R
PART 3 FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS	
PART 4 THE OFFER TERMS	
<u>1.</u>	THE OFFER
<u>2.</u>	OFFER PERIOD
<u>3.</u>	HOW TO ACCEPT THIS OFFER
<u>4.</u>	YOUR AGREEMENT RESULTING FROM ACCEPTANCE
<u>4.</u> <u>5.</u>	DEFEATING CONDITIONS
<u>6.</u>	PAYMENT OF CONSIDERATION
<u>7.</u>	OFFEREES
<u>8.</u>	VARIATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF OFFER
<u>-</u> <u>9.</u>	GOVERNING LAW
	ENTIONS CONCERNING E*TRADE AUSTRALIA AND ITS SOURCES OF
CASH CONSIDERATION	
10.	IDENTITY OF ANZ
<u>10.</u> 11.	IDENTITY OF ANZ REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION
<u>11.</u>	REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION
11. 12.	REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION ANZ S INTENTIONS
11. 12. 13.	REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION ANZ S INTENTIONS SOURCES OF CASH CONSIDERATION
11. 12. 13. PART 6 AUSTRALIAN TAX CONSIDERATION	REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION ANZ S INTENTIONS SOURCES OF CASH CONSIDERATION
11. 12. 13. PART 6 AUSTRALIAN TAX CONSIDERATION 14.	REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION ANZ S INTENTIONS SOURCES OF CASH CONSIDERATION
11. 12. 13. PART 6 AUSTRALIAN TAX CONSIDERATION 14. PART 7 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION ANZ S INTENTIONS SOURCES OF CASH CONSIDERATION [S] TAXATION CONSIDERATIONS
11. 12. 13. PART 6 AUSTRALIAN TAX CONSIDERATION 14. PART 7 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 15.	REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION ANZ S INTENTIONS SOURCES OF CASH CONSIDERATION [S TAXATION CONSIDERATIONS INFORMATION ON SECURITIES IN E*TRADE AUSTRALIA
11. 12. 13. PART 6 AUSTRALIAN TAX CONSIDERATION 14. PART 7 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 15. 16.	REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION ANZ S INTENTIONS SOURCES OF CASH CONSIDERATION STAXATION CONSIDERATIONS INFORMATION ON SECURITIES IN E*TRADE AUSTRALIA OTHER MATERIAL INFORMATION
11. 12. 13. PART 6 AUSTRALIAN TAX CONSIDERATION 14. PART 7 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 15. 16. 17.	REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION ANZ S INTENTIONS SOURCES OF CASH CONSIDERATION S TAXATION CONSIDERATIONS INFORMATION ON SECURITIES IN E*TRADE AUSTRALIA OTHER MATERIAL INFORMATION OTHER MATTERS
11. 12. 13. PART 6 AUSTRALIAN TAX CONSIDERATION 14. PART 7 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 15. 16. 17. PART 8 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION ANZ S INTENTIONS SOURCES OF CASH CONSIDERATION S TAXATION CONSIDERATIONS INFORMATION ON SECURITIES IN E*TRADE AUSTRALIA OTHER MATERIAL INFORMATION OTHER MATTERS
11. 12. 13. PART 6 AUSTRALIAN TAX CONSIDERATION 14. PART 7 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 15. 16. 17.	REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION ANZ S INTENTIONS SOURCES OF CASH CONSIDERATION S TAXATION CONSIDERATIONS INFORMATION ON SECURITIES IN E*TRADE AUSTRALIA OTHER MATERIAL INFORMATION OTHER MATTERS

PART 1 SUMMARY OF THE OFFER

The Offer ANZ Online offers to acquire all of your E*TRADE Shares for \$4.05 cash per share.

Payment Terms If you accept the Offer, ANZ Online will pay you \$4.05 cash for each of your E*TRADE Shares by the earlier of:

- one month after the day both of the following apply:
- you have validly accepted the Offer; and
- the Offer has become unconditional;
- 21 days after the end of the Offer Period, provided that the Offer has become unconditional.

Closing date Unless withdrawn or extended the Offer is open until 7:00pm Melbourne time on [date].

Conditions The Offer is subject to the conditions set out in clause 5.1 of this Bidder s Statement.

How to accept CHESS Holdings

Instruct your Controlling Participant (usually your broker) to accept the Offer for you or you may complete, sign and return the Transfer and Acceptance Form.

Issuer Sponsored Holdings and other holdings

Complete, sign and return the Transfer and Acceptance Form.

No brokerage You will not pay any brokerage on accepting the Offer.

Further information Please call 1300 301 126 within Australia (or +61 2 9936 1977 outside Australia) between the hours of 9:00am and

5:00pm Melbourne time (Monday to Friday)(4) or visit ANZ s website at www.anz.com.

1

⁽⁴⁾ As required by the Corporations Act, all calls will be recorded, indexed and stored.

PART 2 WHY YOU SHOULD ACCEPT THE OFFER

1	UNANIMOUS RECOMMENDATION BY E*TRADE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS	X
2	YOU WILL RECEIVE A SIGNIFICANT PREMIUM FOR YOUR E*TRADE SHARES OVER THE PRE-ANNOUNCEMENT SHARE PRICE	x
3	YOU WILL RECEIVE SUBSTANTIAL VALUE FOR YOUR E*TRADE SHARES	X
4	E*TRADE AUSTRALIA WOULD BENEFIT FROM ADDITIONAL MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONAL SUPPORT FOR FUTURE GROWTH	x
5	IN THE ABSENCE OF ANZ $$ s OFFER, THE E*TRADE SHARE PRICE IS LIKELY TO FALL	X
6	YOU WILL NOT INCUR ANY BROKERAGE BY ACCEPTING THE OFFER	x

1) UNANIMOUS RECOMMENDATION BY E*TRADE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

A committee of independent directors of E*TRADE Australia(5) unanimously recommend that you accept the Offer in the absence of a superior proposal and subject to an independent expert concluding that the offer is fair and reasonable.

Each of these independent directors has said that he intends to accept this Offer for his own holdings of E*TRADE Shares on that basis.(6)

On 19 February 2007, E*TRADE Australia s Chairman, Mr Kerry Roxburgh said:

Given the offer s premium to E*TRADE Australia s share price and particularly relative to historic share prices, it is a compelling offer. The committee of independent directors have concluded it is in the best interests of all shareholders and are pleased for shareholders to consider it.

(6) E*TRADE Australia s announcement to ASX dated 19 February 2007.

2

⁽⁵⁾ The committee of independent directors of E*TRADE Australia comprises Kerry Roxburgh, Jim Dominguez, Ian Hunter and Brett Spork. The committee excludes John Harries and Geoff Cohen who were nominated to the E*TRADE Australia board by ANZ and are executives of ANZ, and Jarrett Lilien who was nominated by E*TRADE Financial Corporation.

Based on the great success we have already realised from our alliance, the integration of E*TRADE Australia and ANZ is a logical next step. (7)

2) YOU WILL RECEIVE A SIGNIFICANT PREMIUM FOR YOUR E*TRADE SHARES OVER THE PRE-ANNOUNCEMENT SHARE PRICE

The \$4.05 Offer price is well above where E*TRADE Shares have traded over the three years prior to the announcement of ANZ s Offer.(8)

E*TRADE Australia Three Year Share Price History Prior to Announcement

3

⁽⁷⁾ E*TRADE Australia s announcement to ASX dated 19 February 2007.

⁽⁸⁾ The Offer was announced on 19 February 2007.

⁽⁹⁾ Street Talk, Australian Financial Review, 2 November 2006, page 28.

⁽¹⁰⁾ E*TRADE boss s unexpected exit fuels takeover talk , Australian Financial Review, 16 January 2007, page 14.

The \$4.05 Offer price also represents a significant premium to the prices at which E*TRADE Shares have traded over the six months prior to the Offer announcement, notwithstanding that E*TRADE Shares have appreciated 63.0% during this time:

- 43.2% premium to the six month VWAP prior to announcement(11) (54.6% premium to the six month VWAP prior to speculation(12));
- 25.5% premium to the three month VWAP prior to announcement (39.4% premium to the three month VWAP prior to speculation); and
- 17.0% premium to the one month VWAP prior to announcement (30.2% premium to the one month VWAP prior to speculation).

Significant Offer Premium (11), (12)

4

⁽¹¹⁾ Pre-announcement VWAP calculated up until 16 February 2007, the last trading day prior to announcement on 19 February 2007.

⁽¹²⁾ Pre-speculation VWAP calculated up until 15 January 2007, the last trading day prior to press takeover speculation as reported in E*TRADE boss s unexpected exit fuels takeover talk , Australian Financial Review, 16 January 2007, page 14.

3) YOU WILL RECEIVE SUBSTANTIAL VALUE FOR YOUR E*TRADE SHARES

The \$4.05 Offer represents a significant Price/Earnings (P/E) multiple of E*TRADE Australia s earnings:

- **17.0x** E*TRADE Australia s Basic Earnings Per Share (**EPS**) for the 12 months ended 31 December 2006, excluding non-recurring items;(13) and
- **24.5x** E*TRADE Australia s EPS for the 12 months ended 31 December 2006, excluding non-recurring items and normalised to allow for the corporate tax rate.(14)

The relative P/E multiples implied by ANZ s Offer of \$4.05 per share illustrate that shareholders will receive full value for their investment in E*TRADE Australia.(15) This is further emphasised when an adjustment is made to take account of the full corporate tax rate to which E*TRADE Australia is likely to be subject once tax losses have been fully utilised.

Relative P/E Multiples (13)(14)(15)

⁽¹³⁾ Non-recurring items comprises a \$3.6 million income tax benefit and \$2.2 million of non-recurring costs for the six months ended 31 December 2006.

⁽¹⁴⁾ E*TRADE Australia did not record any income tax expense for the year ended June 2006 due to accumulated tax losses. At 31 December 2006, E*TRADE Australia held a recognised deferred tax asset (DTA) of \$3.8 million in respect of carry forward tax losses and net temporary differences. To the extent DTA on tax losses are utilised in the second half of financial year 2007, that amount will be reduced in the full year ending 30 June 2007. The tax normalised 2006 P/E multiple is based on E*TRADE Australia s net profit before tax (pre associates, amortisation and non-recurring items) for the 12 months ended 31 December 2006 of \$24.2 million, taxed at 30%, plus associates (post tax) of \$1.0 million, resulting in a tax normalised EPS of \$0.17.

⁽¹⁵⁾ P/E multiples based on share prices as at 16 February 2007. E*TRADE Financial Corporation EPS from 2006 annual report. S&P/ASX 300 Index P/E multiple is based on the average of broker analyst aggregate index company earnings estimates that could be identified around the time of the announcement, and have been calendarised to 31 December 2006 year end. Two broker analyst estimates have been used in the sample (dated 16 February 2007 and 19 February 2007 respectively), both of which infer P/E multiples of 16.0x.

5

4) E*TRADE AUSTRALIA WOULD BENEFIT FROM ADDITIONAL MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONAL SUPPORT FOR FUTURE GROWTH

ANZ believes E*TRADE Australia s business would benefit from additional management and operational expertise and support to consolidate and build on its recent growth. ANZ can provide this, particularly given its transaction processing expertise.

5) IN THE ABSENCE OF ANZ S OFFER, THE E*TRADE SHARE PRICE IS LIKELY TO FALL

E*TRADE Australia s share price has increased materially in the period immediately prior to the announcement of ANZ s Offer:

- More than 60% in the preceding six months; and
- 10.8% from the date prior to speculation about a possible takeover of E*TRADE Australia reported in the press on 16 January 2007.(16)

Following the announcement of ANZ s Offer, E*TRADE Shares have traded above the \$4.05 Offer price.

E*TRADE Australia One Year Share Price History

6

⁽¹⁶⁾ E*TRADE boss s unexpected exit fuels takeover talk , Australian Financial Review, 16 January 2007, page 14.

⁽¹⁷⁾ Street Talk, Australian Financial Review, 2 November 2006, page 28.

If ANZ s Offer does not proceed, and no other offers are made for E*TRADE Shares, you will continue to own your E*TRADE Shares and, in ANZ s view, it is likely that the trading price of E*TRADE Shares will fall.

ANZ currently holds a 34.2% shareholding in E*TRADE Australia and has strong links with E*TRADE Australia through customer relationships and its existing support for E*TRADE Australia s margin lending and cash management operations. No other party can acquire 100% of E*TRADE Australia without ANZ s support.

6) YOU WILL NOT INCUR ANY BROKERAGE BY ACCEPTING THE OFFER

E*TRADE Shareholders will not pay any brokerage charges (or GST on such brokerage charges) on accepting the Offer.

7

PART 3 FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS

This section answers some commonly asked questions about the Offer. It is not intended to address all relevant issues for E*TRADE Australia shareholders. This section should be read together with all other parts of this Bidder s Statement.

Question	Answer
What is the Bidder s Statement?	The Bidder s Statement was prepared by ANZ Online for distribution to E*TRADE Australia shareholders. It sets out the terms of ANZ s Offer and information relating to ANZ s Offer and the consideration you will receive.
	The Bidder s Statement is an important document. If you are in any doubt as to how to deal with this document, you should consult your broker or your legal, financial or other professional adviser as soon as possible.
Who is the Bidder?	The Bidder is ANZ Online Holdings Pty Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of ANZ.
Who is ANZ?	ANZ is one of four major Australian-based banking groups, and is headquartered in Melbourne. ANZ conducts its operations primarily in Australia and New Zealand. ANZ also operates across the Asian and Pacific regions, and in a number of other countries including the United Kingdom and the United States.
	ANZ is E*TRADE Australia s largest shareholder with a 34.2% shareholding accumulated as part of a strategic alliance formed between ANZ and E*TRADE Australia in 1999.
What is ANZ s Offer for my E*TRADE Shares?	ANZ Online is offering \$4.05 cash per share for all of your E*TRADE Shares.
What choices do I have as an E*TRADE Australia shareholder?	You have the following choices in respect of your E*TRADE Shares:
	• accept ANZ s Offer of \$4.05 per share; or
	• sell your shares on ASX (unless you have previously accepted ANZ s Offer for your shares); or
	• do nothing.
8	

Question	Answer
What are the committee of independent directors of E*TRADE Australia recommending?	The committee of independent directors of E*TRADE Australia recommends that you accept the Offer, in the absence of a superior proposal and subject to an independent expert concluding that ANZ s Offer is fair and reasonable. The committee of independent directors comprises Kerry Roxburgh, Jim Dominguez, Ian Hunter and Brett Spork.
	Each of these directors has said that he intends to accept the Offer in respect of his E*TRADE Shares, in the absence of a superior proposal and subject to an independent expert concluding that ANZ s Offer is fair and reasonable.
Why is an independent expert s report required?	An independent expert s report is required where a bidder is entitled to not less than 30% of the target company s voting shares.
	Due to ANZ s existing 34.2% holding in E*TRADE Australia, an independent expert s report must accompany E*TRADE Australia s target s statement.
When will E*TRADE Australia shareholders receive the independent expert s report?	The independent expert s report will accompany the target s statement and be mailed to all E*TRADE Australia shareholders. ANZ expects that you will receive the target s statement within approximately two weeks after you receive this Offer.
How do I accept the Offer?	Details of how to accept the Offer are set out in clause 3 of the Bidder s Statement.
Can I accept the Offer for part of my shareholding?	No. You cannot accept for part of your shareholding. You may only accept the Offer for all of your $E*TRADE$ Shares.
When does the Offer close?	The Offer is scheduled to close at 7.00pm (Melbourne time) on [date], unless extended.
	See clause 8 for details of the circumstances in which the Offer Period can be extended.
Will I pay brokerage if I accept the Offer?	No. However, you may incur brokerage costs and GST on those costs if you choose to sell your E*TRADE Shares on ASX.
Can I withdraw my acceptance?	Under the terms of the Offer, you cannot withdraw your acceptance unless a withdrawal right arises
9	

Question	Answer
	under the Corporations Act.
	Such a withdrawal right will arise if, after you have accepted the Offer, ANZ Online varies the Offer in a way that postpones, for more than one month, the time when ANZ Online has to meet its obligations under the Offer, and the Offer is still conditional at that time.
When will I be paid if I accept the Offer?	If you accept the Offer, you will be paid your consideration on the earlier of:
	• one month after the later of the date you accept the Offer or the date that the Offer becomes or is declared unconditional; or
	• 21 days after the end of the Offer Period, provided that the Offer has become unconditional. However, there are certain exceptions to the above timetable for payment. See clause 6 of the Bidder s Statement for further information.
What are the conditions to the Offer?	A full list of conditions is set out in clause 5 of the Bidder s Statement.
What happens if the conditions of the Offer are not satisfied or waived?	If the conditions of the Offer are not satisfied or waived before the Offer closes, the Offer will lapse.
	ANZ Online will make an announcement to ASX if the conditions of the Offer are satisfied or waived during the Offer Period.
10	

Question	Answer
What happens if I do not accept the Offer?	Subject to what is stated below, you will remain the holder of your E*TRADE Shares if you do not accept the Offer.
	If ANZ Online (and its associates) acquire 90% of E*TRADE Shares and the other conditions of the Offer are satisfied or waived, it intends to compulsorily acquire your E*TRADE Shares under the compulsory acquisition provisions of the Corporations Act.
	Under compulsory acquisition, you will be provided the Offer consideration of \$4.05 cash per E*TRADE Share at the conclusion of this process. You will receive the Offer consideration sooner if you accept the Offer during the Offer period.
Will E*TRADE Australia remain listed on ASX?	If ANZ Online (and its associates) acquire 90% or more of E*TRADE Shares before or at the end of the Offer Period and the other conditions of ANZ s Offer are satisfied or waived, it intends to proceed to compulsory acquisition of the remaining E*TRADE Shares under the Corporations Act. E*TRADE Shares will then be removed from quotation on ASX and E*TRADE Australia will cease to be listed on ASX.
What are the tax implications of accepting the Offer?	A general outline of the tax implications of accepting the Offer for Australian resident E*TRADE Australia shareholders is set out in Part 6 of this Bidder s Statement.
	As the outline is a general guide only, shareholders are encouraged to seek their own specific professional advice as to the taxation implications applicable to their circumstances.
Is there a number that I can call if I have further queries in relation to the Offer?	You can call ANZ s Offer Information Line on 1300 301 126 (within Australia) or +61 2 9936 1977 (outside Australia) between 9:00am and 5:00pm (Melbourne time), Monday to Friday.
	As required by the Corporations Act, all calls to ANZ s Offer Information Line will be recorded.
11	

PART 4 THE OFFER TERMS

1. THE OFFER

ANZ Online offers to acquire all of your E*TRADE Shares for \$4.05 cash per share, on the terms set out in this Offer.

2. **OFFER PERIOD**

Unless withdrawn or extended under clause 8, this Offer is open during the period that begins on the date of this Offer and ends at 7:00pm Melbourne time on [close date | leave blank when bidder | s statement is lodged].

If, within the last seven days of the Offer Period:

- (a) ANZ Online varies the Offers to improve the consideration offered;
- (b) the consideration is taken to be increased under section 651A(2) of the Corporations Act because ANZ Online purchases E*TRADE Shares outside the Takeover Bid for a cash price higher than the consideration offered; or
- (c) ANZ Online s voting power in E*TRADE Australia increases to more than 50%,

section 624(2) of the Corporations Act will apply to extend the Offer Period so that it ends 14 days after that event.

3. HOW TO ACCEPT THIS OFFER

3.1 Offer for all your E*TRADE Shares

You may only accept this Offer for all your E*TRADE Shares.

3.2 CHESS Holdings

If your E*TRADE Shares are in a CHESS Holding you must either:

- (a) **instruct** your Controlling Participant (usually your broker) to initiate acceptance on your behalf under rule 14.14 of the ASTC Settlement Rules, so as to be effective before the end of the Offer Period; or
- (b) **complete and sign** the Transfer and Acceptance Form in accordance with the instructions on it and **return** the Transfer and Acceptance Form together with all other documents required by the instructions on it to the address specified on the form. This will authorise ANZ Online to instruct your Controlling Participant (usually your broker) to initiate acceptance of this Offer on your behalf. For return of the Transfer and Acceptance Form to be an effective acceptance of the Offer, you must ensure it is received by ANZ Online in time for ANZ Online to give instructions to your Controlling Participant, and your Controlling Participant to carry out those instructions, before the end of the Offer Period.

12

If you are a Participant, you must initiate acceptance of this Offer under rule 14.14 of the ASTC Settlement Rules, so as to be effective before the end of the Offer Period.

3.3 Issuer Sponsored Holdings and other holdings

If your E*TRADE Shares are held on E*TRADE Australia s issuer sponsored subregister, or if at the time of your acceptance you are entitled to be registered as the holder, or are otherwise able to give good title, to accept this Offer you must:

- (a) **complete and sign** the Transfer and Acceptance Form in accordance with the instructions on it; and
- (b) **return** the Transfer and Acceptance Form together with all other documents required by the instructions on it to the address specified on the form so that they are received before the end of the Offer Period.

3.4 Foreign Laws

This Offer is not registered in any jurisdiction outside Australia (unless an applicable Foreign Law treats it as registered as a result of the Bidder's Statement being lodged with ASIC). It is your sole responsibility to satisfy yourself that you are permitted by any Foreign Law applicable to you to accept this Offer.

4. YOUR AGREEMENT RESULTING FROM ACCEPTANCE

4.1 Effect of Transfer and Acceptance Form

By signing and returning the Transfer and Acceptance Form in accordance with clause 3, you:

- (a) authorise ANZ Online and each of its officers and agents to correct any errors in, or omissions from, the Transfer and Acceptance Form necessary to:
- (i) make it an effective acceptance of this Offer for your E*TRADE Shares which are not in a CHESS Holding; and
- (ii) enable the transfer of your E*TRADE Shares to ANZ Online; and
- (b) if any of your E*TRADE Shares are in a CHESS Holding, authorise ANZ Online to:
- (i) instruct your Controlling Participant to effect your acceptance of this Offer for those E*TRADE Shares under rule 14.14 of the ASTC Settlement Rules; and
- (ii) give to your Controlling Participant on your behalf any other instructions in relation to those E*TRADE Shares which are contemplated by the sponsorship agreement between you and your Controlling Participant and are necessary or appropriate to facilitate your acceptance of this Offer.

13

4.2 Your agreement

By signing and returning the Transfer and Acceptance Form or initiating or causing acceptance of this Offer under the ASTC Settlement Rules in accordance with clause 3:

- (a) you accept this Offer in respect of all of your E*TRADE Shares registered as held by you at the date your acceptance is processed (despite any difference between that number and the number of E*TRADE Shares specified in the Transfer and Acceptance Form);
- (b) you represent and warrant to ANZ Online that all your E*TRADE Shares will at the time of your acceptance of this Offer and of transfer to ANZ Online be fully paid up and that ANZ Online will acquire good title to and beneficial ownership of them free from Encumbrances;
- (c) you transfer, or consent to the transfer in accordance with the ASTC Settlement Rules of, your E*TRADE Shares to ANZ Online subject to the conditions of the constitution of E*TRADE Australia on which they were held immediately before your acceptance of this Offer (and ANZ Online agrees to take those E*TRADE Shares subject to those conditions);
- (d) if and when the contract resulting from your acceptance of this Offer becomes unconditional, you irrevocably appoint ANZ Online and each director of, and any nominee of, ANZ Online as your attorney to:
- (i) attend and vote in respect of your E*TRADE Shares at all general meetings of E*TRADE Australia; and
- (ii) execute all forms, notices, documents (including a document appointing a director of ANZ Online as a proxy for any of your E*TRADE Shares) and resolutions relating to your E*TRADE Shares and generally to exercise all powers and rights which you have as the registered holder of your E*TRADE Shares;
- (e) you agree that in exercising the powers conferred by the power of attorney in clause 4.2(d), ANZ Online and each of its directors and its nominee is entitled to act in the interests of ANZ Online:
- (f) you agree not to attend or vote in person at any general meeting of E*TRADE Australia or to exercise, or to purport to exercise, (in person, by proxy or otherwise) any of the powers conferred on the directors of ANZ Online by clause 4.2(d);
- (g) if and when the contract resulting from your acceptance of this Offer becomes unconditional (even though ANZ Online has not yet paid or provided the consideration due to you), you authorise ANZ Online to transmit a message to ASTC in accordance with rule 14.17.1 of the ASTC Settlement Rules so as to enter those of your E*TRADE Shares which are in a CHESS Holding into ANZ Online s Takeover Transferee Holding; and

14

(h) you agree to indemnify ANZ Online (and each of its directors, officers and agents) in respect of any claim or action against it or any loss, damage or liability whatsoever incurred by it as a result of you not producing your Holder Identification Number (or HIN) or Securityholder Reference Number (or SRN) or in consequence of the transfer of your E*TRADE Shares being registered by ANZ Online without production of your Holder Identification Number or Securityholder Reference Number.

4.3 **Powers of attorney**

If the Transfer and Acceptance Form is signed under power of attorney, the attorney declares that the attorney has no notice of revocation of the power and is empowered to delegate powers under the power of attorney under clause 4.1 and paragraphs (d) and (g) of clause 4.2.

4.4 Validation of otherwise ineffective acceptances

Except for E*TRADE Shares in a CHESS Holding, ANZ Online may treat the receipt by it of a signed Transfer and Acceptance Form as a valid acceptance of this Offer even though it does not receive the other documents required by the instructions on the Transfer and Acceptance Form or there is not compliance with any one or more of the other requirements for acceptance. If ANZ Online does treat such a Transfer and Acceptance Form as valid, subject to clause 6, ANZ Online will not be obliged to give the consideration to you until ANZ Online receives all those documents and all of the requirements for acceptance referred to in clause 3.3 and in the Transfer and Acceptance Form have been met.

5. **DEFEATING CONDITIONS**

5.1 **Defeating Conditions of this Offer**

This Offer and the contract resulting from acceptance of this Offer are subject to the fulfilment of the following Defeating Conditions:

(a) Minimum acceptance condition

15

During, or at the end of, the Offer Period, the number of E*TRADE Shares in which ANZ Online and its associates together have relevant interests (disregarding any relevant interest that ANZ Online has merely because of the operation of section 608(3) of the Corporations Act) is at least 90% of all the E*TRADE Shares (even if that number later becomes less than 90% of all the E*TRADE Shares as a result of the issue of further E*TRADE Shares).

(b) No action by Public Authority adversely affecting ANZ s Offer

During the period from and including the Announcement Date to the end of the Offer Period:

(i) there is not in effect any preliminary or final decision, order or decree issued by a Public Authority;

(ii)	no action or investigation is instituted, or threatened by any Public Authority; and
(iii) Group),	no application is made to any Public Authority (other than an application by ANZ Online or any company within the ANZ
otherwise materially Online in respect of	r in connection with, the Offer, which restrains, prohibits or impedes, or threatens to restrain, prohibit or impede, or may adversely impact upon, the making of the Offer, the acquisition of E*TRADE Shares under the Offer or the rights of ANZ E*TRADE Australia and the E*TRADE Shares to be acquired under the Offer or otherwise, or seeks to require the Online (or ANZ) of any E*TRADE Shares, or the divestiture of any assets by a member of the E*TRADE Australia Group
(c)	E*TRADE Licence
Before the end of the	e Offer Period, E*TRADE Financial Corporation (formerly, E*TRADE Group Inc.):
(i)	does not exercise or give notice that it intends to exercise its right to terminate the E*TRADE Licence without cause; and
(ii) of its right to termina	provides to each of ETRADE Australia Securities Limited and E*TRADE Australia an enforceable and irrevocable waiver ate the E*TRADE Licence without cause which is conditional only on:
	each of ETRADE Australia Securities Limited and E*TRADE Australia providing a reciprocal waiver of their right to ADE Licence without cause (including subject to the condition referred to in sub-subparagraph (B) below); and
(B)	the Offer becoming unconditional.
(d)	No material adverse change
During the period from	om and including the Announcement Date to the end of the Offer Period:
(i)	there is no occurrence or matter, including (without limitation):
status or terms of an	any change in the status or terms of arrangements entered into with E*TRADE Australia or any of its subsidiaries or the y licences, authorities, consents, approvals, orders, waivers, relief, rulings and decisions which are applicable to E*TRADE as subsidiaries (whether or not wholly or partly attributable to the making of the Offer, and/or the acquisition of E*TRADE are);
(B)	any liability for duty or tax;
16	

(C)	any liability resulting from a change of control of E*TRADE Australia; and
-----	--

(D) any change in the law (whether retrospective or not),

that is not apparent from information available to ANZ as at the Announcement Date and that (individually or together with others) has or could reasonably be expected to have a materially adverse effect on the assets, liabilities, financial or trading position, profitability or prospects of E*TRADE Australia and its subsidiaries taken as a whole; and

(ii) no occurrence or matter of the type referred to in clause 5.1(d)(i), which occurred before the Announcement Date but was not apparent from publicly available information before then, becomes public.

An occurrence or matter that has or could reasonably be expected to have the effect of reducing:

- (1) the consolidated net profit after tax of the E*TRADE Australia Group on an on-going basis by more than \$2.0 million; or
- the consolidated net assets of the E*TRADE Australia Group by \$10 million or more,

is deemed to be an occurrence or matter of the type referred to in clause 5.1(d)(i).

(e) No material transactions, acquisitions or disposals

During the period from and including the Announcement Date to the end of the Offer Period, none of E*TRADE Australia, or any subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia:

- (i) acquires, offers to acquire or agrees to acquire one or more companies or assets (or an interest in one or more companies or assets) for an amount in aggregate greater than \$8.0 million;
- (ii) disposes, offers to dispose or agrees to dispose of one or more assets (or an interest in one or more assets) for an amount in aggregate greater than \$8.0 million;
- (iii) enters into or offers to enter into any joint venture, asset or profit sharing, partnership, merger of businesses (including through a dual listed companies structure) or of corporate entities, involving a commitment or value of greater than \$4.0 million;
- (iv) incurs, commits to or brings forward the time for incurring, or grants to another person a right the exercise of which would involve E*TRADE Australia or any subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia incurring or committing to, any capital expenditure or liability, or foregoes any revenue for one or more related items or amounts of greater than \$4.0 million;

17

(v) ordinary	gives or agrees to give any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other encumbrance or right over any of its assets, otherwise than in the course of business;			
(vi)	declares, or distributes any dividend, bonus or other share of its profits or assets;			
(vii) enters or agrees to enter into any contract of service for the appointment of, or varies or agrees to vary any existing contract of service with, any director, executive or manager (including any replacement chief executive officer), or pays or agrees to pay any retirement benefit or allowance to any director, manager or other employee, or makes or agrees to make any substantial change in the basis or amount of remuneration of any director, manager or other employee (except as required by law or provided under any superannuation, provident or retirement scheme as in effect on the Announcement Date). Nothing in this paragraph prevents E*TRADE Australia or any subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia from increasing the remuneration of its employees with effect from 1 July 2007 in the ordinary course of its business;				
(viii)	conducts its business otherwise than in the ordinary course;			
(ix) or an ap	(ix) has threatened or commenced against it any material claims or proceedings in any court or tribunal (including a petition for winding up or an application for appointment of a receiver or receiver and manager); or			
(x) discloses (without having disclosed to ASX prior to the Announcement Date) the existence of any matter described in subparagraphs 5.1(e)(i) to (ix) above, or announces an intention or proposal to do anything described in subparagraphs 5.1(e)(i) to (ix).				
(f)	No prescribed occurrences			
(i) None of the following events happens during the period beginning on the date that this Bidder s Statement is given to E*TRADE Australia and ending at the end of the Offer Period:				
(A)	E*TRADE Australia converts all or any of its shares into a larger or smaller number of shares;			
(B)	E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia resolves to reduce its share capital in any way;			
(C)	E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia:			

(I)

(II)

18

enters into a buy-back agreement; or

Signatures 27

resolves to approve the terms of a buy-back agreement under section 257C(1) or 257D(1) of the Corporations Act;

- (D) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia issues shares or grants an option over its shares, or agrees to make such an issue or grant such an option (other than an issue of shares by E*TRADE Australia made in accordance with an agreement entered into by E*TRADE Australia the details of which were announced to ASX before the Announcement Date);
- (E) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia issues, or agrees to issue, convertible notes;
- (F) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia disposes, or agrees to dispose, of the whole, or a substantial part, of its business or property;
- (G) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia charges, or agrees to charge, the whole, or a substantial part, of its business or property;
- (H) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia resolves to be wound up;
- (I) a liquidator or provisional liquidator of E*TRADE Australia or of a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia is appointed;
- (J) a court makes an order for the winding up of E*TRADE Australia or of a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia;
- (K) an administrator of E*TRADE Australia, or of a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia, is appointed under section 436A, 436B or 436C of the Corporations Act;
- (L) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia executes a deed of company arrangement; or
- (M) a receiver, or a receiver and manager, is appointed in relation to the whole, or a substantial part, of the property of E*TRADE Australia or of a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia.
- (ii) None of the events listed in sub-subparagraphs (A) to (M) of subparagraph 5.1(f)(i) happens during the period beginning on the Announcement Date and ending at the end of the day before the Bidder s Statement is given to E*TRADE Australia.
- (g) S&P/ASX 200 Industrials (Sector) Index

During the period from and including the Announcement Date to the end of the Offer Period, the S&P/ASX 200 Industrials (Sector) Index does not close below 5,855 on any three or more consecutive trading days.

19

5.2 Separate Defeating Conditions for benefit of ANZ Online

Each of the Defeating Conditions set out in each paragraph, subparagraph and sub-subparagraph of clause 5.1:

- (a) is and must be construed as a separate Defeating Condition; and
- (b) subject to the Corporations Act, operates only for the benefit of ANZ Online and any breach or non-fulfilment of such condition may be relied upon only by ANZ Online which may waive (generally or in respect of a particular event) the breach or non-fulfilment of that condition.

5.3 **Nature of Defeating Conditions**

None of the Defeating Conditions prevents a contract to sell your E*TRADE Shares resulting from your acceptance of this Offer but:

- (a) breach of any of the Defeating Conditions entitles ANZ Online to rescind that contract by notice to you; and
- (b) non fulfilment of any of the Defeating Conditions at the end of the Offer Period will have the consequences set out in clause 5.6.

5.4 Notice declaring Offer free of Defeating Conditions

Subject to the Corporations Act, ANZ Online may declare this Offer and any contract resulting from acceptance of this Offer free from any of the Defeating Conditions by giving written notice to E*TRADE Australia:

- (a) in the case of the Defeating Conditions in clause 5.1(f)(i), not later than three business days after the end of the Offer Period; and
- (b) in the case of all other Defeating Conditions, not less than seven days before the last day of the Offer Period.

5.5 Notice publication date

The date for giving the notice on the status of the Defeating Conditions is [date leave blank when bidder s statement is lodged] (subject to extension in accordance with the Corporations Act if the Offer Period is extended under the Corporations Act).

5.6 Contract void if Defeating Conditions not fulfilled

Your acceptance or the contract resulting from your acceptance of this Offer is void if:

- (a) at the end of the Offer Period any of the Defeating Conditions in clause 5.1 is not fulfilled; and
- (b) ANZ Online has not declared this Offer and any contract resulting from the acceptance of it free of that Defeating Condition in accordance with clause 5.4.

20

6. **PAYMENT OF CONSIDERATION**

6.1 When you will receive payment

Subject to this clause 6, if you accept this Offer ANZ Online will pay you the consideration for your E*TRADE Shares on or before the earlier of:

- (a) the day one month after you accept this Offer or, if this Offer is subject to a Defeating Condition when accepted, one month after the contract resulting from your acceptance becomes unconditional; and
- (b) the day 21 days after the end of the Offer Period.

6.2 Transfer and Acceptance Form requires additional documents

Where documents are required to be given to ANZ Online with your acceptance to enable ANZ Online to become the holder of your E*TRADE Shares (such as a power of attorney):

- (a) if the documents are given with your acceptance, ANZ Online will pay you in accordance with clause 6.1;
- (b) if the documents are given after your acceptance and before the end of the Offer Period while the Offer is subject to a Defeating Condition, ANZ Online will pay you the consideration by the end of whichever of the following periods ends first:
- (i) one month after the contract resulting from your acceptance becomes unconditional; and
- (ii) 21 days after the end of the Offer Period;
- (c) if the documents are given after your acceptance and before the end of the Offer Period while the Offer is no longer subject to a Defeating Condition, ANZ Online will pay you the consideration by the end of whichever of the following periods ends first:
- (i) one month after ANZ Online is given the documents; and
- (ii) 21 days after the end of the Offer Period; or
- (d) if the documents are given after the end of the Offer Period, ANZ Online will pay you the consideration within 21 days after the documents are given. However, if at the time ANZ Online is given the documents the contract resulting from acceptance of the Offer is still subject to a Defeating Condition in clause 5.1(f)(i), ANZ Online will pay you the consideration within 21 days after the contract becomes unconditional.

6.3 ANZ Online may set off share scheme debts

If you owe a debt to E*TRADE Australia, or any other person, under the terms of an employee or director incentive scheme, ANZ Online may satisfy its obligations under this Offer by paying as much of the consideration as is required to discharge that debt to

21

E*TRADE Australia (or the other person to whom it is owed) and paying you any remaining consideration.

6.4 **Delivery of consideration**

Subject to the Corporations Act, ANZ Online will send cheques for the cash payment due to you at your risk by pre-paid ordinary mail, or in the case of an address outside Australia by airmail, to the address shown in the Transfer and Acceptance Form.

6.5 Return of documents

If this Offer does not become unconditional or any contract arising from this Offer is rescinded by ANZ Online on the grounds of a breach of a condition of that contract, ANZ Online will return by post to you at the address shown on the Transfer and Acceptance Form any Transfer and Acceptance Form and any other documents sent with it by you.

6.6 **Rights**

If ANZ Online becomes entitled to any Rights as a result of your acceptance of this Offer, it may require you to give to ANZ Online all documents necessary to vest title to those Rights in ANZ Online. If you do not give those documents to ANZ Online, or if you have received or are entitled to receive (or any previous holder of your E*TRADE Shares has received or is entitled to receive) the benefit of those Rights, ANZ Online may deduct the amount (or value as reasonably assessed by ANZ Online) of such Rights from any consideration otherwise payable to you. If ANZ Online does not, or cannot, make such a deduction, you must pay that amount to ANZ Online.

6.7 Clearances for offshore residents and others

- (a) If at the time you accept the Offer or any consideration would otherwise become payable to you as a result of your acceptance of this Offer:
- (i) any authority or clearance of the Reserve Bank of Australia or the Australian Tax Office is required for you to receive any consideration under this Offer; or
- (ii) you are resident of a place to which, or you are a person to whom, any other law of Australia or elsewhere would make it unlawful for ANZ Online to provide consideration for your E*TRADE Shares,

then your acceptance of this Offer does not create or transfer to you any right to receive the consideration specified in this Offer unless and until you obtain all requisite authorities or clearances and your E*TRADE Shares are free from Encumbrances. (See clause 16.8 of this Bidder s Statement for information as to whether this restriction applies to you.)

(b) If at the time you accept the Offer or any consideration would otherwise become payable to you as a result of your acceptance of this Offer, your E*TRADE Shares are subject to a notice of the kind described in paragraph (b) of the definition of Encumbrance (defined in clause 18), then the consideration to which you would

22

otherwise be entitled will be dealt with as required by law, and payment of it to a person (including a Government Agency) in accordance with the law shall satisfy ANZ Online s obligations under this Offer.

6.8 Costs

ANZ Online will pay all costs and expenses of the preparation and circulation of the Offer payable on the transfer of any E*TRADE Shares to ANZ Online.

7. OFFEREES

7.1 Registered holders

ANZ Online is making an offer in the form of this Offer to each holder of E*TRADE Shares registered in the register of members of E*TRADE Australia at the Register Date.

7.2 Transferees

This Offer extends to any person who is able during the Offer Period to give good title to a parcel of your E*TRADE Shares. That person may accept as if an Offer on terms identical to this Offer had been made to them for those E*TRADE Shares.

7.3 Trustees and nominees

If during the Offer Period and before you accept this Offer your E*TRADE Shares consist of two or more separate parcels within the meaning of section 653B of the Corporations Act (for example, because you are a trustee or nominee for several distinct beneficial owners), section 653B of the Corporations Act will apply so that:

- (a) ANZ Online is taken to have made a separate Offer to you for each separate parcel of E*TRADE Shares; and
- (b) acceptance by you of the Offer for any distinct parcel of E*TRADE Shares is ineffective unless:
- (i) you give ANZ Online notice in accordance with clause 7.4 stating that your E*TRADE Shares consist of separate parcels; and
- (ii) your acceptance specifies the number of E*TRADE Shares in each separate parcel to which the acceptance relates.

7.4 Notices by Trustees and Nominees

The notice required under clause 7.3(b)(i):

- (a) if it relates to E*TRADE Shares not in a CHESS Holding, must be in writing; or
- (b) if it relates to E*TRADE Shares in a CHESS Holding, must be in an electronic form approved under the ASTC Settlement Rules for the purposes of Part 6.8 of the Corporations Act.

23

8. VARIATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF OFFER

8.1 Variation

ANZ Online may vary this Offer in accordance with the Corporations Act.

8.2 Withdrawal

ANZ Online may withdraw this Offer with the written consent of ASIC and subject to the conditions (if any) which apply to that consent.

9. **GOVERNING LAW**

This Offer and any contract resulting from acceptance of it is governed by the law in force in Victoria.

24

PART 5 INFORMATION ABOUT ANZ, ITS INTENTIONS CONCERNING E*TRADE AUSTRALIA AND ITS SOURCES OF CASH CONSIDERATION

10. **IDENTITY OF ANZ**

10.1 **ANZ Online**

ANZ Online is a wholly-owned subsidiary of ANZ. The directors of ANZ Online are:

(a) Brian Hartzer

Mr Brian Hartzer is Group Managing Director of ANZ s Personal Division, serving the bank s retail and small business customer base in Australia and the Pacific. Prior to this Mr Hartzer spent five years as Managing Director of ANZ s Consumer Finance business across Australia, New Zealand and Asia. He joined ANZ after 10 years with First Manhattan Consulting Group, a leading global strategic consulting firm to the financial services industry.

He is a Director of Metrobank Cards Corporation (Philippines) and the Visa International Asia Pacific Board, and Chairman of Save The Children Australia, the ANZ Staff Foundation and ANZ Diversity Council.

Mr Hartzer has a BA in European history and is also a Chartered Financial Analyst.

(b) Stephen Green

Mr Stephen Green is the General Manager Taxation at ANZ, a position that he has held since the early 1990s. In this role, Mr Green has overall responsibility for the tax affairs of ANZ.

Mr Green joined Price Waterhouse (now PricewaterhouseCoopers) in 1970 and worked in both their Melbourne and London offices. Mr Green joined ANZ in 1986.

In addition to being a Chartered Accountant, Mr Green is also a Fellow of the Taxation Institute of Australia and a Registered Tax Agent.

(c) David Valentine

Mr David Valentine is the Group General Manager Group Strategic Development at ANZ where he has had overall responsibility for ANZ s mergers and acquisitions department since 1997.

Prior to joining Grindlays Bank in 1972 Mr Valentine worked for the UK Government and Samuel Montagu & Co Limited.

Major appointments held at Grindlays and ANZ include: General Manager Grindlays Bank France; Managing Director Group Administration, Grindlays Bank London; General Manager Europe ANZ Bank; General Manager Private

25

Banking ANZ Bank; General Manager UK Treasury; Deputy Managing Director ANZ Grindlays Bank and General Manager UK ANZ Bank.

Mr Valentine holds a Bachelor of Arts (Oxon) in Philosophy, Politics and Economics and a Master of Science from the London Business School.

10.2 ANZ

ANZ is one of four major Australian-based banking groups, and is headquartered in Melbourne. As at 30 September 2006, ANZ was ranked third among Australian banking groups in terms of total assets (\$336 billion), shareholders equity (\$19.9 billion) and market capitalisation (\$49 billion).

ANZ conducts its operations primarily in Australia and New Zealand (approximately 94% of ANZ s total assets at 30 September 2006 were related to these operations). The remainder of ANZ s operations are conducted across the Asian and Pacific regions, and in a number of other countries including the United Kingdom and the United States. At 30 September 2006, ANZ had 1,265 branches and other points of representation worldwide and employed in excess of 32,000 people.

10.3 Where to find further information about ANZ

Further information about ANZ can be found at www.anz.com.

In addition, information on ANZ can be found on ASX s website at www.asx.com.au.

These websites do not form part of this Bidder s Statement.

11. **REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION**

ANZ is E*TRADE Australia s largest shareholder with a 34.2% shareholding accumulated as part of a strategic alliance formed between ANZ and E*TRADE Australia in 1999. ANZ believes that E*TRADE Australia would benefit from additional management and operational expertise and support to consolidate and build on its recent growth. ANZ can provide this. A closer relationship through an increased shareholding in E*TRADE Australia is the logical next step. The acquisition would further ANZ s strategy to be a leader in personal financial services in Australia including accelerating growth in convenient and simple wealth management and investment services.

12. ANZ SINTENTIONS

12.1 **Overview**

This clause 12 sets out ANZ s current intentions in respect of the businesses, assets and employees of E*TRADE Australia. These intentions are based on the facts and information concerning E*TRADE Australia which are known to ANZ at the date of this Bidder s Statement. ANZ s intentions may change as new information becomes available to ANZ or circumstances change.

ANZ Online s intentions are identical to the intentions of ANZ as set out in this clause.

26

12.2 Compulsory acquisition

If ANZ Online becomes entitled to compulsorily acquire outstanding E*TRADE Shares under Part 6A of the Corporations Act, ANZ Online presently intends to proceed with compulsory acquisition of those E*TRADE Shares. ANZ Online then intends to procure that E*TRADE Australia is removed from the official list of the ASX.

12.3 Intentions for E*TRADE Australia as a wholly-owned subsidiary

The intentions of ANZ if E*TRADE Australia becomes a wholly-owned subsidiary of ANZ are set out in this clause 12.3.

ANZ intends to grow and enhance E*TRADE Australia s business as part of ANZ s broader personal wealth management and investments strategy. Accordingly, ANZ intends to operate E*TRADE Australia as a discrete business stream within ANZ s Personal Division. ANZ intends that E*TRADE Australia will be headquartered in Sydney, at least in the medium term.

At the end of the Offer Period, ANZ will conduct a review of E*TRADE Australia s assets, operations and strategy in light of the more detailed information then available to it, and will formulate more detailed plans at this time. ANZ expects its review will focus on the risks and returns of each of E*TRADE Australia s business streams and, in particular:

- (a) opportunities to offer an expanded product range to new and existing customers of E*TRADE Australia;
- (b) opportunities to enhance customer service levels, including through improving the infrastructure underlying E*TRADE Australia s information technology platform; and
- (c) the most appropriate means of providing ANZ support for some E*TRADE Australia central functions such as human resources, finance, compliance and risk.

With the benefit of its planned internal review of E*TRADE Australia, ANZ will consider the best allocation of E*TRADE Australia and ANZ employees to continuing and new roles. Given ANZ s intention to enhance the product and service offering to E*TRADE Australia clients, ANZ expects opportunities will be presented for both E*TRADE Australia and ANZ staff.

ANZ expects that there will be few, if any, redundancies of E*TRADE Australia s staff. To the extent that redundancies occur and alternative roles cannot be found within ANZ s wider operations, ANZ intends to ensure that the affected employees will receive benefits in accordance with their contractual and other legal entitlements.

12.4 Intentions for E*TRADE Australia if it is controlled by ANZ

This clause 12.4 sets out ANZ s intentions if, following the close of ANZ s Offer, E*TRADE Australia becomes a controlled entity, but not a wholly-owned subsidiary, of ANZ. In these circumstances, ANZ presently intends to:

27

(a) nominees is at least p	replace members of the board of directors of E*TRADE Australia with nominees of ANZ, so that the number of ANZ s proportionate to ANZ Group s holding of E*TRADE Shares;		
(b) ASX;	if appropriate and consistent with the ASX listing rules, consider seeking the delisting of E*TRADE Australia from the		
(c) E*TRADE Australia:	through its nominees on the board of directors of E*TRADE Australia, consider an appropriate dividend policy for and		
(d)	otherwise seek to implement, to the extent possible and appropriate, the intentions described in clause 12.3 above.		
The extent to which ANZ will be able to implement these intentions will be subject to:			
•	the law and the ASX listing rules, in particular in relation to related party transactions and conflicts of interests;		
• the legal obligations of the directors of E*TRADE Australia to act for proper purposes and in the best interests of E*TRADE Australia shareholders as a whole; and			
•	the outcome of the strategic review referred to in clause 12.3 above.		
	ween members of the ANZ Group and the E*TRADE Australia Group required to effect those steps will be entered into on ANZ will seek any necessary approval of other E*TRADE Australia shareholders, as required by law or the ASX listing nese steps.		
If ANZ becomes entirights.	tled at some later time to exercise general compulsory acquisition rights under the Corporations Act, it may exercise those		
12.5 O	ther intentions		
	it is the present intention of ANZ, on the basis of the facts and information concerning E*TRADE Australia which are xisting circumstances affecting the business of E*TRADE Australia, that:		
(a) conducted;	the business of E*TRADE Australia will otherwise be continued in substantially the same manner as it is presently being		
	no other major changes will be made to the business of E*TRADE Australia and there will not be any other redeployment E*TRADE Australia; and		
(c)	the present employees of E*TRADE Australia will otherwise continue to be employed by E*TRADE Australia.		

Signatures 37

28

13. SOURCES OF CASH CONSIDERATION

The total amount that ANZ Online would be required to pay for E*TRADE Shares if ANZ Online acquires all of the E*TRADE Shares in which it (or its associates) do not already have a relevant interest is \$268 million.

ANZ Online will fund the cash consideration payable to E*TRADE Australia shareholders using cash provided to it by a member or members of the ANZ Group. ANZ has unconditionally and irrevocably agreed with ANZ Online to ensure that sufficient funds are provided to ANZ Online to enable ANZ Online to meet its payment obligations under the Offer. These funds will be sourced by ANZ from immediately available cash resources of ANZ. ANZ simmediately available cash resources are in excess of the amount required to fully fund the maximum amount of cash consideration that ANZ Online could be required to pay for E*TRADE Shares under the Offer.

29

PART 6 AUSTRALIAN TAX CONSIDERATIONS

14. TAXATION CONSIDERATIONS

14.1 Australian tax implications for E*TRADE Australia shareholders

The following is a general description of the Australian income and capital gains tax consequences for E*TRADE Australia shareholders (other than temporary residents) on disposing of their E*TRADE Shares, in return for cash.

It is based upon taxation law and practice in effect at the date of this Bidder s Statement. It is not intended to be an authoritative or complete analysis of the taxation laws of Australia, as they apply to the specific circumstances of any particular shareholder.

You are advised to seek independent professional advice regarding the Australian tax consequences of disposing of your E*TRADE Shares according to your own particular circumstances.

14.2 Shareholders who are Australian residents

(a) Disposal of shares held as trading stock

If you hold your E*TRADE Shares as trading stock (e.g. as a share trader), you will be required to include the value of the consideration from the disposal of your E*TRADE Shares (i.e. the cash received) in your assessable income.

(b) Disposal of shares otherwise held on revenue account

If you hold your E*TRADE Shares in the ordinary course of a business, or as part of another profit-making arrangement, such that the shares are held on revenue account but not as trading stock (e.g. banks, insurance companies and some investment companies), you will be required to treat any gain or loss arising on the disposal of your E*TRADE Shares as either assessable income or an allowable deduction.

The gain or loss will be calculated as the difference between:

- (i) the value of the consideration (the cash received); and
- (ii) the cost of acquiring your E*TRADE Shares (or other appropriate value where the shares are trading stock).

A deductible loss may be used to offset other assessable income, including net capital gains, derived in the same or subsequent years of income (subject to satisfying certain conditions) but cannot be carried back to offset assessable income, including net capital gains, derived in earlier income years.

30

(c) Disposal of shares held as capital investments

The disposal of E*TRADE Shares which were acquired or deemed to have been acquired on or after 20 September 1985 and which are held as capital investments, will generally have Australian capital gains tax (**CGT**) implications. The disposal of such E*TRADE Shares pursuant to acceptance of the Offer will constitute a CGT event for CGT purposes.

The CGT implications of a disposal of your E*TRADE Shares will depend upon a number of factors, including:

- the date your E*TRADE Shares were acquired;
- your taxpayer status; and
- the length of time you have held your E*TRADE Shares.
- (i) Shares acquired before 11:45am on 21 September 1999

If your E*TRADE Shares were acquired on or after 20 September 1985 a capital gain or loss will arise depending on the difference between:

- the value of the capital proceeds (the cash received); and
- the cost base of the E*TRADE Shares (which would generally include the amount paid to acquire the shares plus any incidental costs of acquisition, e.g. brokerage fees).

If your E*TRADE Shares were acquired before 11:45am by legal time in the Australian Capital Territory (**ACT time**) on 21 September 1999, for the purpose of calculating a capital gain (but not a capital loss), you may choose that the cost base of those shares be indexed for inflation to the September quarter of 1999 (which would only be of any practical effect if the shares were acquired before 1 July 1999).

Alternatively, provided you have held your E*TRADE Shares for at least one year, and do not choose to apply indexation, the discount capital gain provisions may apply. This means that:

- if you are an individual, only one-half of the capital gain (without any allowance for indexation for inflation in the cost base of the shares) will be taxable;
- if you are a complying superannuation entity, only two-thirds of the capital gain (without any allowance for indexation for inflation in the cost base of the shares) will be taxable; or
- if you are the trustee of a trust, the discount capital gains provisions may also apply to a distribution of the capital gain to beneficiaries in the trust (other than beneficiaries that are companies).

31

Note that the discount capital gain provisions do not apply to shareholders and trust beneficiaries that are companies.

The choice to apply indexation rather than the discount capital gain provisions must be made by you on or before the day you lodge your income tax return for the income year in which the disposal occurs.

A capital loss may be used to offset capital gains derived in the same or subsequent years of income (subject to satisfying certain conditions) but cannot be offset against ordinary income, nor carried back to offset net capital gains arising in earlier income years.

If you choose to use the discount capital gain method, any available capital loss will be applied to reduce the realised nominal gain before discounting the resulting net amount (to the extent that it does not exceed the discount capital gain) by either one-half or one-third (as applicable) to calculate the assessable capital gain. Alternatively, if you choose the indexation option, capital losses are applied after calculating the capital gain using the indexed cost base.

(ii) Shares acquired after 11:45am on 21 September 1999

If you acquired your E*TRADE Shares after 11:45 am (ACT time) on 21 September 1999 you will not be entitled to choose indexation of the cost base when calculating any capital gain on disposal.

If you are an individual, trust or complying superannuation entity that has held your E*TRADE Shares for 12 months or longer at the time the Offer is accepted, the discount capital gain provisions described above will automatically apply in calculating any capital gain on disposal.

As explained above, any available capital loss will be applied to reduce the realised nominal gain before discounting the resulting net amount (to the extent that it does not exceed the discount capital gain) by either one-half or one-third (as applicable) to calculate the assessable capital gain.

If your E*TRADE Shares have been held for less than 12 months or you are in another category of shareholder (for example, a company), the discount capital gain method is not available. A capital gain on the shares, being any excess of the value of the capital proceeds over the unindexed cost base of the shares, will be assessable in full.

(iii) Shares acquired before 20 September 1985

There should be no CGT implications arising on disposal of your E*TRADE Shares, where they were held as capital investments and acquired, or deemed to have been acquired, before 20 September 1985 and are not deemed to have been acquired on or after that date.

32

14.3 Shareholders who are not Australian residents

(a) Disposal of shares held as trading stock or otherwise on revenue account

Non residents who hold their E*TRADE Shares as trading stock, or otherwise on revenue account, should seek their own professional advice, as the Australian taxation treatment may depend on the source of any gain and whether a double tax agreement exists between their country of residence and Australia.

(b) Disposal of shares held as capital investments

If you are a non-resident of Australia and hold your E*TRADE Shares as capital investments you will only have a taxable capital gain or capital loss in Australia if you have used your E*TRADE Shares at any time in carrying on business through an Australian permanent establishment.

If you are a resident of a country with which Australia has a double tax agreement, you should seek your own professional advice as to the impact of the agreement on any Australian tax liability.

14.4 Shareholders who are participants in employee share or option plans

The Australian tax implications for participants in E*TRADE Australia s employee share plans may be different from those for other holders of E*TRADE Shares. Each participant in such a plan should seek specific tax advice in relation to the Offer.

14.5 **GST**

No GST should generally be payable in respect of the transfer of E*TRADE Shares.

There may be an indirect GST cost in relation to taxable supplies related to the Offer (for example legal and other adviser fees paid to obtain advice on whether to accept the Offer).

33

PART 7 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

15. INFORMATION ON SECURITIES IN E*TRADE AUSTRALIA

15.1 Capital structure of E*TRADE Australia

According to documents lodged by E*TRADE Australia with ASX as at the date this Bidder s Statement is lodged with ASIC, the total number of securities in E*TRADE Australia is 100.451.929 E*TRADE Shares.

15.2 ANZ Online relevant interest in E*TRADE Australia securities

The number of securities in which ANZ Online had a relevant interest, as at the dates specified, is shown below:

At date of this Bidder s
Statement

At date first Offer is sent

E*TRADE Shares

34,392,645

* [insert -leave blank when document is lodged]

15.3 ANZ Online s voting power in E*TRADE Australia

ANZ Online s voting power in E*TRADE Australia, as at the dates specified, is shown below:

At date of this Bidder's Statement At date first Offer is sent

Voting power in E*TRADE Australia 34,392,645 [insert - leave blank when document is lodged]

15.4 Acquisition by ANZ Online of E*TRADE Shares during previous 4 months

Neither ANZ Online nor any associate of ANZ Online has provided, or agreed to provide, consideration for an E*TRADE Australia Share under a purchase or agreement during the four months before the date of this Bidder s Statement or in the period commencing on the date of this Bidder s Statement and ending on the date of the Offer.

15.5 Inducing benefits given by ANZ Online during previous 4 months

Neither ANZ Online nor any associate of ANZ Online, gave, or offered to give or agreed to give, during four months before the date of this Bidder s Statement or in the period

34

^{*} This includes a relevant interest in 42,000 E*TRADE Shares which are held by ANZ Executors & Trustee Company Limited, a subsidiary of ANZ, as a co-trustee of an estate. Neither ANZ nor any subsidiary of it is a beneficiary of the estate.

commencing on the date of this Bidder s Statement and ending on the date of the Offer a benefit to another person that is not available under ANZ s Offer and was likely to induce the other person, or an associate of the other person, to:

- (a) accept an Offer; or
- (b) dispose of E*TRADE Shares.

16. **OTHER MATERIAL INFORMATION**

16.1 **Defeating Conditions**

The conditions of the Offer are set out in clause 5.1. Further information on some of these conditions is set out below.

(a) Minimum acceptance condition

The Offer is subject to a 90% minimum acceptance condition (see paragraph (a) of clause 5.1). ANZ Online will not waive this condition unless it considers that it is in ANZ s best interests to do so at the relevant time.

(b) No adverse regulatory action

The Offer is subject to certain regulatory action not being taken (see paragraph (b) of clause 5.1).

ANZ Online is not presently aware of any particular regulatory action which has triggered or may trigger the condition in clause 5.1(b).

(c) E*TRADE Licence

Under the E*TRADE Licence, both E*TRADE Australia and E*TRADE Financial Corporation have the right to terminate the E*TRADE Licence, without cause, on three months notice and payment of a termination fee of US\$5 million. Given ANZ s intention to continue E*TRADE Australia s business in Australia under that name, the Offer is subject to E*TRADE Financial Corporation not exercising, and waiving, its right to terminate the E*TRADE Licence without cause (see paragraph (c) of clause 5.1).

(d) No material acquisitions, disposals or changes

The Offer is subject to there being no material acquisitions, disposals or changes in the conduct of E*TRADE Australia s business (see paragraphs (d) and (e) of clause 5.1). Any such acquisitions, disposals or new commitments by E*TRADE Australia or any of its subsidiaries would potentially frustrate the Offer and deny E*TRADE Australia shareholders the opportunity to participate in the benefits accruing to them under the Offer.

E*TRADE Australia is in the best position to advise its shareholders whether or not this condition and other conditions regarding changes in the business of E*TRADE Australia (see paragraphs (d), (e) and (f) of clause 5.1) will be satisfied.

35

(e) Stock market decline

The Offer is subject to the S&P/ASX 200 Industrials (Sector) Index not closing below 5,855 on any three or more consecutive trading days during the period to the end of the Offer period (see paragraph (g) of clause 5.1). On the day before the date of this Bidder s Statement the S&P/ASX 200 Industrials (Sector) Index closed at 6,499. The lowest level at which that Index has closed in the 12 months preceding the date of this Bidder s Statement is 5,122 on 10 August 2006.

16.2 **Due Diligence on E*TRADE Australia**

For the purpose of confirming its assessment of whether or not to offer to acquire all of the E*TRADE Shares, ANZ was given access by E*TRADE Australia to certain information concerning the E*TRADE Australia Group which has not been disclosed generally to E*TRADE Australia shareholders. Except as disclosed in this Bidder s Statement, none of the information to which ANZ was given access is, in the opinion of ANZ Online:

- (a) of such a nature and quality that, if the information was generally available, a reasonable person would expect it to have a material effect on the price or value of E*TRADE Shares; or
- (b) otherwise material to a decision by an E*TRADE Australia shareholder whether or not to accept the Offer.

16.3 **Bid Facilitation Agreement**

ANZ entered into a Bid Facilitation Agreement with E*TRADE Australia dated 19 February 2007.

(a) ANZ Bid

Under the Bid Facilitation Agreement, ANZ agreed to make, or procure that a wholly-owned subsidiary made, a takeover bid to E*TRADE Australia shareholders on certain agreed terms (the **Bid**).

The agreement sets out the conditions of the Bid, being those set out in clause 5 of this Bidder s Statement.

(b) **Bid Conditions**

Under the Bid Facilitation Agreement, E*TRADE Australia has agreed not to do (or omit to do) anything which will, or is likely to, result in any of the conditions of the Bid being breached. Nothing in this obligation prevents E*TRADE Australia or the E*TRADE Australia board of directors from taking, or failing to take, action where to do otherwise would, in the reasonable opinion of the E*TRADE Australia board, constitute a breach of duties of the directors of E*TRADE Australia.

(c) No solicitation

Under the Bid Facilitation Agreement, E*TRADE Australia has agreed that it must not and must ensure that its employees, officers and (to the extent it is reasonably

36

able to influence them) its associates do not, and E*TRADE Australia must not require or request any adviser or agent, to directly or indirectly solicit or initiate any inquiries, proposals or discussions regarding any Competing Proposal (whether from a person with whom E*TRADE Australia has previously been in discussions or not).

A Competing Proposal is any proposal (including a scheme of arrangement) or offer that would if completed substantially in accordance with its terms, result in:

- (i) any person other than ANZ acquiring:
- (A) control of E*TRADE Australia;
- (B) an interest in all or a material part of the assets or business of E*TRADE Australia;
- (C) a relevant interest in more than 10% of the voting shares in E*TRADE Australia; or
- (ii) E*TRADE Australia and another person forming a joint venture with respect to E*TRADE Australia s business (or a material part of it), or merging their businesses, or operating under a dual listed company, or similar structure.

Under the Bid Facilitation Agreement, E*TRADE Australia agreed to cease any existing discussions or negotiations with any third party relating to any Competing Proposal or any transaction that may reduce the likelihood of the success of the Bid.

E*TRADE Australia also agreed to immediately notify ANZ of any genuine and realistic approach or attempt to initiate discussions or negotiations regarding a Competing Proposal. The notice must include the identity of the relevant third party and details of the Competing Proposal.

To the extent it is entitled to do so, E*TRADE Australia has agreed to immediately require the return of all confidential information provided to third parties (other than ANZ) as part of any past solicitation of Competing Proposals.

These obligations cease where ANZ (or a subsidiary of ANZ) fails to make the Bid, ANZ (or a subsidiary of ANZ) withdraws the Bid after the Bid is made, or the Bid closes.

16.4 Announcement of ANZ s Offer

In accordance with the Bid Facilitation Agreement, by an announcement to the ASX on 19 February 2007, ANZ announced its intention to make a cash takeover offer for E*TRADE Australia of \$4.05 per E*TRADE Share for the 65.8% of E*TRADE Australia s issued capital that ANZ does not own. On the same date, E*TRADE Australia also announced to ASX that it had reached an agreement with ANZ on a cash offer of \$4.05 per share for the 65.8% of E*TRADE Australia s issued capital that ANZ does not own. The E*TRADE Australia announcement said that:

37

- a committee of independent directors comprising Kerry Roxburgh, Jim Dominguez, Ian Hunter and Brett Spork was established to consider ANZ s Offer and unanimously recommend that E*TRADE Australia shareholders accept the offer in the absence of a superior proposal and subject to an independent expert concluding that the offer is fair and reasonable; and
- the independent directors will accept the offer for their own E*TRADE Australia shareholdings subject to the above.

16.5 **ASX/ACH Consents**

Both the ANZ Group and the E*TRADE Australia Group include members who are ASX market participants and participants of the ACH clearing facility. Under ASX Market Rules, a company admitted as an ASX market participant must not become a related body corporate of another such participant without the consent of ASX. Likewise, under the ACH Clearing Rules, a company admitted as a participant of the ACH clearing facility must not become a related body corporate of another such participant without the consent of ACH.

ASX and ACH have given the necessary consents under ASX Market Rules and ACH Clearing Rules.

16.6 **Publicly available information**

E*TRADE Australia is listed on ASX and is subject to the periodic and continuous disclosure requirements of the Corporations Act and the ASX listing rules. For information about the financial position and affairs of E*TRADE Australia, E*TRADE Australia shareholders are referred to the announcements that have been made to ASX in relation to E*TRADE Australia. E*TRADE Australia s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2006 was given to ASX on 29 September 2006 and sent to E*TRADE Australia shareholders on or about 13 October 2006. E*TRADE Australia s results for the half-year ended 31 December 2006 were announced to ASX on 26 February 2007 by E*TRADE Australia.

The announcements made to ASX in relation to E*TRADE Australia since 30 June 2006 to the day before the date of this Bidder s Statement are listed in the table below:

Date given to ASX	Description/title of announcement
-------------------	-----------------------------------

3 July 2006	Completion of acquisition of HSBC Stockbroking	
20 July 2006	Signs Outsourcing Stockbroking Agreement with St George	
8 August 2006	FY06 Earnings Update	
16 August 2006	Appendix 3B - Exercise of staff options	
21 August 2006	Preliminary Final Report	
21 August 2006	Results Announcement for the Year Ended 30 June 2006	
21 August 2006	Year ended 30 June 2006 Analyst Slides	

38

23 August 2006	Appendix 3B - New Issue Announcement
25 August 2006	Appendix 3B - New Issue Announcement
21 September 2006	Change of Director s Interest Notice
29 September 2006	2006 Annual Report
13 October 2006	2006 Annual Report
13 October 2006	Notice of 2006 Annual General Meeting and proxy form
25 October 2006	Finalisation of ATO Audit
16 November 2006	AGM Chairman & CEO addresses
16 November 2006	Results of the Annual General Meeting
21 November 2006	Change in substantial holding (Caledonia Investments Pty Ltd and associates)
12 December 2006	Share Issue to CEO (and related Appendix 3B and Change of Director s Interest Notice)
11 January 2007	Unaudited EBITDA & HSBC Integration Update
15 January 2007	CEO Contract (announcement to the effect that the option to extend Mr Spork s employment contract as
	Chief Executive Officer beyond 30 June 2007 would not be exercised)
25 January 2007	Ceasing to be a substantial holder (Goldman Sachs JBWere Group Holdings and certain associated entities)
25 January 2007	Ceasing to be a substantial holder (Goldman Sachs Inc. and subsidiaries)
19 February 2007	Recommended cash takeover for E*TRADE Australia from ANZ (announcement by ANZ)
19 February 2007	ANZ Recommended Cash Offer for E*TRADE Australia (announcement by E*TRADE Australia)
21 February 2007	Change in substantial holding (Caledonia Investments Pty Ltd and associates)
26 February 2007	Half Yearly Report/Half Yearly Accounts
26 February 2007	Half year results announcement

Copies of these announcements are available from ASX at www.asx.com.au. Neither ASX s website nor the information contained in or accessible from it forms part of this Bidder s Statement.

16.7 **Employee share plans**

E*TRADE Australia operates or has operated a number of employee share schemes involving the provision of E*TRADE Shares to its employees. ANZ Online understands

39

that the rules of these schemes may restrict participants from accepting the Offer for E*TRADE Shares which were acquired under the scheme. E*TRADE Australia is in the best position to advise participants in its employee shares schemes whether they will be able to accept the Offer in respect of E*TRADE Shares which are subject to these schemes. ANZ Online expects that E*TRADE Australia will provide participants with additional information in relation to these matters in its target statement in response to the Takeover Bid or other documentation. These participants should refer to these materials before deciding how to deal with their E*TRADE Shares.

16.8 Approvals for payment of consideration

ANZ Online is not aware of any E*TRADE Australia shareholder who requires any approval referred to in clause 6.7 in order to be entitled to receive any consideration under the Offer.

(a) Banking (Foreign Exchange) Regulations 1959 (Cth)

The *Banking (Foreign Exchange) Regulations* 1959 (Cth) may impose restrictions on certain financial transactions and require the consent of the Reserve Bank of Australia for the movement of funds into and out of Australia. Based on ANZ Online s searches as at the date of this Bidder s Statement, restrictions currently apply if funds are to be paid to, or received from:

- (i) supporters of the former government of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia;
- (ii) ministers and senior officials of the Government of Zimbabwe; and
- (iii) certain entities associated with the Democratic People s Republic of Korea (North Korea).

(b) Other Commonwealth legislation

The Charter of the United Nations (Terrorism and Dealing with Assets) Act 2002 (Cth) (UN Charter Act) prohibits, among other things, the provision of funds, other financial assets or economic resources to persons referred to in regulations made under the UN Charter Act. These persons include the Taliban, Osama bin Laden (also known as Usama bin Laden), a member of the Al-Qaida organisation (also known as the Al-Qaeda organisation), and any person named on the list maintained pursuant to paragraph 2 of Resolution 1390 of the Security Council of the United Nations.

The Charter of the United Nations (Sanctions Iraq) Regulations 2006 (formerly called the Iraq (Reconstruction and Repeal of Sanctions) Regulations 2003) (Cth) apply in respect of the following persons:

- (i) members of the previous government of Iraq;
- (ii) senior officials of the previous government of Iraq and their immediate families; and

40

(iii) any entity owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by one of the parties in (i) or (ii) above, or by any person acting at the direction of one of those parties.

Restrictions also exist relating to certain persons or entities associated with the Cote d Ivoire, the Democratic People s Republic of Korea, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Iran, Liberia and Sudan.

Transactions with assets of such persons (including, if relevant, E*TRADE Shares) require Ministerial approval.

16.9 **No other material information**

Except as set out in this Bidder s Statement, there is no information material to the making of a decision by an offeree whether or not to accept the Offer, being information that is known to ANZ Online and has not previously been disclosed to the holders of E*TRADE Shares.

17. **OTHER MATTERS**

17.1 Consents

This Bidder s Statement contains statements made by, or statements said to be based on statements made by, ANZ. ANZ has consented to the inclusion of such statements in the form and context in which they appear and has not withdrawn that consent as at the date of this Bidder s Statement.

This Bidder s Statement also includes or is accompanied by statements which are made in or based on statements made in documents lodged with ASIC or on the company announcement platform of ASX. Under the terms of ASIC class order 01/1543, the parties making those statements are not required to consent to, and have not consented to, the inclusion of those statements in this Bidder s Statement. If you would like to receive a copy of any of these documents please contact ANZ s Offer Information line on 1300 301 126 (within Australia) or +61 2 9936 1977 (outside Australia) between 9:00am and 5:00pm (Melbourne time), Monday to Friday, and you will be sent copies free of charge.

17.2 Modifications to and exemptions from the Corporations Act

ANZ Online has not obtained from ASIC any modifications to, or exemptions from, the Corporations Act in relation to the Offers. However, ASIC has published various instruments providing for modifications and exemptions that apply generally to all persons, including ANZ Online.

41

PART 8 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

18. **DEFINITIONS**

The following definitions apply in interpreting this Bidder s Statement and the Transfer and Acceptance Form, except where the context makes it clear that a definition is not intended to apply:

ACCC means the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission.

ACH means Australian Clearing House Pty Ltd ABN 48 001 314 503.

Announcement Date means 19 February 2007.

ANZ means Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited (ABN 11 005 357 522).

ANZ Group means ANZ and its subsidiaries.

ANZ Online means ANZ Online Holdings Pty Limited (ACN 124 093 625).

ASIC means the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.

ASTC means the ASX Settlement and Transfer Corporation Pty Limited.

ASTC Settlement Rules means the operating rules of the settlement facility provided by ASTC.

ASX means ASX Limited.

Bidder s **Statement** means this document, being the statement made by ANZ Online under Part 6.5 Division 2 of the Corporations Act relating to the Takeover Bid.

CHESS means the Clearing House Electronic Subregister System operated by ASTC, which provides for the electronic transfer, settlement and registration of securities.

CHESS Holding means a holding of shares on the CHESS Subregister of E*TRADE Australia.

CHESS Subregister has the meaning set out in the ASTC Settlement Rules.

Controlling Participant has the meaning set out in the ASTC Settlement Rules.

Corporations Act means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Defeating Condition means each condition set out in clause 5.1.

42

Encumbrance means:

- (a) a mortgage, charge, pledge, lien, hypothecation or a title retention arrangement;
- (b) a notice under section 255 of the *Income Tax Assessment Act 1936* (Cth), subdivision 260-A in schedule 1 to the *Taxation Administration Act 1953* (Cth) or any similar legislation;
- (c) any other interest in or right over property (including a right to set off or withhold payment of a deposit or other money);
- (d) any other thing that prevents, restricts or delays the exercise of a right over property, the use of property or the registration of an interest in or dealing with property; and
- (e) an agreement to create anything referred to above or to allow any of them to exist.

E*TRADE Australia means ETRADE Australia Limited (ABN 12 003 042 082).

E*TRADE Australia Group means E*TRADE Australia and its subsidiaries.

E*TRADE Independent Directors means the following directors of E*TRADE Australia: Kerry Roxburgh, Jim Dominguez, Ian Hunter and Brett Spork.

E*TRADE Licence means the Services and License Agreement dated 1 January 2002 between E*TRADE Financial Corporation (formerly E*TRADE Group Inc.), ETRADE Australia Securities Limited and ETRADE Australia Limited.

E*TRADE Shares means fully paid ordinary shares in E*TRADE Australia.

Foreign Law means a law of a jurisdiction other than an Australian jurisdiction.

Issuer Sponsored Holding has the meaning given in the ASTC Settlement Rules.

GST has the same meaning as in A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999 (Cth).

Offer means the offer as set out in Part 4 of this Bidder s Statement (or, if the context so requires, Part 4 of this Bidder s Statement itself) and includes a reference to that offer as varied in accordance with the Corporations Act.

Offer Period means the period referred to in clause 2 of this Bidder s Statement.

Offers or ANZ s Offer means the off-market takeover bid constituted by the Offer and each of the other offers made in the same terms for E*TRADE Shares and includes a reference to those offers as varied in accordance with the Corporations Act.

Public Authority means any government or any governmental, semi-governmental, administrative, statutory or judicial entity, authority or agency, whether in Australia or elsewhere, including the ACCC (but excluding the Takeovers Panel, ASIC and any court that hears or determines proceedings under section 657G or proceedings commenced by a

43

person specified in section 659B(1) of the Corporations Act in relation to ANZ s Offer). It also includes any self-regulatory organisation established under statute or any stock exchange.

Register Date means 7:00p.m. Melbourne time on 6 March 2007, being the date set by ANZ Online under section 633(2) of the Corporations Act.

Rights means all accretions and rights attaching to E*TRADE Shares after the Announcement Date (including all rights to receive dividends and other distributions declared or paid and to receive or subscribe for shares, notes or options issued by E*TRADE Australia).

Takeover Bid means the takeover bid constituted by the Offers.

Takeover Transferee Holdings means the CHESS Holding to which E*TRADE Shares are to be transferred after acceptance of the Offer.

Transfer and Acceptance Form means the form with that title that accompanies this Bidder s Statement.

VWAP means volume weighted average price.

your E*TRADE Shares means, subject to clause 7, the E*TRADE Shares:

- (a) of which you are registered or entitled to be registered as the holder in the register of members of E*TRADE Australia at the Register Date; and
- (b) any other E*TRADE Shares, to which you are able to give good title at the time you accept this Offer.

19. **INTERPRETATION**

44

- (a) Words and phrases which are defined by the Corporations Act have the same meaning in this Bidder s Statement and the Transfer and Acceptance Form and, if a special meaning is given for the purposes of Chapter 6 or 6A or a provision of Chapter 6 or 6A of the Corporations Act, have that special meaning.
- (b) Headings are for convenience only, and do not affect interpretation.
- (c) The following rules also apply in interpreting this Bidder s Statement and the Transfer and Acceptance Form, except where the context makes it clear that a rule is not intended to apply:
- (i) a singular word includes the plural, and vice versa;
- (ii) a word which suggests a gender includes the other genders;
- (iii) if a word is defined, another part of speech has a corresponding meaning;

- (iv) unless otherwise stated references in this Bidder s Statement to Parts, clauses, paragraphs and sub-paragraphs are to Parts, clauses, paragraphs and sub-paragraphs of this Bidder s Statement;
- (v) a reference to a person includes a body corporate; and
- (vi) a reference to \$ is to the lawful currency in Australia.

DATED 2 March 2007

A copy of this Bidder s Statement that is to be lodged with ASIC has been approved by a resolution passed by the directors of ANZ Online.

SIGNED on behalf of ANZ Online Holdings Pty Limited

Director

45

[inside back cover]

CORPORATE DIRECTORY

Registered Offices of ANZ and ANZ Online

Level 6 100 Queen Street Melbourne Vic 3000

Financial Adviser

Carnegie, Wylie & Company Pty Limited Level 33 101 Collins Street Melbourne Vic 3000 **Legal Advisers**

Blake Dawson Waldron Level 39 101 Collins Street Melbourne Vic 3000

ANZ s Offer Information Line

From within Australia: 1300 301 126
From outside Australia: +612 9936 1977
(As required by the Corporations Act, all calls will

be recorded, indexed and stored)

ANZ Online Holdings Pty Limited

ACN 124 093 625

a subsidiary of Australia and New Zealand

Banking Group Limited

ABN 11 005 357 522

Please return completed form to:

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited GPO Box 52 Melbourne Victoria 8060 Australia Enquiries (within Australia) 1300 301 126

(outside Australia) 61 2 9936 1977

Securityholder Reference Number (SRN)

IND

I 1234567890

000001 000 ANZ MR JOHN SMITH 1 FLAT 123 123 SAMPLE STREET THE SAMPLE HILL SAMPLE ESTATE SAMPLEVILLE VIC 3030

Use a <u>black</u> pen. Print in CAPITAL letters inside the grey areas

Transfer and Acceptance Form - ANZ s Offer for your E*TRADE Shares

This is an important document and requires your immediate attention. You should read the Bidder s Statement which accompanies this Transfer and Acceptance Form. Capitalised terms used in this Transfer and Acceptance Form have the same meaning as in the Bidder s Statement unless otherwise defined or the context indicates otherwise. If you are in doubt about how to deal with it, please consult your financial or other professional advisor.

Use this form to accept ANZ s Offer for your E*TRADE Shares

Consideration

The consideration applicable under the terms of this Offer

What ANZ Online is offering to buy

ANZ Online is offering to buy all of your E*TRADE Shares on the terms set out in the attached Bidder s Statement.

What you will receive if you accept the Offer

If you accept the Offer you will, subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions of the Offer, receive \$4.05 cash for each of your E*TRADE Shares.

No brokerage on acceptances

Signatures

Securityholder details

Subregister Issuer/CHESS

Your holding in E*TRADE Shares as at 123456789012

<Date>

Cash consideration payable to you at A\$4.05 per share \$000.00

57

You will not pay brokerage if you accept the Offer.

To be completed by Securityholder

You will be deemed to have accepted the Offer in respect of all your E*TRADE Shares as at the time your acceptance is processed, if you sign and return the form.

If you hold your E*TRADE Shares in a CHESS holding (see subregister above), to accept the Offer you can either:

Instruct your Controlling Participant directly - normally your stockbroker

or

Authorise ANZ Online to contact your Controlling Participant on your behalf, which you can do by signing and returning the form. By signing and returning the form you will be deemed to have authorised ANZ Online to contact your Controlling Participant directly via the CHESS system.

Contact details

Please provide your contact details in case we need to speak to you about this form.

Name of contact person

Contact Person s daytime telephone number

Sign here - this section must be signed before we can process this form.

I/We accept the Offer made by ANZ Online in respect of the E*TRADE Shares that I/we hold and I/we agree to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Offer (including the instructions as to acceptance of the Offer on the back of this form) and transfer all of my/our E*TRADE Shares to ANZ Online for the above consideration.

Individual or Securityholder 1

Individual or Securityholder 2

Individual or Securityholder 3

Sole Director and Sole Company

Director

Director/Company Secretary

The directors reserve the right to make amendments to this form where appropriate. Please refer to the lodgement instructions overleaf.

> See back of form for completion guidelines

ETR TKO

1TKA C

<Broker PID> 033207_00M70B

How to complete this form

Acceptance of the takeover offer

Registration Details	Contact details		
The E*TRADE Shares are currently registered in the name(s) printed on this form. Your consideration will be issued in the names as it appears on the E*TRADE Australia register.	Enter the name of a contact person and telephone number. These details will onl be used in the event that the registry has a regarding this form.		
If you have already sold all your E*TRADE Shares shown overleaf, do not keep or return this form. Please send this form to the broker who sold them for you.	Signature(s) You must sign the form	as follows in the space provided:	
Consideration The cash consideration payable under the Offer is	Joint holding:	where the holding is in more than or name all of the securityholders must sign.	
A\$4.05 per E*TRADE Share. How to accept the Offer	Power of Attorney		
If your E*TRADE Shares are held in an issuer sponsored holding, simply complete and return this form to the ANZ Online registry so that it is received by no later than 7.00pm Melbourne time on <date>, unless extended.</date>	Deceased Estate:	to sign under the Power of Attorney you must have already lodged the Power of Attorney with the ANZ Online registry. Alternatively, attack certified copy of the Power of Attor to this form when you return it.	
If your E*TRADE Shares are in a CHESS holding, you may contact your Controlling Participant directly (normally your stockbroker) with instructions to accept the offer. If you do this, you will need to sign and return this Transfer and Acceptance Form to your Controlling	Companies:	all executors must sign and a certific copy of Probate or Letters of Administration must accompany thi form.	
Participant. If you want ANZ Online to contact your Controlling Participant on your behalf via the CHESS system, sign and return this form to the ANZ Online registry so that it is received no later than 7.00pm Melbourne time on <date> unless extended.</date>		this form must be signed by either to Directors or a Director and a Compo- Secretary. Alternatively, where the company has a Sole Director and, pursuant to the Corporations Act, the is no Company Secretary, or where Sole Director is also the Sole Comp	

If you sign and return this Transfer and Acceptance Form to the registry either in respect of an issuer sponsored holding or so that contact may be made with your Controlling Participant on your behalf, you warrant to ANZ Online (and authorise ANZ Online to warrant on your behalf) that you have full legal and beneficial ownership of the E*TRADE Shares and that ANZ Online will acquire them free from all mortgages, charges, liens, encumbrances (whether legal or equitable), restrictions on transfer		Secretary, that Director may sign alone. Delete titles as applicable.
of any kind and free from any third party rights.		
Neither ANZ Online or Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited (CIS) will be responsible for any delays incurred by this process. You should allow sufficient time for the preferred party to initiate the acceptance of the offer on your behalf before the Offer Period ends.		

Lodgement of Transfer and Acceptance Form

This Transfer and Acceptance Form must be received at the Melbourne office of CIS by no later than 7.00pm Melbourne time on <Date>. Return this Transfer and Acceptance Form to:

Postal Address:

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited GPO Box 52

MELBOURNE VIC 8060

OR Hand Delivery:

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited Yarra Falls 452 Johnston Street ABBOTSFORD VIC 3067

Privacy Statement

Personal information is collected on this form by CIS, as registrar for securities issuers (the issuer), for the purpose of maintaining registers of securityholders, facilitating distribution payments and other corporate actions and communications. Your personal information may be disclosed to our related bodies corporate, to external service companies such as print or mail service providers, or as otherwise required or permitted by law. If you would like details of your personal information held by CIS, or you would like to correct information that is inaccurate, incorrect or out of date, please contact CIS. In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, you may be sent material (including marketing material) approved by the issuer in addition to general corporate communications. You may elect not to receive marketing material by contacting CIS. You can contact CIS using the details provided on the front of this form or E-mail privacy@computershare.com.au

If you have any enquiries concerning ANZ s Offer please contact ANZ s Offer Information Line on 1300 301 126.

For legal reasons, all calls to this number will be recorded.

Please note this form may not be used to change your address.

Please return the completed form in the envelope provided or to the address opposite:	e	Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited GPO Box 52 Melbourne Victoria 8060 Australia

Media Release

Corporate Communications

100 Queen Street

Melbourne Vic 3000

www.anz.com

For Release: 19 February 2007

ANZ announces recommended cash takeover offer for E*TRADE Australia

ANZ today announced a recommended cash takeover offer for E*TRADE Australia Limited of \$4.05 per share for the 65.8% of E*TRADE Australia s issued capital that ANZ does not currently own.

A committee of independent directors of E*TRADE Australia# have said they will unanimously recommend that E*TRADE Australia s shareholders accept ANZ s offer in the absence of a superior proposal and subject to an independent expert s report. The independent directors have indicated they intend to accept this offer for their own holdings of E*TRADE Australia shares on this basis.

ANZ Group Managing Director Personal, Mr Brian Hartzer said: The acquisition of E*TRADE Australia would be a further step in ANZ s strategy to be a leader in personal financial services in Australia including accelerating growth in convenient and simple wealth management and investment services.

With ANZ customers representing about a third of E*TRADE Australia s customer-base, we are the natural owner of E*TRADE Australia. As part of our multi-brand strategy, we intend to retain and grow the E*TRADE brand, subject to agreement with E*TRADE Financial Corporation when the current licensing arrangements expire in 2009, Mr Hartzer said.

Commenting on the ANZ offer, E*TRADE Australia Chairman Mr Kerry Roxburgh said: We believe this is a very positive development for E*TRADE Australia. Given the offer s premium to E*TRADE Australia s share price and particularly relative to historic share prices, it is a compelling offer. The committee of independent directors have concluded it is in the best interests of all shareholders and are pleased for shareholders to consider it.

The company has provided strong shareholder returns over the last few years and the resources and expertise that ANZ can provide to E*TRADE Australia will certainly accelerate the growth of the business. Based on the great success we have already realised from our alliance, the integration of E*TRADE Australia and ANZ is a logical next step.

Importantly for E*TRADE customers and wholesale partners, ANZ is committed to maintaining the same innovative product offerings, dedicated service and award-winning trading platforms that have made E*TRADE Australia a success, Mr Roxburgh said.

ANZ is E*TRADE Australia s largest shareholder with a 34.2% shareholding established as part of a strategic alliance formed between ANZ and E*TRADE Australia in 1999. ANZ s \$268 million cash offer values E*TRADE Australia at \$407 million and represents a premium of 17.0% to the Volume Weighted Average Price (VWAP) over the past month and 25.5% over the three months prior to the announcement.

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited ABN 11 005 357 522

Mr Hartzer added: ANZ has the capabilities now to add further value to E*TRADE Australia s business by developing its technology platform, building and leveraging scale, and accelerating growth. This means ANZ is uniquely placed to improve and extend services for E*TRADE Australia s customers, its strategic business partners and its staff.

The acquisition would be funded by ANZ from internal resources and is anticipated to be earnings per share neutral in 2008.

ANZ s offer may be made through a subsidiary by way of an off-market takeover bid under the Australian Corporations Act 2001. The offer is subject to a number of conditions including ANZ acquiring at least 90% of the number of E*TRADE Australia s ordinary shares on issue. The conditions are outlined in full in the Appendix of this announcement.

E*TRADE Australia has entered into a Bid Facilitation Agreement with ANZ in relation to ANZ s offer which includes the customary no shop provisions. ANZ s Bidder s Statement is expected to be provided to E*TRADE Australia shareholders in early March 2007.

For media enquiries contact: For analyst enquiries contact:

Paul Edwards Stephen Higgins

Head of Corporate Communications Head of Investor Relations

Tel: 03-9273 6955 or 0409-655 550

Tel: 03-9273 4185 or 0417-379 170

Email: paul.edwards@anz.com Email: higgins@anz.com

Notes:

The committee of independent directors of E*TRADE Australia established to consider the ANZ offer comprises Kerry Roxburgh, Jim Dominguez, Ian Hunter and Brett Spork. The committee excludes John Harries and Geoff Cohen who were nominated to the E*TRADE Australia board by ANZ and are executives of ANZ, and Jarrett Lilien who was nominated by E*TRADE Financial Corporation.

2

APPENDIX

BID CONDITIONS FOR ANZ S CASH TAKEOVER OFFER FOR E*TRADE AUSTRALIA

1. Minimum acceptance condition

During, or at the end of, the offer period, the number of fully paid ordinary shares in E*TRADE Australia (E*TRADE Australia Shares) in which ANZ and its associates together have relevant interests (disregarding any relevant interest that ANZ has merely because of the operation of section 608(3) of the Corporations Act) is at least 90% of all the E*TRADE Australia Shares (even if that number later becomes less than 90% of all the E*TRADE Australia Shares).

2. ASX/ACH consents

Before the end of the offer period, ASX Limited (ASX) provides such consents as are necessary under rule 4.7 of the ASX Market Rules, and Australian Clearing House Pty Ltd provides such consents as are necessary under rule 3.7 of the ACH Clearing House Rules, to permit the acquisition of the E*TRADE Australia Shares under ANZ s offer, such consents to be unconditional or subject only to conditions which would not:

- (a) have a material adverse effect on the businesses of the members of the ANZ Group (being ANZ and its subsidiaries) and the E*TRADE Australia Group (being E*TRADE Australia and its subsidiaries) that are relevant participants (for the purposes of the ASX Market Rules and ACH Clearing Rules) or any other member of the E*TRADE Australia Group or ANZ Group; or
- (b) require the divestiture of any business or assets by any member of the E*TRADE Australia Group or the ANZ Group.
- 3. No action by Public Authority adversely affecting ANZ s offer

During the period from and including the date of this announcement (Announcement Date) to the end of the offer period:

- (a) there is not in effect any preliminary or final decision, order or decree issued by a Public Authority;
- (b) no action or investigation is instituted, or threatened by any Public Authority; and
- (c) no application is made to any Public Authority (other than an application by ANZ or any company within the ANZ Group),

in consequence of, or in connection with, ANZ s offer, which restrains, prohibits or impedes, or threatens to restrain, prohibit or impede, or may otherwise materially adversely impact upon, the making of ANZ s offer, the acquisition of E*TRADE Australia Shares under ANZ s offer or the rights of ANZ in respect of E*TRADE Australia and the E*TRADE Australia Shares to be acquired under ANZ s offer or otherwise, or seeks to require the divestiture by ANZ of any E*TRADE Australia Shares, or the divestiture of any assets by E*TRADE Australia or by any subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia or by any member of the ANZ Group.

For the purpose of these conditions, **Public Authority** means any government or any governmental, semi-governmental, administrative, statutory or judicial entity, authority or agency, whether in Australia or elsewhere, including the ACCC (but excluding the Takeovers Panel, ASIC and any court in respect of proceedings under section 657G or proceedings commenced by a person specified in section 659B(1) of the Corporations Act in relation to ANZ s offer).

It also includes any self-regulatory organisation established under statute or any stock exchange (including the ASX).

4.	E*TRADE Australia Licence	
Before the end of the offer period, E*TRADE Financial Corporation (formerly, E*TRADE Group Inc):		
(a)	does not exercise or give notice that	it intends to exercise its right to terminate the Licence without cause; and
(b) waiver of its right to	provides to each of ETRADE Austra terminate the Licence without cause	lia Securities Limited and ETRADE Australia Limited an enforceable and irrevocable which is conditional only on:
(i) right to terminate the		ties Limited and ETRADE Australia Limited providing a reciprocal waiver of their bject to the condition referred to in (ii) below); and
(ii)	ANZ s offer becoming uncondition	al.
		ices and License Agreement dated 1 January 2002 between E*TRADE Financial Australia Securities Limited and ETRADE Australia Limited.
5.	No material adverse change	
During the period from	om and including the Announcement	Date to the end of the offer period:
(a)	there is no occurrence or matter, incl	luding (without limitation):
(i)		any change in the status or terms of arrangements entered into with E*TRADE Australia or any of its subsidiaries or the status or terms of any licences, authorities, consents, approvals, orders, waivers, relief, rulings and decisions which are applicable to E*TRADE Australia or any of its subsidiaries (whether or not wholly or partly attributable to the making of ANZ s offer, and/or the acquisition of E*TRADE Australia Shares under ANZ s offer),
(ii)		any liability for duty or tax;
(iii)		any liability resulting from a change of control of E*TRADE Australia; and
(iv)		any change in the law (whether retrospective or not),
that is not apparent from information available to ANZ as at the Announcement Date and that (individually or together with others) has or could reasonably be expected to have a materially adverse effect on the assets, liabilities, financial or trading position, profitability or prospects of E*TRADE Australia and its subsidiaries taken as a whole; and		
(b) not apparent from pu	no occurrence or matter of the type rablicly available information before the	eferred to in paragraph 5(a), which occurred before the Announcement Date but was ten, becomes public.
An occurrence or matter that has or could reasonably be expected to have the effect of reducing:		
(1)	the consolidated net profit after tax of	of the E*TRADE Australia Group on an on-going basis by more than \$2 million; or
(2)	the consolidated net assets of the E*	TRADE Australia Group by \$10 million or more,
is deemed to be an occurrence or matter of the type referred to in paragraph 5(a).		

No material transactions, acquisitions or disposals

6.

During the period from and including the Announcement Date to the end of the offer period, none of E*TRADE Australia, or any subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia:

(a) acquires, offers to acquire or agrees to acquire one or more companies or assets (or an interest in one or more companies or assets) for an amount in aggregate greater than \$8.0 million;

- (b) disposes, offers to dispose or agrees to dispose of one or more assets (or an interest in one or more assets) for an amount in aggregate greater than \$8.0 million;
- (c) enters into or offers to enter into any joint venture, asset or profit sharing, partnership, merger of businesses (including through a dual listed companies structure) or of corporate entities, involving a commitment or value of greater than \$4.0 million:
- incurs, commits to or brings forward the time for incurring, or grants to another person a right the exercise of which would involve E*TRADE Australia or any subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia incurring or committing to, any capital expenditure or liability, or foregoes any revenue for one or more related items or amounts of greater than \$4.0 million;
- (e) gives or agrees to give any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other encumbrance or right over any of its assets, otherwise than in the ordinary course of business;
- (f) declares, or distributes any dividend, bonus or other share of its profits or assets;
- enters or agrees to enter into any contract of service for the appointment of, or varies or agrees to vary any existing contract of service with, any director, executive or manager (including any replacement chief executive officer), or pays or agrees to pay any retirement benefit or allowance to any director, manager or other employee, or makes or agrees to make any substantial change in the basis or amount of remuneration of any director, manager or other employee (except as required by law or provided under any superannuation, provident or retirement scheme as in effect on the Announcement Date. Nothing in this paragraph prevents E*TRADE Australia or any subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia from increasing the remuneration of its employees with effect from 1 July 2007 in the ordinary course of its business;
- (h) conducts its business otherwise than in the ordinary course;
- (i) has threatened or commenced against it any material claims or proceedings in any court or tribunal (including a petition for winding up or an application for appointment of a receiver or receiver and manager); or
- (j) discloses (without having disclosed to ASX prior to the Announcement Date) the existence of any matter described in paragraphs 6(a) to (i) above, or announces an intention or proposal to do anything described in paragraphs 6(a) to (i).
- 7. No prescribed occurrences
- (a) None of the following events happens during the period beginning on the date the bidder s statement relating to ANZ s offer (**Bidder s Statement**) is given to E*TRADE Australia and ending at the end of the offer period:
- (i) E*TRADE Australia converts all or any of its shares into a larger or smaller number of shares;
- (ii) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia resolves to reduce its share capital in any way;
- (iii) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia:
 - (A) enters into a buy-back agreement; or
 - (B) resolves to approve the terms of a buy-back agreement under section 257C(1) or 257D(1) of the Corporations Act;
- (iv) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia issues shares or grants an option over its shares, or agrees to make such an issue or grant such an option (other than an issue of shares by E*TRADE Australia made in accordance with an agreement entered into by E*TRADE Australia the details of which were announced to ASX before the Announcement Date);

- (v) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia issues, or agrees to issue, convertible notes;
- (vi) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia disposes, or agrees to dispose, of the whole, or a substantial part, of its business or property;
- (vii) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia charges, or agrees to charge, the whole, or a substantial part, of its business or property;
- (viii) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia resolves to be wound up;
- (ix) a liquidator or provisional liquidator of E*TRADE Australia or of a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia is appointed;
- (x) a court makes an order for the winding up of E*TRADE Australia or of a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia;
- (xi) an administrator of E*TRADE Australia, or of a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia, is appointed under section 436A, 436B or 436C of the Corporations Act;
- (xii) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia executes a deed of company arrangement; or
- (xiii) a receiver, or a receiver and manager, is appointed in relation to the whole, or a substantial part, of the property of E*TRADE Australia or of a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia.
- (b) None of the events listed in sub-paragraphs (i) to (xiii) of paragraph 7(a) happens during the period beginning on the Announcement Date and ending at the end of the day before the Bidder s Statement is given to E*TRADE Australia.
- **8.** S&P/ASX 200 Industrials (Sector) Index

During the period from and including the Announcement Date to the end of the offer period, the S&P/ASX 200 Industrials (Sector) Index does not close, for three or more consecutive trading days, at a level which is 12.5% or more below the level at which it closed on the last trading day before the Announcement Date.

Media Release

Corporate Communications

100 Queen Street Melbourne Vic 3000 www.anz.com

For Release: 2 March 2007

ANZ lodges Bidder s Statement for recommended cash takeover offer for E*TRADE Australia

ANZ today lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission its Bidder s Statement for its \$4.05 a share cash takeover offer for all of the shares in E*TRADE Australia Limited that it does not already own.

E*TRADE Australia s committee of independent directors (comprising Kerry Roxburgh, Brett Spork, Jim Dominguez and Ian Hunter) has unanimously recommended that shareholders accept the offer in the absence of a superior proposal and subject to an independent expert concluding the offer is fair and reasonable. On that basis these directors intend to accept the offer for their own holdings.

The Bidder s Statement provides full details of ANZ s bid. ANZ intends to send the Bidder s Statement to E*TRADE Australia shareholders in mid-March.

The Bidder s Statement says:

- ANZ s \$4.05 offer represents a 25.5% premium to the three month volume weighted average price of E*TRADE Australia shares prior to the announcement of the offer, and a 39.4% premium to the three month volume weighted average price before recent press speculation of a possible takeover.
- ANZ believes E*TRADE Australia s business would benefit from additional management and operational support to consolidate and build on its recent growth. ANZ can provide this.

ANZ owns 34.2% of E*TRADE Australia, accumulated as part of a strategic alliance formed between the two companies in 1999. In ANZ s view, in the absence of ANZ s offer, the E*TRADE Australia share price is likely to fall.

Further information is available on ANZ s website at www.anz.com. An Offer Information Line has also been established for E*TRADE Australia shareholders. The numbers are 1300-301126 (within Australia) or +61-2 -99361977 (outside Australia) between the hours of 9:00am and 5:00pm Melbourne time (Monday to Friday).

For media enquiries, contact:

Paul Edwards Head of Corporate Communications Tel: 0409-655 550 Email: paul.edwards@anz.com

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited ABN 11 005 357 522

Media Release

Corporate Communications 100 Queen Street Melbourne Vic 3000 www.anz.com

For Release: 9 March 2007

ANZ Takeover Bid for E*TRADE Australia Condition Satisfied

ANZ today announced the condition of its takeover bid for E*TRADE Australia Limited set out in clause 5.1(c) (ii) of the Bidder s Statement lodged on 2 March 2007, that E*TRADE Financial Corporation waive its right to terminate the Services and Licence Agreement with E*TRADE Australia without cause, has been satisfied.

A formal notice to this effect is attached.

For media enquiries contact:

Paul Edwards
Head of Corporate Communications
Tel: 0409-655 550
Email: paul.edwards@anz.com

NOTICE UNDER SECTION 630(4)

OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 (Cth)

TO: ETRADE Australia Limited
AND TO: ASX Limited

Takeover Bid by ANZ Online Holdings Pty Limited (ANZ Online) for ETRADE Australia Limited (E*TRADE)

ANZ Online **GIVES NOTICE** under section 630(4) of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth) that on 9 March 2007 the condition set out in clause 5.1(c)(ii) of the offers to be made by ANZ Online pursuant to its takeover bid for all of the ordinary shares in E*TRADE was fulfilled. (This condition relates to E*TRADE Financial Corporation (formerly E*TRADE Group Inc) waiving its right to terminate the Service and License Agreement dated 1 January 2002 between E*TRADE Financial Corporation, ETRADE Australia Securities Limited and ETRADE Australia Limited without cause.) The offers are now free of that condition.

DATED 9 March 2007

ON BEHALF OF, ANZ ONLINE HOLDINGS PTY LIMITED (ACN 124 093 625)

David Valentine Director _

Media Release

Corporate Communications 100 Queen Street Melbourne Vic 3000 www.anz.com

For Release: 14 March 2007

ANZ Takeover Bid for E*TRADE Australia Dispatch of Bidder s Statement

ANZ today announced it has mailed its Bidder s Statement to E*TRADE Australia shareholders.

Key dates for the offer contained in the Bidder s Statement are:

Date of offer: 14 March 2007

Closing date of offer: 7.00pm (Melbourne time) on 18 April 2007, unless extended.

A copy of the Bidder s Statement as sent to E*TRADE Australia shareholders is available from ANZ s website www.anz.com.

For media enquiries contact: Paul Edwards Head of Corporate Communications

Tel: 0409-655 550

Email: paul.edwards@anz.com

CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 (Cth) SECTION 633(1), ITEMS 7,8 and 9

ETRADE Australia Limited

NOTICE THAT TAKEOVER OFFERS HAVE BEEN SENT TO SHAREHOLDERS

Australian Securities and Investments Commission
ASX Limited

TAKE NOTICE that the bidder s statement given to ETRADE Australia Limited (**E*TRADE**) by ANZ Online Holdings Pty Limited (**ANZ Online**) on 2 March 2007, containing an offer by ANZ Online for all of the ordinary shares in E*TRADE, has today been sent as required by item 6 of section 633(1) of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth), together with the additional information required by ASIC class order 01/1543. The offer is dated 14 March 2007.

A copy of the bidder s statement containing the offer as so sent is attached to this notice.

DATED 14 March 2007

To:

Director ANZ Online Holdings Pty Limited (ACN 124 093 625)

ANZ Online Holdings Pty Limited

ACN 124 093 625

a subsidiary of Australia and New Zealand

Banking Group Limited

ABN 11 005 357 522

Please return completed form to:

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited GPO Box 52 Melbourne Victoria 8060 Australia Enquiries (within Australia) 1300 301 126

(outside Australia) 61 2 9936 1977

Securityholder Reference Number (SRN)

I 1234567890 IND

000001 000 ANZ MR JOHN SMITH 1 **FLAT 123** 123 SAMPLE STREET THE SAMPLE HILL

SAMPLE ESTATE

SAMPLEVILLE VIC 3030

Use a black pen. **Print in CAPITAL** letters inside the grey areas

Transfer and Acceptance Form - ANZ s Offer for your E*TRADE Shares

This is an important document and requires your immediate attention. You should read the Bidder s Statement which accompanies this Transfer and Acceptance Form. Capitalised terms used in this Transfer and Acceptance Form have the same meaning as in the Bidder s Statement unless otherwise defined or the context indicates otherwise. If you are in doubt about how to deal with it, please consult your financial or other professional advisor.

Use this form to accept ANZ s Offer for your E*TRADE Shares

Consideration

The consideration applicable under the terms of this Offer

What ANZ Online is offering to buy

ANZ Online is offering to buy all of your E*TRADE Shares on the terms set out in the attached Bidder s Statement.

What you will receive if you accept the Offer

If you accept the Offer you will, subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions of the Offer, receive \$4.05 cash for each of your E*TRADE Shares.

No brokerage on acceptances

Securityholder details

Subregister Issuer/CHESS

Your holding in E*TRADE Shares as at 6 123456789012 March 2007

Cash consideration payable to \$000.00 you at A\$4.05 per share

Corporate Communications

You will not pay brokerage if you accept the Offer.

To be completed by Securityholder

You will be deemed to have accepted the Offer in respect of all your E*TRADE Shares as at the time your acceptance is processed, if you sign and return the form.

If you hold your E*TRADE Shares in a CHESS holding (see subregister above), to accept the Offer you can either:

• Instruct your Controlling Participant directly - normally your stockbroker

or

• Authorise ANZ Online to contact your Controlling Participant on your behalf, which you can do by signing and returning the form. By signing and returning the form you will be deemed to have authorised ANZ Online to contact your Controlling Participant directly via the CHESS system.

Contact details

Please provide your contact details in case we need to speak to you about this form.

Name of contact person

Contact Person s daytime telephone number

Sign here - this section must be signed before we can process this form.

I/We accept the Offer made by ANZ Online in respect of the E*TRADE Shares that I/we hold and I/we agree to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Offer (*including the instructions as to acceptance of the Offer on the back of this form*) and transfer all of my/our E*TRADE Shares to ANZ Online for the above consideration.

Individual or Securityholder 1

Individual or Securityholder 2

Individual or Securityholder 3

Sole Director and Sole Company

Director

Director/Company Secretary

Secretary

The directors reserve the right to make amendments to this form where appropriate. Please refer to the lodgement instructions overleaf.

See back of form for completion guidelines

ETR TKO

1TKA C

<Broker PID> 033207_00M70B

How to complete this form

Acceptance of the takeover offer

Registration Details	Contact details		
The E*TRADE Shares are currently registered in the name(s) printed on this form. Your consideration will be issued in the names as it appears on the E*TRADE Australia register.	Enter the name of a contact person and telephone number. These details will only be used in the event that the registry has a regarding this form.		
If you have already sold all your E*TRADE Shares shown overleaf, do not keep or return this form. Please send this form to the broker who sold them	Signature(s) You must sign the form	as follows in the space provided:	
for you.	Tou must sign the form as follows in the space provided.		
Consideration The each consideration may able under the Offen in	Joint holding:	where the holding is in more than one name all of the securityholders must sign.	
The cash consideration payable under the Offer is A\$4.05 per E*TRADE Share.	Power of Attorney		
f your E*TRADE Shares are held in an issuer ponsored holding, simply complete and return this orm to the ANZ Online registry so that it is eceived by no later than 7.00pm Melbourne time in 18 April 2007, unless extended.	Deceased Estate:	to sign under the Power of Attorney, you must have already lodged the Power of Attorney with the ANZ Online registry. Alternatively, attach a certified copy of the Power of Attorney to this form when you return it.	
Fyour E*TRADE Shares are in a CHESS holding, ou may contact your Controlling Participant directly (normally your tockbroker) with instructions to accept ne offer. If you do this, you will need to ign and return this Transfer and	Companies:	all executors must sign and a certified copy of Probate or Letters of Administration must accompany this form.	
Acceptance Form to your Controlling Participant. If you want ANZ Online to contact your Controlling Participant on your behalf via the CHESS system, sign and return this form to the ANZ Online egistry so that it is received no later than 7.00pm Melbourne time on 18 April 2007 anless extended.		this form must be signed by either two Directors or a Director and a Company Secretary. Alternatively, where the company has a Sole Director and, pursuant to the Corporations Act, there is no Company Secretary, or where the Sole Director is also the Sole Company	

If you sign and return this Transfer and Acceptance			Secretary, that Director may sign alone.
Form to the registry either in respect of an issuer			Delete titles as applicable.
sponsored holding or so that contact may be made			
with your Controlling Participant on your behalf,			
you warrant to ANZ Online (and authorise ANZ			
Online to warrant on your behalf) that you have full			
legal and beneficial ownership of the E*TRADE			
Shares and that ANZ Online will acquire them free			
from all mortgages, charges, liens, encumbrances			
(whether legal or equitable), restrictions on transfer			
of any kind and free from any third party rights.			
Neither ANZ Online or Computershare Investor			
Services Pty Limited (CIS) will be responsible			
for any delays incurred by this process. You			
should allow sufficient time for the preferred			
party to initiate the acceptance of the offer on			
your behalf before the Offer Period ends.			
	I	I	

Lodgement of Transfer and Acceptance Form

This Transfer and Acceptance Form must be received at the Melbourne office of CIS by no later than 7.00pm Melbourne time on 18 April 2007. Return this Transfer and Acceptance Form to:

Postal Address: Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited GPO Box 52 MELBOURNE VIC 8060 OR Hand Delivery:

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited

Yarra Falls 452 Johnston Street ABBOTSFORD VIC 3067

Privacy Statement

Personal information is collected on this form by CIS, as registrar for securities issuers (the issuer), for the purpose of maintaining registers of securityholders, facilitating distribution payments and other corporate actions and communications. Your personal information may be disclosed to our related bodies corporate, to external service companies such as print or mail service providers, or as otherwise required or permitted by law. If you would like details of your personal information held by CIS, or you would like to correct information that is inaccurate, incorrect or out of date, please contact CIS. In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, you may be sent material (including marketing material) approved by the issuer in addition to general corporate communications. You may elect not to receive marketing material by contacting CIS. You can contact CIS using the details provided on the front of this form or E-mail privacy@computershare.com.au

If you have any enquiries concerning ANZ s Offer please contact ANZ s Offer Information Line on 1300 301 126.

For legal reasons, all calls to this number will be recorded.

Please note this form may not be used to change your address.

Please return the completed form in the envelope provided or to the address opposite:	Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited GPO Box 52 Melbourne Victoria 8060 Australia

RECOMMENDED CASH OFFER

by

ANZ Online Holdings Pty Limited ACN 124 093 625

a wholly-owned subsidiary of

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited ABN 11 005 357 522

to acquire all of your shares in

ETRADE Australia Limited ABN 12 003 042 082

for

\$4.05 CASH

per share

This is an important document and requires your immediate attention. If you are in doubt as to how to deal with it please consult your financial or other professional adviser.

[inside front cover]

IMPORTANT INFORMATION

Bidder s Statement

Important dates

Bidder s Statement lodged with ASIC 2 March 2007

Offer opens (date of offer) 14 March 2007

Offer closes (unless extended) 7:00pm (Melbourne time) on 18 April 2007

This Bidder s Statement is dated 2 March 2007.

This Bidder s Statement is given by ANZ Online Holdings Pty Limited ACN 124 093 625 to ETRADE Australia Limited ABN 12 003 042 082 under Part 6.5 of the Corporations Act. This Bidder s Statement includes an Offer dated 14 March 2007 to acquire your E*TRADE Shares and also sets out certain disclosures required by the Corporations Act.

A copy of this Bidder s Statement was lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) on 2 March 2007. ASIC takes no responsibility for the contents of this Bidder s Statement.

A number of defined terms are used in this Bidder s Statement. These terms are defined in Part 8.

Investment decisions

This document does not take into account the investment objectives, financial situation or particular needs of any person. Before deciding whether or not to accept the offer you may wish to seek independent financial and taxation advice.

Forward looking statements

This document contains forward looking statements. Forward looking statements are not based on historical facts, but are based on current expectations of future results or events. These forward looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions which could cause actual results or events to differ materially from the expectations described in such forward looking statements. While ANZ and ANZ Online believe that the expectations reflected in the forward looking statements in this document are reasonable, no assurance can be given that such expectations will prove to be correct. Matters as yet not known to ANZ and ANZ Online or not currently considered material by ANZ or ANZ Online may cause actual results or events to be materially different from those expressed, implied or projected in any forward looking statements. Any forward looking statement contained in this document is qualified by this cautionary statement.

Financial Adviser Legal Adviser

CARNEGIE, WYLIE & BLAKE DAWSON WALDRON COMPANY

LAWYERS

[ANZ Letterhead]

14 March 2007

Recommended Cash Offer For Your E*TRADE Shares

Dear E*TRADE Australia shareholder,

I am pleased to present you with this Offer to acquire all your shares in E*TRADE Australia for \$4.05 per share.

The independent directors of E*TRADE Australia (Kerry Roxburgh, Brett Spork, Jim Dominguez and Ian Hunter) have said they will unanimously recommend that E*TRADE Australia shareholders accept the Offer, and that they intend to accept this Offer for their own holdings of E*TRADE Australia, in the absence of a superior proposal and subject to an independent expert concluding that the Offer is fair and reasonable.(1)

Benefits of the Offer

ANZ s Offer provides very attractive value for your investment in E*TRADE Australia. The Offer represents:

- a **25.5**% premium to the three month volume weighted average price of E*TRADE Australia shares prior to the announcement of the Offer on 19 February 2007; and
- a **39.4**% premium to the three month volume weighted average price of E*TRADE Australia shares before recent press speculation of a possible takeover.(2)

ANZ is E*TRADE Australia s largest shareholder with a 34.2% shareholding accumulated as part of a strategic alliance formed between ANZ and E*TRADE Australia in 1999.

ANZ believes that E*TRADE Australia s business would benefit from additional management and operational expertise and support to consolidate and build on its recent growth. ANZ can provide this.

How to accept the Offer

The Offer is scheduled to close at 7:00pm (Melbourne time) on 18 April 2007.

To accept this Offer please follow the instructions on the enclosed Transfer and Acceptance Form. If you have any questions in relation to the Offer, please contact ANZ s Offer Information Line on

- (1) ASX announcement by E*TRADE Australia of 19 February 2007
- (2) E*TRADE boss's unexpected exit fuels takeover talk, Australian Financial Review, 16 January 2007, page 14

1300 301 126 (within Australia) or +61 2 9936 1977 (outside Australia) between the hours of 9:00am and 5:00pm Melbourne time (Monday to Friday)(3), or visit ANZ s website at www.anz.com.

I encourage you to consider this document carefully and accept ANZ s Offer.

Yours faithfully

Brian Hartzer Group Managing Director, Personal Division Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited

(3) As required by the Corporations Act, all calls will be recorded, indexed and stored.

ii

CONTENTS

DADT 1	SUMMARY OF THE OFFER
	<u> </u>
PART 2	WHY YOU SHOULD ACCEPT THE
<u>OFFER</u>	
	FREQUENTLY ASKED
QUESTIC	
PART 4	THE OFFER TERMS
<u>1.</u>	THE OFFER
<u>2.</u>	OFFER PERIOD
<u>2.</u> <u>3.</u>	HOW TO ACCEPT THIS OFFER
<u>4.</u>	YOUR AGREEMENT RESULTING FROM ACCEPTANCE
<u>4.</u> <u>5.</u>	DEFEATING CONDITIONS
6.	PAYMENT OF CONSIDERATION
7 .	<u>OFFEREES</u>
<u>6.</u> 7. 8.	VARIATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF OFFER
<u>9.</u>	GOVERNING LAW
PART 5	INFORMATION ABOUT ANZ, ITS INTENTIONS CONCERNING E*TRADE AUSTRALIA AND ITS
	SOURCES OF CASH CONSIDERATION
<u>10.</u>	IDENTITY OF ANZ
<u>11.</u>	REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION
<u>12.</u>	ANZ SINTENTIONS
<u>13.</u>	SOURCES OF CASH CONSIDERATION
PART 6	AUSTRALIAN TAX CONSIDERATIONS
14.	TAXATION CONSIDERATIONS
PART 7	ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
15.	INFORMATION ON SECURITIES IN E*TRADE
	AUSTRALIA
<u>16.</u>	OTHER MATERIAL INFORMATION
17.	OTHER MATTERS
	DEFINITIONS AND
	RETATION
18.	DEFINITIONS
<u>19.</u>	INTERPRETATION
<u></u>	

PART 1 SUMMARY OF THE OFFER

The Offer ANZ Online offers to acquire all of your E*TRADE Shares for \$4.05 cash per share.

Payment Terms If you accept the Offer, ANZ Online will pay you \$4.05 cash for each of your E*TRADE Shares by the earlier of:

- one month after the day both of the following apply:
- you have validly accepted the Offer; and
- the Offer has become unconditional:
- 21 days after the end of the Offer Period, provided that the Offer has become unconditional.

Closing date Unless withdrawn or extended the Offer is open until 7:00pm Melbourne time on 18 April 2007.

Conditions The Offer is subject to the conditions set out in clause 5.1 of this Bidder s Statement.

How to accept CHESS Holdings

Instruct your Controlling Participant (usually your broker) to accept the Offer for you or you may complete, sign and return the Transfer and Acceptance Form.

Issuer Sponsored Holdings and other holdings

Complete, sign and return the Transfer and Acceptance Form.

No brokerage You will not pay any brokerage on accepting the Offer.

Further information Please call 1300 301 126 within Australia (or +61 2 9936 1977 outside Australia) between the hours of 9:00am and

5:00pm Melbourne time (Monday to Friday)(4) or visit ANZ s website at www.anz.com.

⁽⁴⁾ As required by the Corporations Act, all calls will be recorded, indexed and stored.

PART 2 WHY YOU SHOULD ACCEPT THE OFFER

1	UNANIMOUS RECOMMENDATION BY E*TRADE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS	X
2	YOU WILL RECEIVE A SIGNIFICANT PREMIUM FOR YOUR E*TRADE SHARES OVER THE PRE-ANNOUNCEMENT SHARE PRICE	X
3	YOU WILL RECEIVE SUBSTANTIAL VALUE FOR YOUR E*TRADE SHARES	X
4	E*TRADE AUSTRALIA WOULD BENEFIT FROM ADDITIONAL MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONAL SUPPORT FOR FUTURE GROWTH	x
5	IN THE ABSENCE OF ANZ $$ s OFFER, THE E*TRADE SHARE PRICE IS LIKELY TO FALL	x
6	YOU WILL NOT INCUR ANY BROKERAGE BY ACCEPTING THE OFFER	X

1) UNANIMOUS RECOMMENDATION BY E*TRADE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

A committee of independent directors of E*TRADE Australia(5) unanimously recommend that you accept the Offer in the absence of a superior proposal and subject to an independent expert concluding that the offer is fair and reasonable.

Each of these independent directors has said that he intends to accept this Offer for his own holdings of E*TRADE Shares on that basis.(6)

On 19 February 2007, E*TRADE Australia s Chairman, Mr Kerry Roxburgh said:

Given the offer s premium to E*TRADE Australia s share price and particularly relative to historic share prices, it is a compelling offer. The committee of independent directors have concluded it is in the best interests of all shareholders and are pleased for shareholders to consider it.

(6) E*TRADE Australia s announcement to ASX dated 19 February 2007.

⁽⁵⁾ The committee of independent directors of E*TRADE Australia comprises Kerry Roxburgh, Jim Dominguez, Ian Hunter and Brett Spork. The committee excludes John Harries and Geoff Cohen who were nominated to the E*TRADE Australia board by ANZ and are executives of ANZ, and Jarrett Lilien who was nominated by E*TRADE Financial Corporation.

Based on the great success we have already realised from our alliance, the integration of E*TRADE Australia and ANZ is a logical next step. (7)

2) YOU WILL RECEIVE A SIGNIFICANT PREMIUM FOR YOUR E*TRADE SHARES OVER THE PRE-ANNOUNCEMENT SHARE PRICE

The \$4.05 Offer price is well above where E*TRADE Shares have traded over the three years prior to the announcement of ANZ s Offer.(8)

E*TRADE Australia Three Year Share Price History Prior to Announcement

(/) E* I RADE Australia	s announcement to ASX dated 19 February 2007.

⁽⁸⁾ The Offer was announced on 19 February 2007.

⁽⁹⁾ Street Talk, Australian Financial Review, 2 November 2006, page 28.

 $^{(10) \}quad E*TRADE \ boss \quad s \ unexpected \ exit \ fuels \ takeover \ talk \quad , \ Australian \ Financial \ Review, \ 16 \ January \ 2007, \ page \ 14.$

The \$4.05 Offer price also represents a significant premium to the prices at which E*TRADE Shares have traded over the six months prior to the
Offer announcement, notwithstanding that E*TRADE Shares have appreciated 63.0% during this time:

•	43.2% premium to the six month VWAP prior to	announcement(11) (54.6% premium to the six
month VWAP p	prior to speculation(12));	

- 25.5% premium to the three month VWAP prior to announcement (39.4% premium to the three month VWAP prior to speculation); and
- \bullet 17.0% premium to the one month VWAP prior to announcement (30.2% premium to the one month VWAP prior to speculation).

Significant Offer Premium (11), (12)

⁽¹¹⁾ Pre-announcement VWAP calculated up until 16 February 2007, the last trading day prior to announcement on 19 February 2007.

⁽¹²⁾ Pre-speculation VWAP calculated up until 15 January 2007, the last trading day prior to press takeover speculation as reported in E*TRADE boss s unexpected exit fuels takeover talk , Australian Financial Review, 16 January 2007, page 14.

3) YOU WILL RECEIVE SUBSTANTIAL VALUE FOR YOUR E*TRADE SHARES

The \$4.05 Offer represents a significant Price/Earnings (P/E) multiple of E*TRADE Australia s earnings:

- **17.0x** E*TRADE Australia s Basic Earnings Per Share (**EPS**) for the 12 months ended 31 December 2006, excluding non-recurring items;(13) and
- **24.5**x E*TRADE Australia s EPS for the 12 months ended 31 December 2006, excluding non-recurring items and normalised to allow for the corporate tax rate.(14)

The relative P/E multiples implied by ANZ s Offer of \$4.05 per share illustrate that shareholders will receive full value for their investment in E*TRADE Australia.(15) This is further emphasised when an adjustment is made to take account of the full corporate tax rate to which E*TRADE Australia is likely to be subject once tax losses have been fully utilised.

Relative P/E Multiples (13)(14)(15)

⁽¹³⁾ Non-recurring items comprises a \$3.6 million income tax benefit and \$2.2 million of non-recurring costs for the six months ended 31 December 2006.

⁽¹⁴⁾ E*TRADE Australia did not record any income tax expense for the year ended June 2006 due to accumulated tax losses. At 31 December 2006, E*TRADE Australia held a recognised deferred tax asset (DTA) of \$3.8 million in respect of carry forward tax losses and net temporary differences. To the extent DTA on tax losses are utilised in the second half of financial year 2007, that amount will be reduced in the full year ending 30 June 2007. The tax normalised 2006 P/E multiple is based on E*TRADE Australia s net profit before tax (pre associates, amortisation and non-recurring items) for the 12 months ended 31 December 2006 of \$24.2 million, taxed at 30%, plus associates (post tax) of \$1.0 million, resulting in a tax normalised EPS of \$0.17.

⁽¹⁵⁾ P/E multiples based on share prices as at 16 February 2007. E*TRADE Financial Corporation EPS from 2006 annual report. S&P/ASX 300 Index P/E multiple is based on the average of broker analyst aggregate index company earnings estimates that could be identified around the time of the announcement, and have been calendarised to 31 December 2006 year end. Two broker analyst estimates have been used in the sample (dated 16 February 2007 and 19 February 2007 respectively), both of which infer P/E multiples of 16.0x.

4) E*TRADE AUSTRALIA WOULD BENEFIT FROM ADDITIONAL MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONAL SUPPORT FOR FUTURE GROWTH

ANZ believes E*TRADE Australia s business would benefit from additional management and operational expertise and support to consolidate and build on its recent growth. ANZ can provide this, particularly given its transaction processing expertise.

5) IN THE ABSENCE OF ANZ S OFFER, THE E*TRADE SHARE PRICE IS LIKELY TO FALL

E*TRADE Australia s share price has increased materially in the period immediately prior to the announcement of ANZ s Offer:

- More than 60% in the preceding six months; and
- 10.8% from the date prior to speculation about a possible takeover of E*TRADE Australia reported in the press on 16 January 2007.(16)

Following the announcement of ANZ s Offer, E*TRADE Shares have traded above the \$4.05 Offer price.

E*TRADE Australia One Year Share Price History

⁽¹⁶⁾ E*TRADE boss s unexpected exit fuels takeover talk , Australian Financial Review, 16 January 2007, page 14.

⁽¹⁷⁾ Street Talk, Australian Financial Review, 2 November 2006, page 28.

If ANZ s Offer does not proceed, and no other offers are made for E*TRADE Shares, you will continue to own your E*TRADE Shares and, in ANZ s view, it is likely that the trading price of E*TRADE Shares will fall.

ANZ currently holds a 34.2% shareholding in E*TRADE Australia and has strong links with E*TRADE Australia through customer relationships and its existing support for E*TRADE Australia s margin lending and cash management operations. No other party can acquire 100% of E*TRADE Australia without ANZ s support.

6) YOU WILL NOT INCUR ANY BROKERAGE BY ACCEPTING THE OFFER

E*TRADE Shareholders will not pay any brokerage charges (or GST on such brokerage charges) on accepting the Offer.

PART 3 FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS

This section answers some commonly asked questions about the Offer. It is not intended to address all relevant issues for E*TRADE Australia shareholders. This section should be read together with all other parts of this Bidder s Statement.

Question	Answer
What is the Bidder s Statement?	The Bidder s Statement was prepared by ANZ Online for distribution to E*TRADE Australia shareholders. It sets out the terms of ANZ s Offer and information relating to ANZ s Offer and the consideration you will receive.
	The Bidder s Statement is an important document. If you are in any doubt as to how to deal with this document, you should consult your broker or your legal, financial or other professional adviser as soon as possible.
Who is the Bidder?	The Bidder is ANZ Online Holdings Pty Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of ANZ.
Who is ANZ?	ANZ is one of four major Australian-based banking groups, and is headquartered in Melbourne. ANZ conducts its operations primarily in Australia and New Zealand. ANZ also operates across the Asian and Pacific regions, and in a number of other countries including the United Kingdom and the United States.
	ANZ is E*TRADE Australia s largest shareholder with a 34.2% shareholding accumulated as part of a strategic alliance formed between ANZ and E*TRADE Australia in 1999.
What is ANZ s Offer for my E*TRADE Shares?	ANZ Online is offering \$4.05 cash per share for all of your E*TRADE Shares.
What choices do I have as an E*TRADE Australia shareholder?	You have the following choices in respect of your E*TRADE Shares:
	• accept ANZ s Offer of \$4.05 per share; or
	• sell your shares on ASX (unless you have previously accepted ANZ s Offer for your shares); or
	• do nothing.
8	

Question	Answer
What are the committee of independent directors of E*TRADE Australia recommending?	The committee of independent directors of E*TRADE Australia recommends that you accept the Offer, in the absence of a superior proposal and subject to an independent expert concluding that ANZ s Offer is fair and reasonable. The committee of independent directors comprises Kerry Roxburgh, Jim Dominguez, Ian Hunter and Brett Spork.
	Each of these directors has said that he intends to accept the Offer in respect of his E*TRADE Shares, in the absence of a superior proposal and subject to an independent expert concluding that ANZ s Offer is fair and reasonable.
Why is an independent expert s report required?	An independent expert s report is required where a bidder is entitled to not less than 30% of the target company s voting shares.
	Due to ANZ s existing 34.2% holding in E*TRADE Australia, an independent expert s report must accompany E*TRADE Australia s target s statement.
When will E*TRADE Australia shareholders receive the independent expert s report?	The independent expert s report will accompany the target s statement and be mailed to all E*TRADE Australia shareholders. ANZ expects that you will receive the target s statement within approximately two weeks after you receive this Offer.
How do I accept the Offer?	Details of how to accept the Offer are set out in clause 3 of the Bidder s Statement.
Can I accept the Offer for part of my shareholding?	No. You cannot accept for part of your shareholding. You may only accept the Offer for all of your E*TRADE Shares.
When does the Offer close?	The Offer is scheduled to close at 7.00pm (Melbourne time) on 18 April 2007, unless extended.
	See clause 8 for details of the circumstances in which the Offer Period can be extended.
Will I pay brokerage if I accept the Offer?	No. However, you may incur brokerage costs and GST on those costs if you choose to sell your E*TRADE Shares on ASX.
Can I withdraw my acceptance?	Under the terms of the Offer, you cannot withdraw your acceptance unless a withdrawal right arises
9	

Question	Answer
	under the Corporations Act.
	Such a withdrawal right will arise if, after you have accepted the Offer, ANZ Online varies the Offer in a way that postpones, for more than one month, the time when ANZ Online has to meet its obligations under the Offer, and the Offer is still conditional at that time.
When will I be paid if I accept the Offer?	If you accept the Offer, you will be paid your consideration on the earlier of:
	• one month after the later of the date you accept the Offer or the date that the Offer becomes or is declared unconditional; or
	• 21 days after the end of the Offer Period, provided that the Offer has become unconditional.
	However, there are certain exceptions to the above timetable for payment. See clause 6 of the Bidder s Statement for further information.
What are the conditions to the Offer?	A full list of conditions is set out in clause 5 of the Bidder s Statement.
What happens if the conditions of the Offer are not satisfied or waived?	If the conditions of the Offer are not satisfied or waived before the Offer closes, the Offer will lapse.
	ANZ Online will make an announcement to ASX if the conditions of the Offer are satisfied or waived during the Offer Period.
10	

Question	Answer
What happens if I do not accept the Offer?	Subject to what is stated below, you will remain the holder of your E*TRADE Shares if you do not accept the Offer.
	If ANZ Online (and its associates) acquire 90% of E*TRADE Shares and the other conditions of the Offer are satisfied or waived, it intends to compulsorily acquire your E*TRADE Shares under the compulsory acquisition provisions of the Corporations Act.
	Under compulsory acquisition, you will be provided the Offer consideration of \$4.05 cash per E*TRADE Share at the conclusion of this process. You will receive the Offer consideration sooner if you accept the Offer during the Offer period.
Will E*TRADE Australia remain listed on ASX?	If ANZ Online (and its associates) acquire 90% or more of E*TRADE Shares before or at the end of the Offer Period and the other conditions of ANZ s Offer are satisfied or waived, it intends to proceed to compulsory acquisition of the remaining E*TRADE Shares under the Corporations Act. E*TRADE Shares will then be removed from quotation on ASX and E*TRADE Australia will cease to be listed on ASX.
What are the tax implications of accepting the Offer?	A general outline of the tax implications of accepting the Offer for Australian resident E*TRADE Australia shareholders is set out in Part 6 of this Bidder s Statement.
	As the outline is a general guide only, shareholders are encouraged to seek their own specific professional advice as to the taxation implications applicable to their circumstances.
Is there a number that I can call if I have further queries in relation to the Offer?	You can call ANZ s Offer Information Line on 1300 301 126 (within Australia) or +61 2 9936 1977 (outside Australia) between 9:00am and 5:00pm (Melbourne time), Monday to Friday.
	As required by the Corporations Act, all calls to ANZ s Offer Information Line will be recorded.
11	

PART 4 THE OFFER TERMS

1.	THE	OFFER

ANZ Online offers to acquire all of your E*TRADE Shares for \$4.05 cash per share, on the terms set out in this Offer.

2. **OFFER PERIOD**

Unless withdrawn or extended under clause 8, this Offer is open during the period that begins on the date of this Offer and ends at 7:00pm Melbourne time on 18 April 2007.

If, within the last seven days of the Offer Period:

- (a) ANZ Online varies the Offers to improve the consideration offered;
- (b) the consideration is taken to be increased under section 651A(2) of the Corporations Act because ANZ Online purchases E*TRADE Shares outside the Takeover Bid for a cash price higher than the consideration offered; or
- (c) ANZ Online s voting power in E*TRADE Australia increases to more than 50%,

section 624(2) of the Corporations Act will apply to extend the Offer Period so that it ends 14 days after that event.

3. HOW TO ACCEPT THIS OFFER

3.1 Offer for all your E*TRADE Shares

You may only accept this Offer for all your E*TRADE Shares.

3.2 CHESS Holdings

If your E*TRADE Shares are in a CHESS Holding you must either:

- (a) **instruct** your Controlling Participant (usually your broker) to initiate acceptance on your behalf under rule 14.14 of the ASTC Settlement Rules, so as to be effective before the end of the Offer Period; or
- (b) **complete and sign** the Transfer and Acceptance Form in accordance with the instructions on it and **return** the Transfer and Acceptance Form together with all other documents required by the instructions on it to the address specified on the form. This will authorise ANZ Online to instruct your Controlling Participant (usually your broker) to initiate acceptance of this Offer on your behalf. For return of the Transfer and Acceptance Form to be an effective acceptance of the Offer, you must ensure it is received by ANZ Online in time for ANZ Online to give instructions to your Controlling Participant, and your Controlling Participant to carry out those instructions, before the end of the Offer Period.

If you are a Participant, you must initiate acceptance of this Offer under rule 14.14 of the ASTC Settlement Rules, so as to be effective before the end of the Offer Period.

3.3 Issuer Sponsored Holdings and other holdings

If your E*TRADE Shares are held on E*TRADE Australia s issuer sponsored subregister, or if at the time of your acceptance you are entitled to be registered as the holder, or are otherwise able to give good title, to accept this Offer you must:

- (a) **complete and sign** the Transfer and Acceptance Form in accordance with the instructions on it; and
- (b) **return** the Transfer and Acceptance Form together with all other documents required by the instructions on it to the address specified on the form so that they are received before the end of the Offer Period.

3.4 Foreign Laws

This Offer is not registered in any jurisdiction outside Australia (unless an applicable Foreign Law treats it as registered as a result of the Bidder s Statement being lodged with ASIC). It is your sole responsibility to satisfy yourself that you are permitted by any Foreign Law applicable to you to accept this Offer.

4. YOUR AGREEMENT RESULTING FROM ACCEPTANCE

4.1 Effect of Transfer and Acceptance Form

By signing and returning the Transfer and Acceptance Form in accordance with clause 3, you:

- (a) authorise ANZ Online and each of its officers and agents to correct any errors in, or omissions from, the Transfer and Acceptance Form necessary to:
- (i) make it an effective acceptance of this Offer for your E*TRADE Shares which are not in a CHESS Holding; and
- (ii) enable the transfer of your E*TRADE Shares to ANZ Online; and
- (b) if any of your E*TRADE Shares are in a CHESS Holding, authorise ANZ Online to:
- (i) instruct your Controlling Participant to effect your acceptance of this Offer for those E*TRADE Shares under rule 14.14 of the ASTC Settlement Rules; and
- (ii) give to your Controlling Participant on your behalf any other instructions in relation to those E*TRADE Shares which are contemplated by the sponsorship agreement between you and your Controlling Participant and are necessary or appropriate to facilitate your acceptance of this Offer.

4.2 Your agreement

By signing and returning the Transfer and Acceptance Form or initiating or causing acceptance of this Offer under the ASTC Settlement Rules in accordance with clause 3:

- (a) you accept this Offer in respect of all of your E*TRADE Shares registered as held by you at the date your acceptance is processed (despite any difference between that number and the number of E*TRADE Shares specified in the Transfer and Acceptance Form);
- (b) you represent and warrant to ANZ Online that all your E*TRADE Shares will at the time of your acceptance of this Offer and of transfer to ANZ Online be fully paid up and that ANZ Online will acquire good title to and beneficial ownership of them free from Encumbrances;
- (c) you transfer, or consent to the transfer in accordance with the ASTC Settlement Rules of, your E*TRADE Shares to ANZ Online subject to the conditions of the constitution of E*TRADE Australia on which they were held immediately before your acceptance of this Offer (and ANZ Online agrees to take those E*TRADE Shares subject to those conditions);
- (d) if and when the contract resulting from your acceptance of this Offer becomes unconditional, you irrevocably appoint ANZ Online and each director of, and any nominee of, ANZ Online as your attorney to:
- (i) attend and vote in respect of your E*TRADE Shares at all general meetings of E*TRADE Australia; and
- (ii) execute all forms, notices, documents (including a document appointing a director of ANZ Online as a proxy for any of your E*TRADE Shares) and resolutions relating to your E*TRADE Shares and generally to exercise all powers and rights which you have as the registered holder of your E*TRADE Shares;
- (e) you agree that in exercising the powers conferred by the power of attorney in clause 4.2(d), ANZ Online and each of its directors and its nominee is entitled to act in the interests of ANZ Online:
- (f) you agree not to attend or vote in person at any general meeting of E*TRADE Australia or to exercise, or to purport to exercise, (in person, by proxy or otherwise) any of the powers conferred on the directors of ANZ Online by clause 4.2(d);
- (g) if and when the contract resulting from your acceptance of this Offer becomes unconditional (even though ANZ Online has not yet paid or provided the consideration due to you), you authorise ANZ Online to transmit a message to ASTC in accordance with rule 14.17.1 of the ASTC Settlement Rules so as to enter those of your E*TRADE Shares which are in a CHESS Holding into ANZ Online s Takeover Transferee Holding; and

(h) you agree to indemnify ANZ Online (and each of its directors, officers and agents) in respect of any claim or action against it or any loss, damage or liability whatsoever incurred by it as a result of you not producing your Holder Identification Number (or HIN) or Securityholder Reference Number (or SRN) or in consequence of the transfer of your E*TRADE Shares being registered by ANZ Online without production of your Holder Identification Number or Securityholder Reference Number.

4.3 **Powers of attorney**

If the Transfer and Acceptance Form is signed under power of attorney, the attorney declares that the attorney has no notice of revocation of the power and is empowered to delegate powers under the power of attorney under clause 4.1 and paragraphs (d) and (g) of clause 4.2.

4.4 Validation of otherwise ineffective acceptances

Except for E*TRADE Shares in a CHESS Holding, ANZ Online may treat the receipt by it of a signed Transfer and Acceptance Form as a valid acceptance of this Offer even though it does not receive the other documents required by the instructions on the Transfer and Acceptance Form or there is not compliance with any one or more of the other requirements for acceptance. If ANZ Online does treat such a Transfer and Acceptance Form as valid, subject to clause 6, ANZ Online will not be obliged to give the consideration to you until ANZ Online receives all those documents and all of the requirements for acceptance referred to in clause 3.3 and in the Transfer and Acceptance Form have been met.

5. **DEFEATING CONDITIONS**

5.1 **Defeating Conditions of this Offer**

This Offer and the contract resulting from acceptance of this Offer are subject to the fulfilment of the following Defeating Conditions:

(a) Minimum acceptance condition

During, or at the end of, the Offer Period, the number of E*TRADE Shares in which ANZ Online and its associates together have relevant interests (disregarding any relevant interest that ANZ Online has merely because of the operation of section 608(3) of the Corporations Act) is at least 90% of all the E*TRADE Shares (even if that number later becomes less than 90% of all the E*TRADE Shares as a result of the issue of further E*TRADE Shares).

(b) No action by Public Authority adversely affecting ANZ s Offer

During the period from and including the Announcement Date to the end of the Offer Period:

(i) there is not in effect any preliminary or final decision, order or decree issued by a Public Authority;

(ii)	no action or investigation is instituted, or threatened by any Public Authority; and
(iii) Group),	no application is made to any Public Authority (other than an application by ANZ Online or any company within the ANZ
otherwise materially Online in respect of	or in connection with, the Offer, which restrains, prohibits or impedes, or threatens to restrain, prohibit or impede, or may adversely impact upon, the making of the Offer, the acquisition of E*TRADE Shares under the Offer or the rights of ANZ E*TRADE Australia and the E*TRADE Shares to be acquired under the Offer or otherwise, or seeks to require the Online (or ANZ) of any E*TRADE Shares, or the divestiture of any assets by a member of the E*TRADE Australia Group
(c)	E*TRADE Licence
Before the end of th	e Offer Period, E*TRADE Financial Corporation (formerly, E*TRADE Group Inc.):
(i)	does not exercise or give notice that it intends to exercise its right to terminate the E*TRADE Licence without cause; and
(ii) of its right to termin	provides to each of ETRADE Australia Securities Limited and E*TRADE Australia an enforceable and irrevocable waive tate the E*TRADE Licence without cause which is conditional only on:
(A) terminate the E*TR	each of ETRADE Australia Securities Limited and E*TRADE Australia providing a reciprocal waiver of their right to ADE Licence without cause (including subject to the condition referred to in sub-subparagraph (B) below); and
(B)	the Offer becoming unconditional.
(d)	No material adverse change
During the period fi	rom and including the Announcement Date to the end of the Offer Period:
(i)	there is no occurrence or matter, including (without limitation):
	any change in the status or terms of arrangements entered into with E*TRADE Australia or any of its subsidiaries or the y licences, authorities, consents, approvals, orders, waivers, relief, rulings and decisions which are applicable to E*TRADE its subsidiaries (whether or not wholly or partly attributable to the making of the Offer, and/or the acquisition of E*TRADE fer);
(B)	any liability for duty or tax;
16	

(C) any liability resulting from a change of control of E*TRADE Australia; and
(D) any change in the law (whether retrospective or not),
that is not apparent from information available to ANZ as at the Announcement Date and that (individually or together with others) has or could reasonably be expected to have a materially adverse effect on the assets, liabilities, financial or trading position, profitability or prospects of E*TRADE Australia and its subsidiaries taken as a whole; and
(ii) no occurrence or matter of the type referred to in clause 5.1(d)(i), which occurred before the Announcement Date but was not apparent from publicly available information before then, becomes public.
An occurrence or matter that has or could reasonably be expected to have the effect of reducing:
the consolidated net profit after tax of the $E*TRADE$ Australia Group on an on-going basis by more than \$2.0 million; or
(2) the consolidated net assets of the E*TRADE Australia Group by \$10 million or more,
is deemed to be an occurrence or matter of the type referred to in clause 5.1(d)(i).
(e) No material transactions, acquisitions or disposals
During the period from and including the Announcement Date to the end of the Offer Period, none of E*TRADE Australia, or any subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia:
(i) acquires, offers to acquire or agrees to acquire one or more companies or assets (or an interest in one or more companies or assets) for an amount in aggregate greater than \$8.0 million;
(ii) disposes, offers to dispose or agrees to dispose of one or more assets (or an interest in one or more assets) for an amount in aggregate greater than \$8.0 million;
(iii) enters into or offers to enter into any joint venture, asset or profit sharing, partnership, merger of businesses (including through a dual listed companies structure) or of corporate entities, involving a commitment or value of greater than \$4.0 million;
(iv) incurs, commits to or brings forward the time for incurring, or grants to another person a right the exercise of which would involve E*TRADE Australia or any subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia incurring or committing to, any capital expenditure or liability, or foregoes any revenue for one or more related items or amounts of greater than \$4.0 million;
17

(v) ordinary	gives or agrees to give any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other encumbrance or right over any of its assets, otherwise than in the course of business;
(vi)	declares, or distributes any dividend, bonus or other share of its profits or assets;
allowand remuner retireme	enters or agrees to enter into any contract of service for the appointment of, or varies or agrees to vary any existing contract of service y director, executive or manager (including any replacement chief executive officer), or pays or agrees to pay any retirement benefit or ce to any director, manager or other employee, or makes or agrees to make any substantial change in the basis or amount of ation of any director, manager or other employee (except as required by law or provided under any superannuation, provident or nt scheme as in effect on the Announcement Date). Nothing in this paragraph prevents E*TRADE Australia or any subsidiary of DE Australia from increasing the remuneration of its employees with effect from 1 July 2007 in the ordinary course of its business;
(viii)	conducts its business otherwise than in the ordinary course;
(ix) or an ap	has threatened or commenced against it any material claims or proceedings in any court or tribunal (including a petition for winding up plication for appointment of a receiver or receiver and manager); or
(x) 5.1(e)(i)	discloses (without having disclosed to ASX prior to the Announcement Date) the existence of any matter described in subparagraphs to (ix) above, or announces an intention or proposal to do anything described in subparagraphs 5.1(e)(i) to (ix).
(f)	No prescribed occurrences
(i) Australia	None of the following events happens during the period beginning on the date that this Bidder s Statement is given to E*TRADE a and ending at the end of the Offer Period:
(A)	E*TRADE Australia converts all or any of its shares into a larger or smaller number of shares;
(B)	E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia resolves to reduce its share capital in any way;
(C)	E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia:
(I)	enters into a buy-back agreement; or
(II)	resolves to approve the terms of a buy-back agreement under section 257C(1) or 257D(1) of the Corporations Act;

- (D) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia issues shares or grants an option over its shares, or agrees to make such an issue or grant such an option (other than an issue of shares by E*TRADE Australia made in accordance with an agreement entered into by E*TRADE Australia the details of which were announced to ASX before the Announcement Date);
- (E) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia issues, or agrees to issue, convertible notes;
- (F) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia disposes, or agrees to dispose, of the whole, or a substantial part, of its business or property;
- (G) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia charges, or agrees to charge, the whole, or a substantial part, of its business or property;
- (H) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia resolves to be wound up;
- (I) a liquidator or provisional liquidator of E*TRADE Australia or of a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia is appointed;
- (J) a court makes an order for the winding up of E*TRADE Australia or of a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia;
- (K) an administrator of E*TRADE Australia, or of a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia, is appointed under section 436A, 436B or 436C of the Corporations Act;
- (L) E*TRADE Australia or a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia executes a deed of company arrangement; or
- (M) a receiver, or a receiver and manager, is appointed in relation to the whole, or a substantial part, of the property of E*TRADE Australia or of a subsidiary of E*TRADE Australia.
- (ii) None of the events listed in sub-subparagraphs (A) to (M) of subparagraph 5.1(f)(i) happens during the period beginning on the Announcement Date and ending at the end of the day before the Bidder s Statement is given to E*TRADE Australia.
- (g) S&P/ASX 200 Industrials (Sector) Index

During the period from and including the Announcement Date to the end of the Offer Period, the S&P/ASX 200 Industrials (Sector) Index does not close below 5,855 on any three or more consecutive trading days.

5.2 Separate Defeating Conditions for benefit of ANZ Online

Each of the Defeating Conditions set out in each paragraph, subparagraph and sub-subparagraph of clause 5.1:

- (a) is and must be construed as a separate Defeating Condition; and
- (b) subject to the Corporations Act, operates only for the benefit of ANZ Online and any breach or non-fulfilment of such condition may be relied upon only by ANZ Online which may waive (generally or in respect of a particular event) the breach or non-fulfilment of that condition.

5.3 **Nature of Defeating Conditions**

None of the Defeating Conditions prevents a contract to sell your E*TRADE Shares resulting from your acceptance of this Offer but:

- (a) breach of any of the Defeating Conditions entitles ANZ Online to rescind that contract by notice to you; and
- (b) non fulfilment of any of the Defeating Conditions at the end of the Offer Period will have the consequences set out in clause 5.6.

5.4 Notice declaring Offer free of Defeating Conditions

Subject to the Corporations Act, ANZ Online may declare this Offer and any contract resulting from acceptance of this Offer free from any of the Defeating Conditions by giving written notice to E*TRADE Australia:

- (a) in the case of the Defeating Conditions in clause 5.1(f)(i), not later than three business days after the end of the Offer Period; and
- (b) in the case of all other Defeating Conditions, not less than seven days before the last day of the Offer Period.

5.5 Notice publication date

The date for giving the notice on the status of the Defeating Conditions is 10 April 2007 (subject to extension in accordance with the Corporations Act if the Offer Period is extended under the Corporations Act).

5.6 Contract void if Defeating Conditions not fulfilled

Your acceptance or the contract resulting from your acceptance of this Offer is void if:

- (a) at the end of the Offer Period any of the Defeating Conditions in clause 5.1 is not fulfilled; and
- (b) ANZ Online has not declared this Offer and any contract resulting from the acceptance of it free of that Defeating Condition in accordance with clause 5.4.

6. **PAYMENT OF CONSIDERATION**

6.1 When you will receive payment

Subject to this clause 6, if you accept this Offer ANZ Online will pay you the consideration for your E*TRADE Shares on or before the earlier of:

- (a) the day one month after you accept this Offer or, if this Offer is subject to a Defeating Condition when accepted, one month after the contract resulting from your acceptance becomes unconditional; and
- (b) the day 21 days after the end of the Offer Period.

6.2 Transfer and Acceptance Form requires additional documents

Where documents are required to be given to ANZ Online with your acceptance to enable ANZ Online to become the holder of your E*TRADE Shares (such as a power of attorney):

- (a) if the documents are given with your acceptance, ANZ Online will pay you in accordance with clause 6.1;
- (b) if the documents are given after your acceptance and before the end of the Offer Period while the Offer is subject to a Defeating Condition, ANZ Online will pay you the consideration by the end of whichever of the following periods ends first:
- (i) one month after the contract resulting from your acceptance becomes unconditional; and
- (ii) 21 days after the end of the Offer Period;
- (c) if the documents are given after your acceptance and before the end of the Offer Period while the Offer is no longer subject to a Defeating Condition, ANZ Online will pay you the consideration by the end of whichever of the following periods ends first:
- (i) one month after ANZ Online is given the documents; and
- (ii) 21 days after the end of the Offer Period; or
- (d) if the documents are given after the end of the Offer Period, ANZ Online will pay you the consideration within 21 days after the documents are given. However, if at the time ANZ Online is given the documents the contract resulting from acceptance of the Offer is still subject to a Defeating Condition in clause 5.1(f)(i), ANZ Online will pay you the consideration within 21 days after the contract becomes unconditional.

6.3 ANZ Online may set off share scheme debts

If you owe a debt to E*TRADE Australia, or any other person, under the terms of an employee or director incentive scheme, ANZ Online may satisfy its obligations under this Offer by paying as much of the consideration as is required to discharge that debt to

E*TRADE Australia (or the other person to whom it is owed) and paying you any remaining consideration.

6.4 **Delivery of consideration**

Subject to the Corporations Act, ANZ Online will send cheques for the cash payment due to you at your risk by pre-paid ordinary mail, or in the case of an address outside Australia by airmail, to the address shown in the Transfer and Acceptance Form.

6.5 Return of documents

If this Offer does not become unconditional or any contract arising from this Offer is rescinded by ANZ Online on the grounds of a breach of a condition of that contract, ANZ Online will return by post to you at the address shown on the Transfer and Acceptance Form any Transfer and Acceptance Form and any other documents sent with it by you.

6.6 **Rights**

If ANZ Online becomes entitled to any Rights as a result of your acceptance of this Offer, it may require you to give to ANZ Online all documents necessary to vest title to those Rights in ANZ Online. If you do not give those documents to ANZ Online, or if you have received or are entitled to receive (or any previous holder of your E*TRADE Shares has received or is entitled to receive) the benefit of those Rights, ANZ Online may deduct the amount (or value as reasonably assessed by ANZ Online) of such Rights from any consideration otherwise payable to you. If ANZ Online does not, or cannot, make such a deduction, you must pay that amount to ANZ Online.

6.7 Clearances for offshore residents and others

- (a) If at the time you accept the Offer or any consideration would otherwise become payable to you as a result of your acceptance of this Offer:
- (i) any authority or clearance of the Reserve Bank of Australia or the Australian Tax Office is required for you to receive any consideration under this Offer; or
- (ii) you are resident of a place to which, or you are a person to whom, any other law of Australia or elsewhere would make it unlawful for ANZ Online to provide consideration for your E*TRADE Shares,

then your acceptance of this Offer does not create or transfer to you any right to receive the consideration specified in this Offer unless and until you obtain all requisite authorities or clearances and your E*TRADE Shares are free from Encumbrances. (See clause 16.8 of this Bidder s Statement for information as to whether this restriction applies to you.)

(b)	If at the time you accept the Offer or any consideration would otherwise become payable to you as a result of your	
acceptance of this O	Offer, your E*TRADE Shares are subject to a notice of the kind described in paragraph (b) of the definition of Encum	ıbrance
(defined in clause 18	18), then the consideration to which you would	

otherwise be entitled will be dealt with as required by law, and payment of it to a person (including a Government Agency) in accordance with the law shall satisfy ANZ Online s obligations under this Offer.

6.8 Costs

ANZ Online will pay all costs and expenses of the preparation and circulation of the Offer payable on the transfer of any E*TRADE Shares to ANZ Online.

7. OFFEREES

7.1 Registered holders

ANZ Online is making an offer in the form of this Offer to each holder of E*TRADE Shares registered in the register of members of E*TRADE Australia at the Register Date.

7.2 Transferees

This Offer extends to any person who is able during the Offer Period to give good title to a parcel of your E*TRADE Shares. That person may accept as if an Offer on terms identical to this Offer had been made to them for those E*TRADE Shares.

7.3 Trustees and nominees

If during the Offer Period and before you accept this Offer your E*TRADE Shares consist of two or more separate parcels within the meaning of section 653B of the Corporations Act (for example, because you are a trustee or nominee for several distinct beneficial owners), section 653B of the Corporations Act will apply so that:

- (a) ANZ Online is taken to have made a separate Offer to you for each separate parcel of E*TRADE Shares; and
- (b) acceptance by you of the Offer for any distinct parcel of E*TRADE Shares is ineffective unless:
- (i) you give ANZ Online notice in accordance with clause 7.4 stating that your E*TRADE Shares consist of separate parcels; and
- (ii) your acceptance specifies the number of E*TRADE Shares in each separate parcel to which the acceptance relates.

7.4 Notices by Trustees and Nominees

The notice required under clause 7.3(b)(i):

- (a) if it relates to E*TRADE Shares not in a CHESS Holding, must be in writing; or
- (b) if it relates to E*TRADE Shares in a CHESS Holding, must be in an electronic form approved under the ASTC Settlement Rules for the purposes of Part 6.8 of the Corporations Act.

8. VARIATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF OFFER

8.1 Variation

ANZ Online may vary this Offer in accordance with the Corporations Act.

8.2 Withdrawal

ANZ Online may withdraw this Offer with the written consent of ASIC and subject to the conditions (if any) which apply to that consent.

9. **GOVERNING LAW**

This Offer and any contract resulting from acceptance of it is governed by the law in force in Victoria.

PART 5 INFORMATION ABOUT ANZ, ITS INTENTIONS CONCERNING E*TRADE AUSTRALIA AND ITS SOURCES OF CASH CONSIDERATION

10. **IDENTITY OF ANZ**

10.1 ANZ Online

ANZ Online is a wholly-owned subsidiary of ANZ. The directors of ANZ Online are:

(a) Brian Hartzer

Mr Brian Hartzer is Group Managing Director of ANZ s Personal Division, serving the bank s retail and small business customer base in Australia and the Pacific. Prior to this Mr Hartzer spent five years as Managing Director of ANZ s Consumer Finance business across Australia, New Zealand and Asia. He joined ANZ after 10 years with First Manhattan Consulting Group, a leading global strategic consulting firm to the financial services industry.

He is a Director of Metrobank Cards Corporation (Philippines) and the Visa International Asia Pacific Board, and Chairman of Save The Children Australia, the ANZ Staff Foundation and ANZ Diversity Council.

Mr Hartzer has a BA in European history and is also a Chartered Financial Analyst.

(b) Stephen Green

Mr Stephen Green is the General Manager Taxation at ANZ, a position that he has held since the early 1990s. In this role, Mr Green has overall responsibility for the tax affairs of ANZ.

Mr Green joined Price Waterhouse (now PricewaterhouseCoopers) in 1970 and worked in both their Melbourne and London offices. Mr Green joined ANZ in 1986.

In addition to being a Chartered Accountant, Mr Green is also a Fellow of the Taxation Institute of Australia and a Registered Tax Agent.

(c) David Valentine

Mr David Valentine is the Group General Manager Group Strategic Development at ANZ where he has had overall responsibility for ANZ s mergers and acquisitions department since 1997.

Prior to joining Grindlays Bank in 1972 Mr Valentine worked for the UK Government and Samuel Montagu & Co Limited.

Major appointments held at Grindlays and ANZ include: General Manager Grindlays Bank France; Managing Director Group Administration, Grindlays Bank London; General Manager Europe ANZ Bank; General Manager Private

Banking ANZ Bank; General Manager UK Treasury; Deputy Managing Director ANZ Grindlays Bank and General Manager UK ANZ Bank.

Mr Valentine holds a Bachelor of Arts (Oxon) in Philosophy, Politics and Economics and a Master of Science from the London Business School.

10.2 ANZ

ANZ is one of four major Australian-based banking groups, and is headquartered in Melbourne. As at 30 September 2006, ANZ was ranked third among Australian banking groups in terms of total assets (\$336 billion), shareholders equity (\$19.9 billion) and market capitalisation (\$49 billion).

ANZ conducts its operations primarily in Australia and New Zealand (approximately 94% of ANZ s total assets at 30 September 2006 were related to these operations). The remainder of ANZ s operations are conducted across the Asian and Pacific regions, and in a number of other countries including the United Kingdom and the United States. At 30 September 2006, ANZ had 1,265 branches and other points of representation worldwide and employed in excess of 32,000 people.

10.3 Where to find further information about ANZ

Further information about ANZ can be found at www.anz.com.

In addition, information on ANZ can be found on ASX s website at www.asx.com.au.

These websites do not form part of this Bidder s Statement.

11. **REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION**

ANZ is E*TRADE Australia s largest shareholder with a 34.2% shareholding accumulated as part of a strategic alliance formed between ANZ and E*TRADE Australia in 1999. ANZ believes that E*TRADE Australia would benefit from additional management and operational expertise and support to consolidate and build on its recent growth. ANZ can provide this. A closer relationship through an increased shareholding in E*TRADE Australia is the logical next step. The acquisition would further ANZ s strategy to be a leader in personal financial services in Australia including accelerating growth in convenient and simple wealth management and investment services.

12. ANZ SINTENTIONS

12.1 **Overview**

This clause 12 sets out ANZ s current intentions in respect of the businesses, assets and employees of E*TRADE Australia. These intentions are based on the facts and information concerning E*TRADE Australia which are known to ANZ at the date of this Bidder s Statement. ANZ s intentions may change as new information becomes available to ANZ or circumstances change.

ANZ Online s intentions are identical to the intentions of ANZ as set out in this clause.

12.2 Compulsory acquisition

If ANZ Online becomes entitled to compulsorily acquire outstanding E*TRADE Shares under Part 6A of the Corporations Act, ANZ Online presently intends to proceed with compulsory acquisition of those E*TRADE Shares. ANZ Online then intends to procure that E*TRADE Australia is removed from the official list of the ASX.

12.3 Intentions for E*TRADE Australia as a wholly-owned subsidiary

The intentions of ANZ if E*TRADE Australia becomes a wholly-owned subsidiary of ANZ are set out in this clause 12.3.

ANZ intends to grow and enhance E*TRADE Australia s business as part of ANZ s broader personal wealth management and investments strategy. Accordingly, ANZ intends to operate E*TRADE Australia as a discrete business stream within ANZ s Personal Division. ANZ intends that E*TRADE Australia will be headquartered in Sydney, at least in the medium term.

At the end of the Offer Period, ANZ will conduct a review of E*TRADE Australia s assets, operations and strategy in light of the more detailed information then available to it, and will formulate more detailed plans at this time. ANZ expects its review will focus on the risks and returns of each of E*TRADE Australia s business streams and, in particular:

- (a) opportunities to offer an expanded product range to new and existing customers of E*TRADE Australia;
- (b) opportunities to enhance customer service levels, including through improving the infrastructure underlying E*TRADE Australia s information technology platform; and
- (c) the most appropriate means of providing ANZ support for some E*TRADE Australia central functions such as human resources, finance, compliance and risk.

With the benefit of its planned internal review of E*TRADE Australia, ANZ will consider the best allocation of E*TRADE Australia and ANZ employees to continuing and new roles. Given ANZ s intention to enhance the product and service offering to E*TRADE Australia clients, ANZ expects opportunities will be presented for both E*TRADE Australia and ANZ staff.

ANZ expects that there will be few, if any, redundancies of E*TRADE Australia s staff. To the extent that redundancies occur and alternative roles cannot be found within ANZ s wider operations, ANZ intends to ensure that the affected employees will receive benefits in accordance with their contractual and other legal entitlements.

12.4 Intentions for E*TRADE Australia if it is controlled by ANZ

This clause 12.4 sets out ANZ s intentions if, following the close of ANZ s Offer, E*TRADE Australia becomes a controlled entity, but not a wholly-owned subsidiary, of ANZ. In these circumstances, ANZ presently intends to:

(a) nominees is at least	replace members of the board of directors of E*TRADE Australia with nominees of ANZ, so that the number of ANZ s proportionate to ANZ Group s holding of E*TRADE Shares;		
(b) ASX;	if appropriate and consistent with the ASX listing rules, consider seeking the delisting of E*TRADE Australia from the		
(c) E*TRADE Australi	through its nominees on the board of directors of E*TRADE Australia, consider an appropriate dividend policy for a; and		
(d)	otherwise seek to implement, to the extent possible and appropriate, the intentions described in clause 12.3 above.		
The extent to which	ANZ will be able to implement these intentions will be subject to:		
•	the law and the ASX listing rules, in particular in relation to related party transactions and conflicts of interests;		
• the legal obligations of the directors of E*TRADE Australia to act for proper purposes and in the best interests of E*TRADE Australia shareholders as a whole; and			
•	the outcome of the strategic review referred to in clause 12.3 above.		
Any transactions between members of the ANZ Group and the E*TRADE Australia Group required to effect those steps will be entered into on arm s length terms. ANZ will seek any necessary approval of other E*TRADE Australia shareholders, as required by law or the ASX listing rules, to implement these steps.			
If ANZ becomes entitled at some later time to exercise general compulsory acquisition rights under the Corporations Act, it may exercise those rights.			
12.5	Other intentions		
Subject to the above it is the present intention of ANZ, on the basis of the facts and information concerning E*TRADE Australia which are known to it and the existing circumstances affecting the business of E*TRADE Australia, that:			
(a) conducted;	the business of E*TRADE Australia will otherwise be continued in substantially the same manner as it is presently being		
(b) of the fixed assets o	no other major changes will be made to the business of $E*TRADE$ Australia and there will not be any other redeployment f $E*TRADE$ Australia; and		
(c)	the present employees of E*TRADE Australia will otherwise continue to be employed by E*TRADE Australia.		

13. SOURCES OF CASH CONSIDERATION

The total amount that ANZ Online would be required to pay for E*TRADE Shares if ANZ Online acquires all of the E*TRADE Shares in which it (or its associates) do not already have a relevant interest is \$268 million.

ANZ Online will fund the cash consideration payable to E*TRADE Australia shareholders using cash provided to it by a member or members of the ANZ Group. ANZ has unconditionally and irrevocably agreed with ANZ Online to ensure that sufficient funds are provided to ANZ Online to enable ANZ Online to meet its payment obligations under the Offer. These funds will be sourced by ANZ from immediately available cash resources of ANZ. ANZ s immediately available cash resources are in excess of the amount required to fully fund the maximum amount of cash consideration that ANZ Online could be required to pay for E*TRADE Shares under the Offer.

PART 6 AUSTRALIAN TAX CONSIDERATIONS

14. TAXATION CONSIDERATIONS

14.1 Australian tax implications for E*TRADE Australia shareholders

The following is a general description of the Australian income and capital gains tax consequences for E*TRADE Australia shareholders (other than temporary residents) on disposing of their E*TRADE Shares, in return for cash.

It is based upon taxation law and practice in effect at the date of this Bidder s Statement. It is not intended to be an authoritative or complete analysis of the taxation laws of Australia, as they apply to the specific circumstances of any particular shareholder.

You are advised to seek independent professional advice regarding the Australian tax consequences of disposing of your E*TRADE Shares according to your own particular circumstances.

14.2 Shareholders who are Australian residents

(a) Disposal of shares held as trading stock

If you hold your E*TRADE Shares as trading stock (e.g. as a share trader), you will be required to include the value of the consideration from the disposal of your E*TRADE Shares (i.e. the cash received) in your assessable income.

(b) Disposal of shares otherwise held on revenue account

If you hold your E*TRADE Shares in the ordinary course of a business, or as part of another profit-making arrangement, such that the shares are held on revenue account but not as trading stock (e.g. banks, insurance companies and some investment companies), you will be required to treat any gain or loss arising on the disposal of your E*TRADE Shares as either assessable income or an allowable deduction.

The gain or loss will be calculated as the difference between:

- (i) the value of the consideration (the cash received); and
- (ii) the cost of acquiring your E*TRADE Shares (or other appropriate value where the shares are trading stock).

A deductible loss may be used to offset other assessable income, including net capital gains, derived in the same or subsequent years of income (subject to satisfying certain conditions) but cannot be carried back to offset assessable income, including net capital gains, derived in earlier income years.

(c) Disposal of shares held as capital investments

The disposal of E*TRADE Shares which were acquired or deemed to have been acquired on or after 20 September 1985 and which are held as capital investments, will generally have Australian capital gains tax (**CGT**) implications. The disposal of such E*TRADE Shares pursuant to acceptance of the Offer will constitute a CGT event for CGT purposes.

The CGT implications of a disposal of your E*TRADE Shares will depend upon a number of factors, including:

- the date your E*TRADE Shares were acquired;
- your taxpayer status; and
- the length of time you have held your E*TRADE Shares.
- (i) Shares acquired before 11:45am on 21 September 1999

If your E*TRADE Shares were acquired on or after 20 September 1985 a capital gain or loss will arise depending on the difference between:

- the value of the capital proceeds (the cash received); and
- the cost base of the E*TRADE Shares (which would generally include the amount paid to acquire the shares plus any incidental costs of acquisition, e.g. brokerage fees).

If your E*TRADE Shares were acquired before 11:45am by legal time in the Australian Capital Territory (**ACT time**) on 21 September 1999, for the purpose of calculating a capital gain (but not a capital loss), you may choose that the cost base of those shares be indexed for inflation to the September quarter of 1999 (which would only be of any practical effect if the shares were acquired before 1 July 1999).

Alternatively, provided you have held your E*TRADE Shares for at least one year, and do not choose to apply indexation, the discount capital gain provisions may apply. This means that:

- if you are an individual, only one-half of the capital gain (without any allowance for indexation for inflation in the cost base of the shares) will be taxable;
- if you are a complying superannuation entity, only two-thirds of the capital gain (without any allowance for indexation for inflation in the cost base of the shares) will be taxable; or
- if you are the trustee of a trust, the discount capital gains provisions may also apply to a distribution of the capital gain to beneficiaries in the trust (other than beneficiaries that are companies).

Note that the discount capital gain provisions do not apply to shareholders and trust beneficiaries that are companies.

The choice to apply indexation rather than the discount capital gain provisions must be made by you on or before the day you lodge your income tax return for the income year in which the disposal occurs.

A capital loss may be used to offset capital gains derived in the same or subsequent years of income (subject to satisfying certain conditions) but cannot be offset against ordinary income, nor carried back to offset net capital gains arising in earlier income years.

If you choose to use the discount capital gain method, any available capital loss will be applied to reduce the realised nominal gain before discounting the resulting net amount (to the extent that it does not exceed the discount capital gain) by either one-half or one-third (as applicable) to calculate the assessable capital gain. Alternatively, if you choose the indexation option, capital losses are applied after calculating the capital gain using the indexed cost base.

(ii) Shares acquired after 11:45am on 21 September 1999

If you acquired your E*TRADE Shares after 11:45 am (ACT time) on 21 September 1999 you will not be entitled to choose indexation of the cost base when calculating any capital gain on disposal.

If you are an individual, trust or complying superannuation entity that has held your E*TRADE Shares for 12 months or longer at the time the Offer is accepted, the discount capital gain provisions described above will automatically apply in calculating any capital gain on disposal.

As explained above, any available capital loss will be applied to reduce the realised nominal gain before discounting the resulting net amount (to the extent that it does not exceed the discount capital gain) by either one-half or one-third (as applicable) to calculate the assessable capital gain.

If your E*TRADE Shares have been held for less than 12 months or you are in another category of shareholder (for example, a company), the discount capital gain method is not available. A capital gain on the shares, being any excess of the value of the capital proceeds over the unindexed cost base of the shares, will be assessable in full.

(iii) Shares acquired before 20 September 1985

There should be no CGT implications arising on disposal of your E*TRADE Shares, where they were held as capital investments and acquired, or deemed to have been acquired, before 20 September 1985 and are not deemed to have been acquired on or after that date.

14.3 Shareholders who are not Australian residents

(a) Disposal of shares held as trading stock or otherwise on revenue account

Non residents who hold their E*TRADE Shares as trading stock, or otherwise on revenue account, should seek their own professional advice, as the Australian taxation treatment may depend on the source of any gain and whether a double tax agreement exists between their country of residence and Australia.

(b) Disposal of shares held as capital investments

If you are a non-resident of Australia and hold your E*TRADE Shares as capital investments you will only have a taxable capital gain or capital loss in Australia if you have used your E*TRADE Shares at any time in carrying on business through an Australian permanent establishment.

If you are a resident of a country with which Australia has a double tax agreement, you should seek your own professional advice as to the impact of the agreement on any Australian tax liability.

14.4 Shareholders who are participants in employee share or option plans

The Australian tax implications for participants in E*TRADE Australia s employee share plans may be different from those for other holders of E*TRADE Shares. Each participant in such a plan should seek specific tax advice in relation to the Offer.

14.5 **GST**

No GST should generally be payable in respect of the transfer of E*TRADE Shares.

There may be an indirect GST cost in relation to taxable supplies related to the Offer (for example legal and other adviser fees paid to obtain advice on whether to accept the Offer).

PART 7 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

15. INFORMATION ON SECURITIES IN E*TRADE AUSTRALIA

15.1 Capital structure of E*TRADE Australia

According to documents lodged by E*TRADE Australia with ASX as at the date this Bidder s Statement is lodged with ASIC, the total number of securities in E*TRADE Australia is 100.451,929 E*TRADE Shares.

15.2 ANZ Online relevant interest in E*TRADE Australia securities

The number of securities in which ANZ Online had a relevant interest, as at the dates specified, is shown below:

	At date of this Bidder s		
	Statement		At date first Offer is sent
E*TRADE Shares	34,392,645	*	34,392,645*

^{*} This includes a relevant interest in 42,000 E*TRADE Shares which are held by ANZ Executors & Trustee Company Limited, a subsidiary of ANZ, as a co-trustee of an estate. Neither ANZ nor any subsidiary of it is a beneficiary of the estate.

15.3 ANZ Online s voting power in E*TRADE Australia

ANZ Online s voting power in E*TRADE Australia, as at the dates specified, is shown below:

	At date of this Bidder s		
	Statement		At date first Offer is sent
Voting power in E*TRADE Australia	34,392,645	*	34,392,645*

^{*} This includes a relevant interest in 42,000 E*TRADE Shares which are held by ANZ Executors & Trustee Company Limited, a subsidiary of ANZ, as a co-trustee of an estate. Neither ANZ nor any subsidiary of it is a beneficiary of the estate.

15.4 Acquisition by ANZ Online of E*TRADE Shares during previous 4 months

Neither ANZ Online nor any associate of ANZ Online has provided, or agreed to provide, consideration for an E*TRADE Australia Share under a purchase or agreement during the four months before the date of this Bidder s Statement or in the period commencing on the date of this Bidder s Statement and ending on the date of the Offer.

15.5 Inducing benefits given by ANZ Online during previous 4 months

Neither ANZ Online nor any associate of ANZ Online, gave, or offered to give or agreed to give, during four months before the date of this Bidder s Statement or in the period

commencing on the date of this Bidder s Statement and ending on the date of the Offer a benefit to another person that is not available under ANZ s Offer and was likely to induce the other person, or an associate of the other person, to:

- (a) accept an Offer; or
- (b) dispose of E*TRADE Shares.

16. **OTHER MATERIAL INFORMATION**

16.1 **Defeating Conditions**

The conditions of the Offer are set out in clause 5.1. Further information on some of these conditions is set out below.

(a) Minimum acceptance condition

The Offer is subject to a 90% minimum acceptance condition (see paragraph (a) of clause 5.1). ANZ Online will not waive this condition unless it considers that it is in ANZ s best interests to do so at the relevant time.

(b) No adverse regulatory action

The Offer is subject to certain regulatory action not being taken (see paragraph (b) of clause 5.1).

ANZ Online is not presently aware of any particular regulatory action which has triggered or may trigger the condition in clause 5.1(b).

(c) E*TRADE Licence

Under the E*TRADE Licence, both E*TRADE Australia and E*TRADE Financial Corporation have the right to terminate the E*TRADE Licence, without cause, on three months notice and payment of a termination fee of US\$5 million. Given ANZ s intention to continue E*TRADE Australia s business in Australia under that name, the Offer is subject to E*TRADE Financial Corporation not exercising, and waiving, its right to terminate the E*TRADE Licence without cause (see paragraph (c) of clause 5.1).

(d) No material acquisitions, disposals or changes

The Offer is subject to there being no material acquisitions, disposals or changes in the conduct of E*TRADE Australia s business (see paragraphs (d) and (e) of clause 5.1). Any such acquisitions, disposals or new commitments by E*TRADE Australia or any of its subsidiaries would potentially frustrate the Offer and deny E*TRADE Australia shareholders the opportunity to participate in the benefits accruing to them under the Offer.

E*TRADE Australia is in the best position to advise its shareholders whether or not this condition and other conditions regarding changes in the business of E*TRADE Australia (see paragraphs (d), (e) and (f) of clause 5.1) will be satisfied.

(e) Stock market decline

The Offer is subject to the S&P/ASX 200 Industrials (Sector) Index not closing below 5,855 on any three or more consecutive trading days during the period to the end of the Offer period (see paragraph (g) of clause 5.1). On the day before the date of this Bidder s Statement the S&P/ASX 200 Industrials (Sector) Index closed at 6,499. The lowest level at which that Index has closed in the 12 months preceding the date of this Bidder s Statement is 5,122 on 10 August 2006.

16.2 **Due Diligence on E*TRADE Australia**

For the purpose of confirming its assessment of whether or not to offer to acquire all of the E*TRADE Shares, ANZ was given access by E*TRADE Australia to certain information concerning the E*TRADE Australia Group which has not been disclosed generally to E*TRADE Australia shareholders. Except as disclosed in this Bidder s Statement, none of the information to which ANZ was given access is, in the opinion of ANZ Online:

- (a) of such a nature and quality that, if the information was generally available, a reasonable person would expect it to have a material effect on the price or value of E*TRADE Shares; or
- (b) otherwise material to a decision by an E*TRADE Australia shareholder whether or not to accept the Offer.

16.3 **Bid Facilitation Agreement**

ANZ entered into a Bid Facilitation Agreement with E*TRADE Australia dated 19 February 2007.

(a) ANZ Bid

Under the Bid Facilitation Agreement, ANZ agreed to make, or procure that a wholly-owned subsidiary made, a takeover bid to E*TRADE Australia shareholders on certain agreed terms (the **Bid**).

The agreement sets out the conditions of the Bid, being those set out in clause 5 of this Bidder s Statement.

(b) **Bid Conditions**

Under the Bid Facilitation Agreement, E*TRADE Australia has agreed not to do (or omit to do) anything which will, or is likely to, result in any of the conditions of the Bid being breached. Nothing in this obligation prevents E*TRADE Australia or the E*TRADE Australia board of directors from taking, or failing to take, action where to do otherwise would, in the reasonable opinion of the E*TRADE Australia board, constitute a breach of duties of the directors of E*TRADE Australia.

(c) No solicitation

Under the Bid Facilitation Agreement, E*TRADE Australia has agreed that it must not and must ensure that its employees, officers and (to the extent it is reasonably

able to influence them) its associates do not, and E*TRADE Australia must not require or request any adviser or agent, to directly or indirectly solicit or initiate any inquiries, proposals or discussions regarding any Competing Proposal (whether from a person with whom E*TRADE Australia has previously been in discussions or not).

A Competing Proposal is any proposal (including a scheme of arrangement) or offer that would if completed substantially in accordance with its terms, result in:

- (i) any person other than ANZ acquiring:
- (A) control of E*TRADE Australia;
- (B) an interest in all or a material part of the assets or business of E*TRADE Australia;
- (C) a relevant interest in more than 10% of the voting shares in E*TRADE Australia; or
- (ii) E*TRADE Australia and another person forming a joint venture with respect to E*TRADE Australia s business (or a material part of it), or merging their businesses, or operating under a dual listed company, or similar structure.

Under the Bid Facilitation Agreement, E*TRADE Australia agreed to cease any existing discussions or negotiations with any third party relating to any Competing Proposal or any transaction that may reduce the likelihood of the success of the Bid.

E*TRADE Australia also agreed to immediately notify ANZ of any genuine and realistic approach or attempt to initiate discussions or negotiations regarding a Competing Proposal. The notice must include the identity of the relevant third party and details of the Competing Proposal.

To the extent it is entitled to do so, E*TRADE Australia has agreed to immediately require the return of all confidential information provided to third parties (other than ANZ) as part of any past solicitation of Competing Proposals.

These obligations cease where ANZ (or a subsidiary of ANZ) fails to make the Bid, ANZ (or a subsidiary of ANZ) withdraws the Bid after the Bid is made, or the Bid closes.

16.4 Announcement of ANZ s Offer

In accordance with the Bid Facilitation Agreement, by an announcement to the ASX on 19 February 2007, ANZ announced its intention to make a cash takeover offer for E*TRADE Australia of \$4.05 per E*TRADE Share for the 65.8% of E*TRADE Australia s issued capital that ANZ does not own. On the same date, E*TRADE Australia also announced to ASX that it had reached an agreement with ANZ on a cash offer of \$4.05 per share for the 65.8% of E*TRADE Australia s issued capital that ANZ does not own. The E*TRADE Australia announcement said that:

- a committee of independent directors comprising Kerry Roxburgh, Jim Dominguez, Ian Hunter and Brett Spork was established to consider ANZ s Offer and unanimously recommend that E*TRADE Australia shareholders accept the offer in the absence of a superior proposal and subject to an independent expert concluding that the offer is fair and reasonable; and
- the independent directors will accept the offer for their own E*TRADE Australia shareholdings subject to the above.

16.5 **ASX/ACH Consents**

Both the ANZ Group and the E*TRADE Australia Group include members who are ASX market participants and participants of the ACH clearing facility. Under ASX Market Rules, a company admitted as an ASX market participant must not become a related body corporate of another such participant without the consent of ASX. Likewise, under the ACH Clearing Rules, a company admitted as a participant of the ACH clearing facility must not become a related body corporate of another such participant without the consent of ACH.

ASX and ACH have given the necessary consents under ASX Market Rules and ACH Clearing Rules.

16.6 **Publicly available information**

E*TRADE Australia is listed on ASX and is subject to the periodic and continuous disclosure requirements of the Corporations Act and the ASX listing rules. For information about the financial position and affairs of E*TRADE Australia, E*TRADE Australia shareholders are referred to the announcements that have been made to ASX in relation to E*TRADE Australia. E*TRADE Australia s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2006 was given to ASX on 29 September 2006 and sent to E*TRADE Australia shareholders on or about 13 October 2006. E*TRADE Australia s results for the half-year ended 31 December 2006 were announced to ASX on 26 February 2007 by E*TRADE Australia.

The announcements made to ASX in relation to E*TRADE Australia since 30 June 2006 to the day before the date of this Bidder s Statement are listed in the table below:

Date given to ASX Description/title of announcement

3 July 2006	Completion of acquisition of HSBC Stockbroking
20 July 2006	Signs Outsourcing Stockbroking Agreement with St George
8 August 2006	FY06 Earnings Update
16 August 2006	Appendix 3B - Exercise of staff options
21 August 2006	Preliminary Final Report
21 August 2006	Results Announcement for the Year Ended 30 June 2006
21 August 2006	Year ended 30 June 2006 Analyst Slides

23 August 2006	Appendix 3B - New Issue Announcement
25 August 2006	Appendix 3B - New Issue Announcement
21 September 2006	Change of Director s Interest Notice
29 September 2006	2006 Annual Report
13 October 2006	2006 Annual Report
13 October 2006	Notice of 2006 Annual General Meeting and proxy form
25 October 2006	Finalisation of ATO Audit
16 November 2006	AGM Chairman & CEO addresses
16 November 2006	Results of the Annual General Meeting
21 November 2006	Change in substantial holding (Caledonia Investments Pty Ltd and associates)
12 December 2006	Share Issue to CEO (and related Appendix 3B and Change of Director s Interest Notice)
11 January 2007	Unaudited EBITDA & HSBC Integration Update
15 January 2007	CEO Contract (announcement to the effect that the option to extend Mr Spork s employment contract as Chief Executive Officer beyond 30 June 2007 would not be exercised)
25 January 2007	Ceasing to be a substantial holder (Goldman Sachs JBWere Group Holdings and certain associated entities)
25 January 2007	Ceasing to be a substantial holder (Goldman Sachs Inc. and subsidiaries)
19 February 2007	Recommended cash takeover for E*TRADE Australia from ANZ (announcement by ANZ)
19 February 2007	ANZ Recommended Cash Offer for E*TRADE Australia (announcement by E*TRADE Australia)
21 February 2007	Change in substantial holding (Caledonia Investments Pty Ltd and associates)
26 February 2007	Half Yearly Report/Half Yearly Accounts
26 February 2007	Half year results announcement

Copies of these announcements are available from ASX at www.asx.com.au. Neither ASX s website nor the information contained in or accessible from it forms part of this Bidder s Statement.

16.7 **Employee share plans**

E*TRADE Australia operates or has operated a number of employee share schemes involving the provision of E*TRADE Shares to its employees. ANZ Online understands

that the rules of these schemes may restrict participants from accepting the Offer for E*TRADE Shares which were acquired under the scheme. E*TRADE Australia is in the best position to advise participants in its employee shares schemes whether they will be able to accept the Offer in respect of E*TRADE Shares which are subject to these schemes. ANZ Online expects that E*TRADE Australia will provide participants with additional information in relation to these matters in its target statement in response to the Takeover Bid or other documentation. These participants should refer to these materials before deciding how to deal with their E*TRADE Shares.

16.8 Approvals for payment of consideration

ANZ Online is not aware of any E*TRADE Australia shareholder who requires any approval referred to in clause 6.7 in order to be entitled to receive any consideration under the Offer.

(a) Banking (Foreign Exchange) Regulations 1959 (Cth)

The *Banking (Foreign Exchange) Regulations* 1959 (Cth) may impose restrictions on certain financial transactions and require the consent of the Reserve Bank of Australia for the movement of funds into and out of Australia. Based on ANZ Online s searches as at the date of this Bidder s Statement, restrictions currently apply if funds are to be paid to, or received from:

- (i) supporters of the former government of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia;
- (ii) ministers and senior officials of the Government of Zimbabwe; and
- (iii) certain entities associated with the Democratic People s Republic of Korea (North Korea).

(b) Other Commonwealth legislation

The Charter of the United Nations (Terrorism and Dealing with Assets) Act 2002 (Cth) (UN Charter Act) prohibits, among other things, the provision of funds, other financial assets or economic resources to persons referred to in regulations made under the UN Charter Act. These persons include the Taliban, Osama bin Laden (also known as Usama bin Laden), a member of the Al-Qaida organisation (also known as the Al-Qaeda organisation), and any person named on the list maintained pursuant to paragraph 2 of Resolution 1390 of the Security Council of the United Nations.

The Charter of the United Nations (Sanctions Iraq) Regulations 2006 (formerly called the Iraq (Reconstruction and Repeal of Sanctions) Regulations 2003) (Cth) apply in respect of the following persons:

- (i) members of the previous government of Iraq;
- (ii) senior officials of the previous government of Iraq and their immediate families; and

(iii) any entity owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by one of the parties in (i) or (ii) above, or by any person acting at the direction of one of those parties.

Restrictions also exist relating to certain persons or entities associated with the Cote d Ivoire, the Democratic People s Republic of Korea, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Iran, Liberia and Sudan.

Transactions with assets of such persons (including, if relevant, E*TRADE Shares) require Ministerial approval.

16.9 **No other material information**

Except as set out in this Bidder s Statement, there is no information material to the making of a decision by an offeree whether or not to accept the Offer, being information that is known to ANZ Online and has not previously been disclosed to the holders of E*TRADE Shares.

17. **OTHER MATTERS**

17.1 Consents

This Bidder s Statement contains statements made by, or statements said to be based on statements made by, ANZ. ANZ has consented to the inclusion of such statements in the form and context in which they appear and has not withdrawn that consent as at the date of this Bidder s Statement.

This Bidder s Statement also includes or is accompanied by statements which are made in or based on statements made in documents lodged with ASIC or on the company announcement platform of ASX. Under the terms of ASIC class order 01/1543, the parties making those statements are not required to consent to, and have not consented to, the inclusion of those statements in this Bidder s Statement. If you would like to receive a copy of any of these documents please contact ANZ s Offer Information line on 1300 301 126 (within Australia) or +61 2 9936 1977 (outside Australia) between 9:00am and 5:00pm (Melbourne time), Monday to Friday, and you will be sent copies free of charge.

17.2 Modifications to and exemptions from the Corporations Act

ANZ Online has not obtained from ASIC any modifications to, or exemptions from, the Corporations Act in relation to the Offers. However, ASIC has published various instruments providing for modifications and exemptions that apply generally to all persons, including ANZ Online.

PART 8 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

18. **DEFINITIONS**

The following definitions apply in interpreting this Bidder s Statement and the Transfer and Acceptance Form, except where the context makes it clear that a definition is not intended to apply:

ACCC means the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission.

ACH means Australian Clearing House Pty Ltd ABN 48 001 314 503.

Announcement Date means 19 February 2007.

ANZ means Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited (ABN 11 005 357 522).

ANZ Group means ANZ and its subsidiaries.

ANZ Online means ANZ Online Holdings Pty Limited (ACN 124 093 625).

ASIC means the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.

ASTC means the ASX Settlement and Transfer Corporation Pty Limited.

ASTC Settlement Rules means the operating rules of the settlement facility provided by ASTC.

ASX means ASX Limited.

Bidder s Statement means this document, being the statement made by ANZ Online under Part 6.5 Division 2 of the Corporations Act relating to the Takeover Bid.

CHESS means the Clearing House Electronic Subregister System operated by ASTC, which provides for the electronic transfer, settlement and registration of securities.

CHESS Holding means a holding of shares on the CHESS Subregister of E*TRADE Australia.

CHESS Subregister has the meaning set out in the ASTC Settlement Rules.

Controlling Participant has the meaning set out in the ASTC Settlement Rules.

Corporations Act means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Defeating Condition means each condition set out in clause 5.1 of this Bidder s Statement.

Encumbrance means:

- (a) a mortgage, charge, pledge, lien, hypothecation or a title retention arrangement;
- (b) a notice under section 255 of the *Income Tax Assessment Act 1936* (Cth), subdivision 260-A in schedule 1 to the *Taxation Administration Act 1953* (Cth) or any similar legislation;
- (c) any other interest in or right over property (including a right to set off or withhold payment of a deposit or other money);
- (d) any other thing that prevents, restricts or delays the exercise of a right over property, the use of property or the registration of an interest in or dealing with property; and
- (e) an agreement to create anything referred to above or to allow any of them to exist.

E*TRADE Australia means ETRADE Australia Limited (ABN 12 003 042 082).

E*TRADE Australia Group means E*TRADE Australia and its subsidiaries.

E*TRADE Independent Directors means the following directors of E*TRADE Australia: Kerry Roxburgh, Jim Dominguez, Ian Hunter and Brett Spork.

E*TRADE Licence means the Services and License Agreement dated 1 January 2002 between E*TRADE Financial Corporation (formerly E*TRADE Group Inc.), ETRADE Australia Securities Limited and ETRADE Australia Limited.

E*TRADE Shares means fully paid ordinary shares in E*TRADE Australia.

Foreign Law means a law of a jurisdiction other than an Australian jurisdiction.

Issuer Sponsored Holding has the meaning given in the ASTC Settlement Rules.

GST has the same meaning as in A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999 (Cth).

Offer means the offer as set out in Part 4 of this Bidder s Statement (or, if the context so requires, Part 4 of this Bidder s Statement itself) and includes a reference to that offer as varied in accordance with the Corporations Act.

Offer Period means the period referred to in clause 2 of this Bidder s Statement.

Offers or ANZ s Offer means the off-market takeover bid constituted by the Offer and each of the other offers made in the same terms for E*TRADE Shares and includes a reference to those offers as varied in accordance with the Corporations Act.

Public Authority means any government or any governmental, semi-governmental, administrative, statutory or judicial entity, authority or agency, whether in Australia or elsewhere, including the ACCC (but excluding the Takeovers Panel, ASIC and any court that hears or determines proceedings under section 657G or proceedings commenced by a

person specified in section 659B(1) of the Corporations Act in relation to ANZ s Offer). It also includes any self-regulatory organisation established under statute or any stock exchange.

Register Date means 7:00p.m. Melbourne time on 6 March 2007, being the date set by ANZ Online under section 633(2) of the Corporations Act.

Rights means all accretions and rights attaching to E*TRADE Shares after the Announcement Date (including all rights to receive dividends and other distributions declared or paid and to receive or subscribe for shares, notes or options issued by E*TRADE Australia).

Takeover Bid means the takeover bid constituted by the Offers.

Takeover Transferee Holdings means the CHESS Holding to which E*TRADE Shares are to be transferred after acceptance of the Offer.

Transfer and Acceptance Form means the form with that title that accompanies this Bidder s Statement.

VWAP means volume weighted average price.

your E*TRADE Shares means, subject to clause 7, the E*TRADE Shares:

- (a) of which you are registered or entitled to be registered as the holder in the register of members of E*TRADE Australia at the Register Date; and
- (b) any other E*TRADE Shares, to which you are able to give good title at the time you accept this Offer.

19. **INTERPRETATION**

- (a) Words and phrases which are defined by the Corporations Act have the same meaning in this Bidder s Statement and the Transfer and Acceptance Form and, if a special meaning is given for the purposes of Chapter 6 or 6A or a provision of Chapter 6 or 6A of the Corporations Act, have that special meaning.
- (b) Headings are for convenience only, and do not affect interpretation.
- (c) The following rules also apply in interpreting this Bidder s Statement and the Transfer and Acceptance Form, except where the context makes it clear that a rule is not intended to apply:
- (i) a singular word includes the plural, and vice versa;
- (ii) a word which suggests a gender includes the other genders;
- (iii) if a word is defined, another part of speech has a corresponding meaning;

- (iv) unless otherwise stated references in this Bidder s Statement to Parts, clauses, paragraphs and sub-paragraphs are to Parts, clauses, paragraphs and sub-paragraphs of this Bidder s Statement;
- (v) a reference to a person includes a body corporate; and
- (vi) a reference to \$ is to the lawful currency in Australia.

DATED 2 March 2007

A copy of this Bidder s Statement that is to be lodged with ASIC has been approved by a resolution passed by the directors of ANZ Online.

SIGNED on behalf of ANZ Online Holdings Pty Limited

/s/ BRIAN HARTZER Director

[inside back cover]

CORPORATE DIRECTORY

Registered Offices of ANZ and ANZ Online

Level 6 100 Queen Street Melbourne Vic 3000

Financial Adviser

Carnegie, Wylie & Company Pty Limited Level 33 101 Collins Street Melbourne Vic 3000 Legal Adviser

Blake Dawson Waldron Level 39 101 Collins Street Melbourne Vic 3000

ANZ s Offer Information Line

From within Australia: 1300 301 126
From outside Australia: +612 9936 1977
(As required by the Corporations Act, all calls will

be recorded, indexed and stored)

CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 (Cth) SECTION 633(1), ITEMS 7,8 and 9

NOTICE THAT TAKEOVER OFFERS

HAVE BEEN SENT TO SHAREHOLDERS

To: ETRADE Australia Limited Australian Securities and Investments Commission ASX Limited

TAKE NOTICE that the bidder s statement given to ETRADE Australia Limited (**E*TRADE**) by ANZ Online Holdings Pty Limited (**ANZ Online**) on 2 March 2007, containing an offer by ANZ Online for all of the ordinary shares in E*TRADE, has today been sent as required by item 6 of section 633(1) of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth), together with the additional information required by ASIC class order 01/1543. The offer is dated 14 March 2007.

A copy of the bidder s statement containing the offer as so sent is attached to this notice.

DATED 14 March 2007

Director ANZ Online Holdings Pty Limited (ACN 124 093 625)

Corporate Communications

100 Queen Street

Melbourne Vic 3000

www.anz.com

For Release: 15 March 2007

Senior Management Changes at ANZ

ANZ today announced changes to the management of its specialist businesses and functions, principally in the Institutional Division, Private Banking and General Counsel.

- Michael Saadie has been appointed Managing Director, Asia reporting to Steve Targett, Group Managing Director Institutional. Since 2005 Michael has held the role of Managing Director, ANZ Private Bank, one of ANZ s fastest growing businesses.
- Mark Ellis has been appointed Managing Director, ANZ Private Bank reporting to Bob Edgar, Senior Managing Director. Mark was previously Managing Director, Europe and Americas and will continue the development of Private and Expatriate Banking as a global line of business.
- Tim L Estrange has been appointed Managing Director, Europe and America based in London, also reporting to Mr Targett. Tim was previously Group General Counsel and Company Secretary, having joined ANZ in 2003 from Allens Arthur Robinson where he was National Executive Partner. An announcement regarding Mr L Estrange s replacement will be made at a later date.
- David Hornery will be returning to Australia after two years in the role of Managing Director, Asia. David helped develop ANZ s 12 country network in Asia as a strategic growth business and his return to Australia is for reasons associated with his young family. ANZ will announce a new role for David separately.

Commenting on the changes, Mr Targett said: These changes provide new development opportunities for senior colleagues and continue movement between the corporate, personal and specialist functions with the Group.

The appointments are effective immediately.

For media enquiries contact:

Paul Edwards

Head of Corporate Communications

Tel: 03-92736955 or 0409-655 550

Email: paul.edwards@anz.com

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited ABN 11 005 357 522

Company Secretary s Office Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited Level 6, 100 Queen Street Melbourne VIC 3000 Phone 61 3 9273 6141 Fax 61 3 9273 6142 www.anz.com

16 March 2007

Company Announcements Australian Stock Exchange Level 10 20 Bond Street Sydney NSW 2000

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited Changes to ANZ s Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) and Bonus Option Plan (BOP), and Changes to ANZ s Shareholder Privilege Package

Enclosed are the following documents:

- copies of letters being sent to shareholders outlining changes to the terms and conditions of ANZ s DRP and BOP, one to shareholders in the USA/Canada and one to all other shareholders;
- the amended terms and conditions of ANZ s DRP and BOP; and
- a copy of a letter being sent to shareholders advising of changes to ANZ s Shareholder Privilege Package and an attached frequently asked questions leaflet.

The changes to the terms and conditions of the DRP and BOP will take effect following expiry of a one month notice period, and therefore will apply to the upcoming 2007 interim dividend.

The changes to the Shareholder Privilege Package will be effective from 30 March 2007.

Yours faithfully

John Priestley

Company Secretary

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited

15 04/03

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited ABN 11 005 357 522

100 Queen Street Melbourne Victoria 3000 Australia

> GPO Box 537 Melbourne Victoria 3001 Australia

> > Web www.anz.com

Letter to shareholders (excluding USA/Canada)

Dear Shareholder

16 March 2007

Changes to ANZ s Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) and Bonus Option Plan (BOP)

As you are aware, ANZ provides eligible shareholders the opportunity to obtain additional ANZ shares by participating in ANZ s Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) and ANZ s Bonus Option Plan (BOP). I am writing to notify you that a number of changes are being made to these Plans.

These changes will take effect following expiry of the required one month notice period in accordance with the current terms and conditions of the Plans, and therefore will apply to the upcoming 2007 interim dividend.

If you currently participate in the DRP or BOP, your existing participation election will continue to apply.

If you would like to commence participating in the DRP or BOP, or would like to vary your current participation election, please complete and return the enclosed Election Form to ANZ s Share Registrar in the postage paid envelope provided. If you wish this new instruction to be effective for the 2007 interim dividend, you must ensure the completed Election Form is returned by 5.00pm (Melbourne time) on 18 May 2007, the record date for the 2007 interim dividend.

Please note that if you have more than one registered holding you will receive a separate letter and Election Form in respect of each holding. If you wish to change your current participation election in respect of more than one holding, it will be necessary for you to complete a separate new Election Form in respect of each holding.

The major changes to the DRP and BOP are described below:

(a) Removal of the maximum participation cap

Previously, eligible shareholders could choose to participate in the DRP or BOP up to a maximum of 50,000 shares. References to this 50,000 share cap have been removed from the DRP and BOP terms and conditions.

Accordingly, shareholders may now elect to participate in the DRP or BOP for up to their total shareholding.

If you hold more than 50,000 shares and your current election is to participate in the DRP or BOP for all of your shareholding or for more than 50,000 shares, you will automatically be treated as participating for all the shares referred to in your current election following removal of the cap. You must complete and return the enclosed Election Form if you wish to participate for less than your current election.

The modified terms and conditions provide the Board with discretion to impose a limit on participation, from time to time. If the Board should decide in the future to re-introduce a limit, shareholders will be notified in accordance with the new terms and conditions.

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited ABN 11 005 357 522 $\,$

(b) DRP Shares can be newly issued or transferred

Under the modified DRP terms and conditions, ANZ now has discretion to either issue new shares or to purchase existing shares when satisfying its obligations to provide shares under the DRP. This provides ANZ with flexibility in managing its issued capital.

Shares provided under the BOP will continue to be newly issued shares.

(c) Acquisition Price and discount on Acquisition Price

The share price used to calculate the number of shares a participant in the DRP or BOP receives (the Acquisition Price) has been amended. The terms and conditions now provide that the share price used will be the arithmetic average of the daily volume weighted average sale price of ANZ shares sold in the ordinary course of trading on ASX during the pricing period. The arithmetic average is rounded to the nearest whole cent. The pricing period is the period of 7 trading days commencing on the second trading day following the record date for the relevant dividend. The Board has discretion to shorten or lengthen this period.

Another new feature that has been introduced into the DRP and BOP is the ability for the Board to apply a discount to the Acquisition Price. This means that shareholders participating in the DRP or BOP may, if the Board decides, be provided with a number of shares which is calculated based on a price less than the prevailing market price determined during the pricing period. The Board has determined that no discount applies at this time.

(d) Notice of modification, suspension or termination

The DRP and BOP terms and conditions have been amended to permit a notice of modification, suspension or termination of the DRP or BOP to be made by giving a notice to ASX and on ANZ s website www.anz.com. Alternatively, ANZ may send a notice directly to shareholders. The effective date of the notice will be the date it is given or any other date provided for in the terms and conditions or referred to in the notice. Previously, at least one month s prior notice to all shareholders was required.

(e) Ineligible shareholders

The DRP and BOP terms and conditions continue to give the Board discretion to determine that a shareholder may be ineligible to participate in the DRP or BOP due to the place of residence of that shareholder and legal requirements applicable to dividend reinvestment or bonus option plans in certain countries.

The new terms and conditions expressly confirm that participation is not currently available directly or indirectly to any entity or person, including any legal or beneficial owner of shares, who is (or who is acting on behalf of or for the account or benefit of an entity or person who is) in or resident in the United States of America, its possessions or territories, or Canada.

No Election Forms to participate are being solicited from any entity, person or resident in the United States of America, its possessions or territories, or Canada, and none will be accepted if executed by any such entity, person or resident.

If shares are held in a broker s clearing account or by a trustee or nominee, the legal owner (i.e. the broker, trustee or nominee) is responsible for ensuring that they are not participating in the DRP or BOP on behalf of or for the account or benefit of an entity or person who is in or resident in the United States of America, its possessions or territories, or Canada. The enclosed Election Form should be completed if you are a broker, trustee or nominee and, after taking into account these requirements, it is necessary to vary the level or extent of your participation on behalf of beneficiaries.

For full details of all the changes being made to the DRP and BOP, please refer to the amended DRP terms and conditions and the amended BOP terms and conditions which are available under Dividend Information in the Shareholder Services section of our website at www.anz.com/shareholders. Details of your current participation level in either of the Plans can also be accessed from our website under View your ANZ Shares at www.anz.com/shareholders.

If you have any questions in relation to either of the Plans, or you would like a copy of the amended terms and conditions to be sent to you, please contact ANZ s Share Registrar on 1800 11 33 99 (Australia), 0800 174 007 (New Zealand) or (61 3) 9415 4010 (any other country).

Yours faithfully

Tim L Estrange

Company Secretary

100 Queen Street Melbourne Victoria 3000 Australia

> GPO Box 537 Melbourne Victoria 3001 Australia

> > Web www.anz.com

Letter to shareholders in USA/Canada

Dear Shareholder

16 March 2007

Changes to ANZ s Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) and Bonus Option Plan (BOP)

I am writing to notify you that a number of changes are being made to ANZ s Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) and ANZ s Bonus Option Plan (BOP).

These changes will take effect following expiry of the required one month notice period in accordance with the current terms and conditions of the Plans, and therefore will apply to the upcoming 2007 interim dividend.

Letters detailing the changes being made to the DRP and BOP are being distributed to all shareholders, including to shareholders in or resident in the United States of America, its possessions or territories, or Canada, in order to comply with the current terms and conditions of the DRP and BOP and relevant Australian legal requirements.

However, it is important to note that participation in the DRP and BOP is not available to any entity or person who is (or who is acting on behalf of or for the account or benefit of an entity or person who is) in or resident in the United States of America, its possessions or territories, or Canada. This letter is not an offer or solicitation of an offer to participate in either the DRP or BOP, and the DRP and BOP are not being offered and will not be offered, directly or indirectly in or into the United States of America, its possessions or territories, or Canada.

Accordingly, copies of the DRP and BOP documentation and any related materials are not being, and must not be, sent or otherwise distributed in or into or from the United States of America, its possessions or territories, or Canada. Any purported participation in the DRP and /or BOP resulting directly or indirectly from a violation of these restrictions will be invalid. No application forms to participate are being solicited from any entity or person or resident in the United States of America, its possessions or territories, or Canada and will not be accepted if executed by any such entity, person or resident.

The major changes to the DRP and BOP are described below, and full details of all the changes are located on our website www.anz.com:

(a) Removal of the maximum participation cap

Previously, eligible shareholders could choose to participate in the DRP or BOP up to a maximum of 50,000 shares. References to this 50,000 share cap have been removed from the DRP and BOP terms and conditions.

Accordingly, eligible shareholders may now elect to participate in the DRP or BOP for up to their total shareholding without any limitation.

The modified terms and conditions provide the Board with discretion to impose a limit on participation, from time to time. If the Board should decide in the future to re-introduce a limit, shareholders will be notified in accordance with the new terms and conditions.

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited ABN 11 005 357 522

(b) DRP Shares can be newly issued or transferred

Under the modified DRP terms and conditions, ANZ now has discretion to either issue new shares or to purchase existing shares when satisfying its obligations to provide shares under the DRP. This provides ANZ with flexibility in managing its issued capital.

Shares provided under the BOP will continue to be newly issued shares.

(c) Acquisition Price and discount on Acquisition Price

The share price used to calculate the number of shares a participant in the DRP or BOP receives (the Acquisition Price) has been amended. The DRP and BOP terms and conditions now provide that the share price used will be the arithmetic average of the daily volume weighted average sale price of ANZ shares sold in the ordinary course of trading on ASX during the pricing period. The arithmetic average is rounded to the nearest whole cent. The pricing period is the period of 7 trading days commencing on the second trading day following the record date for the relevant dividend. The Board has discretion to shorten or lengthen this period.

Another new feature that has been introduced into the DRP and BOP is the ability for the Board to apply a discount to the Acquisition Price. This means that eligible shareholders participating in the DRP or BOP may, if the Board decides, be provided with a number of shares which is calculated based on a price less than the prevailing market price determined during the pricing period. The Board has determined that no discount applies at this time.

(d) Notice of modification, suspension or termination

The DRP and BOP terms and conditions have been amended to permit a notice of modification, suspension or termination of the DRP or BOP to be made by giving a notice to ASX and on ANZ s website www.anz.com. Alternatively, ANZ may send a notice directly to shareholders. The effective date of the notice will be the date it is given or any other date provided for in the terms and conditions or referred to in the notice. Previously, at least one month s prior notice to all shareholders was required.

(e) Ineligible shareholders

The DRP and BOP terms and conditions continue to give the Board discretion to determine that a shareholder may be ineligible to participate in the DRP or BOP due to the place of residence of that shareholder and legal requirements applicable to dividend reinvestment or bonus option plans in certain countries.

The new terms and conditions expressly confirm that participation is not currently available directly or indirectly to any entity or person, including any legal or beneficial owner of shares, who is (or who is acting on behalf of or for the account or benefit of an entity or person who is) in or resident in the United States of America, its possessions or territories, or Canada.

,	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Yours faithfully		
Tim L Estrange		
Company Secretary		

100 Queen Street Melbourne Victoria 3000 Australia

> GPO Box 537 Melbourne Victoria 3001 Australia

> > Web www.anz.com

16 March 2007

Dear Shareholder

Changes to ANZ s Shareholder Privilege Package

As you may be aware, ANZ has provided a Shareholder Privilege Package that includes discounts for eligible shareholders on a small number of ANZ s products and services.

During a recent review of the package, we found that a very low number of our shareholders are using these product offers. Given the small take up of the package, it has been decided to end the Shareholder Privilege Package in its current form, effective 30 March 2007.

For shareholders who are currently using the package, benefits on facilities in place as at 30 March 2007 will continue until further notice, with the exception of bank cheques, and travellers cheques.

Discounts on bank cheques and travellers cheques will now only be available to eligible shareholders who hold a transaction or savings account with ANZ as at 30 March 2007. To obtain these discounts, you will need to retain your 2006 Shareholder card and present it to branch staff. Please see the frequently asked questions leaflet accompanying this letter for further details.

These shareholder benefits will continue to apply while you hold more than 300 ANZ shares, until further notice from ANZ.

We believe that continuing to focus on providing superior financial returns through profit and dividend growth is the best way for us to reward you for your investment in ANZ. In the last year, ANZ s total shareholder return was 17.1% including a fully franked dividend of 125 cents.

Our network of banking and finance specialists are available to discuss with you our competitive and relevant banking solutions best suited to your needs.

If you have any questions, please call 1800 269 008 between the hours of 8.30am 7.00pm AEST or, for more information, visit the shareholder section of our website at www.anz.com.

Thank you for your continued support.

Yours faithfully

Tim L Estrange

Company Secretary

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited ABN 11 005 357 522 $\,$

Information about the removal of the Shareholder Privilege Package
AUSTRALIA
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited (ANZ) ABN 11 005 357 522. ANZ s colour blue is a trade mark of ANZ.
www.anz.com

1. WHY IS THE SHAREHOLDER PRIVILEGE PACKAGE BEING DISCONTINUED?

The package is costly to maintain, with only a small number of eligible ANZ shareholders using the package. Our research demonstrated that most shareholders no longer consider the benefits offered to be relevant to their particular financial needs. Providing superior financial performance through profit and dividend growth is the best way for us to reward shareholders for their investment in ANZ.

2. WHO WILL BE IMPACTED BY THE CHANGE?

There is no change for shareholders who are not currently using the package.

For shareholders who are currently using the package, benefits on facilities in place as at 30 March 2007 will continue until further notice, with the exception of bank cheques and travellers cheques. Discounts on bank cheques and travellers cheques will now only be available to eligible shareholders who hold a transaction or savings account with ANZ as at 30 March 2007. To obtain the discounts on bank cheques and travellers cheques, you will need to retain your 2006 Shareholder card and present it to branch staff.

These shareholder benefits will continue to apply while you hold more than 300 ANZ shares, until further notice from ANZ.

3. WILL IT BE REPLACED WITH ANOTHER PACKAGE?

We are not planning to introduce another package, however, as opportunities arise, we may provide our shareholders with relevant and competitive product offers.

4. HOW LONG WILL EXISTING BENEFITS BE HONOURED?

Benefits on facilities in place as at 30 March 2007 will continue until further notice. Existing discounts cannot be transferred to any other facility, and ANZ reserves the right to change or withdraw any discounts currently in place on existing products at any time.

5. HOW DO ELIGIBLE SHAREHOLDERS CONTINUE USING THE SHAREHOLDER PRIVILEGE PACKAGE?

In the past, shareholders had to visit an ANZ branch each year to renew their benefits. From 30 March 2007, existing users will not need to take any action to continue receiving existing discounts, with the exception of bank cheques and travellers cheques.

Existing discounts will automatically apply as long as you hold more than 300 ANZ shares, until further notice from ANZ. For bank cheques and travellers cheques, you will need to hold a transaction or savings account with ANZ as at 30 March 2007, and present your 2006 Shareholder Card to obtain a discount, until further notice from ANZ.

6. WHY ARE SOME OFFERS TO THE PUBLIC BETTER THAN THE SHAREHOLDER PRIVILEGE PACKAGE?

ANZ customer offerings are generally based on convenience, not price, and special deals promoted to the public are offered for a short period of time for commercial reasons. The short term nature of these promotions may enable us to offer a better deal than under the ongoing Shareholder Privilege Package. In addition, offers to the public are often targeted to meet a specific need as compared to the offers under the Shareholder Privilege Package, which are not targeted and are generally available to all shareholders with greater than 300 shares.

We recognise that all shareholders have differing needs that cannot be met by one package and welcome the opportunity to provide a financial solution to meet each shareholder s personal needs.

7. WHY HAS ANZ DECIDED TO END THE SHAREHOLDER PRIVILEGE PACK WHEN SOME OTHER BANKS ARE CONTINUING TO OFFER A PACKAGE?

Most large companies in Australia choose not to offer an ongoing shareholder scheme as often only a small number of shareholders may benefit at the expense of the broader shareholder group. Our aim is to reward our shareholders with a strong return on investment through share price growth and improving dividends. Our banking and finance specialists are in a position to offer shareholders competitive banking solutions and welcome the opportunity to provide a full assessment of shareholders banking needs. In many cases, the end solution may be more competitive than the discontinued Shareholder Privilege Package.

8. WHO CAN SHAREHOLDERS CALL WITH QUESTIONS?

Shareholders can phone 1800 269 008 between the hours of 8.30am-7.00pm AEST with any questions or refer to the shareholder section on our website www.anz.com.

Bonus Option Plan & Dividend Reinvestment Pla
Terms and Conditions Effective April 200

Bonus Option Plan Terms and Conditions

1. Participation in the BOP

1.1 Participation by Shareholders

Participation by Shareholders in the BOP is optional, non transferable and subject to these Terms and Conditions.

The degree of a Shareholder s participation may, subject to the restrictions and procedures provided for in these Terms and Conditions, be varied or terminated by the Shareholder or the Company at any time.

1.2 Shareholders not eligible to participate

A Shareholder who is subject to the laws of a country or place other than Australia may not be eligible to participate in the BOP because of legal requirements that apply in that country or place or in Australia. Allotment of Shares to Shareholders who are not resident in Australia at the time of allotment will be subject to all necessary government approvals. It is the responsibility of each Shareholder to obtain any such approvals. Before electing to participate in the BOP, Shareholders who are not resident in Australia should seek professional advice to ascertain if any restrictions apply.

The Board may determine at any time that the right to participate in the BOP shall not be available to a Shareholder whose registered address in a country or place where, in the absence of a registration statement or other formality, the offer of a right to so participate would or might be unlawful.

Until the Board otherwise determines, participation in the BOP is not available directly or indirectly to any entity or person, including any legal or beneficial owner of Shares, who is (or who is acting on behalf of or for the account or benefit of an entity or person who is) in or resident in the United States of America, its possessions or territories, or Canada. Copies of BOP documents shall not be mailed or otherwise distributed or sent into the United States of America, its possessions or territories, or Canada.

2. Application to participate

Application to participate in the BOP is to be made on the Election Form. Upon receipt by the Share Registrar of the Election Form correctly completed, a Shareholder will, subject to rule 12.1, participate commencing on the next Record Date in respect of an Eligible Dividend.

If a Shareholder is shown on the Share Registry as holding more than one parcel of Shares and has been allocated a separate, unique holder identification number or security reference number for each of those parcels:

- (a) a separate Election Form is required for each of those parcels; and
- (b) these Terms and Conditions apply as if each of those parcels were registered in the name of a separate Shareholder.

3. Degree and limits of participation

3.1 Degree of participation

Participation in the BOP may be either full or partial for:

- (a) all of the Shares registered in the name of the Shareholder on a relevant Record Date, or
- (b) the number of Shares registered in the name of the Shareholder specified in an Election Form.

An Election Form which does not specify the degree of participation shall be deemed to be a request for full participation in the BOP of all Shares registered in the name of the Shareholder.

An Election Form which specifies a number of Shares which is greater than a Shareholder s total holding on a relevant Record Date, shall be deemed to be a request for full participation in the BOP of all Shares registered in the name of the Shareholder for the purposes of the Eligible Dividend relating to that Record Date.

Shares issued under the BOP will be added to those already participating in the BOP and these will automatically forego future dividends and generate further bonus shares until the Shareholder notifies the Share Registrar otherwise.

3.2 Limit on BOP participation

The Board may determine from time to time that not more than a specified number or percentage of Shares registered in a

Shareholder s name may participate in the BOP. If the Board does so, the Company must notify Shareholders accordingly. Once notified, each BOP Participant s participation will be subject to that maximum and, if any BOP Participant s participating Shares exceeds the maximum determined by the Board, the number of Shares participating will be that maximum number determined by the Board.

If:

- (a) the Board determines to impose a limit on the number or percentage of a Shareholder s Shares that may participate in the BOP; and
- (b) Shares are held in a broker s clearing account (as defined in the Listing Rules) or by a trustee or nominee,

the broker, trustee or nominee will be permitted to participate up to such limit in respect of each person whose Shares are held that way, subject to the restrictions and procedures provided for in these Terms and Conditions.

4. Operation of the BOP

4.1 Application of dividend

The amount of each Eligible Dividend otherwise payable to a BOP Participant (but for participation in the BOP) on the BOP Participant s BOP Shares will be foregone by the BOP Participant. However, the Board shall issue and allot to the BOP Participant the number of Shares determined under rule 4.4.

4.2 Bound by Constitution

By applying to participate in the BOP a Shareholder agrees to be bound by the Constitution in respect of all Shares allotted to the Shareholder under the BOP.

4.3 BOP Account

The Company will establish and maintain a BOP Account for each BOP Participant. The Company will record in each BOP Participant s BOP Account number of BOP Shares held by the BOP Participant, from time to time, including any Shares allotted under rule 4.4.

4.4 Number of BOP Shares to be allotted

The number of Shares (N) which may be allotted to a BOP Participant in relation to an Eligible Dividend is the quotient (Q) determined in accordance with the following formula after rounding Q down to the nearest whole number:

 $Q = [(S \times D) + PB]$ divided by AP

Where:

s is the number of BOP Shares held by the BOP Participant in the BOP Participant s BOP Account on the Record Date in relation to the Eligible Dividend;

D is the amount in cents per Share of the Eligible Dividend that the BOP Participant has foregone in respect of the BOP Participant s BOP Shares;

PB is the amount expressed in cents (if any) determined in accordance with rule 4.5; and

AP is the Acquisition Price (expressed in cents) in relation to the Eligible Dividend.

4.5 Previous BOP balances

For the purpose of determining under rule 4.4 the number of Shares which may be allotted to a BOP Participant in respect of an Eligible Dividend (the **applicable Eligible Dividend**), if **N** as determined in accordance with rule 4.4 for a BOP Participant for the previous Eligible Dividend is in any case less than the quotient (**Q**) determined in accordance with the formula in rule 4.4 for that previous Eligible Dividend, then, **PB** in respect of the applicable Eligible Dividend shall be the amount in cents calculated in accordance with the following formula:

 $PB = (Q - N) \times AP$

Where:

PB is the amount in cents:

Q is the quotient as determined by applying the formula in rule 4.4 in relation to the previous Eligible Dividend (which for the avoidance of doubt is before rounding to the nearest whole number);

N is the whole number determined pursuant to rule 4.4 in relation to the previous Eligible Dividend; and

AP is the amount determined as AP pursuant to rule 4.4 in relation to the previous Eligible Dividend.

5. Shares Allotted under the BOP

Shares allotted under the BOP will be issued as bonus Shares and no consideration is payable for the issue of those Shares. The issued Shares will, from the date of allotment, rank equally in all respects with all other Shares in the Company, and will be allotted on, or as soon as practicable after, the payment date of the relevant Eligible Dividend.

An allotment of bonus Shares which BOP Participants become entitled to under the BOP shall be effected by the allotment and issue of such bonus Shares without any amount being credited to the Company s share capital account.

Shares allotted under the BOP will be registered on the Share Registry on which the BOP Participant s holding of BOP Shares is currently registered.

6. Costs to Shareholders

No brokerage, commission or other transaction costs will be payable by a Shareholder on Shares provided under the BOP and no stamp or other transaction duties will, under present law, be payable by a BOP Participant.

7. Plan Statements

The Company will send to each BOP Participant a BOP statement on or after the payment date of each Eligible Dividend providing full details of the BOP Participant stransactions in the BOP and the BOP Account.

8. Variation or Termination of Participation

Subject to rule 12.1, a BOP Participant may at any time give notice to the Company:

- (a) increasing or decreasing the number of the BOP Participant s Shares participating in the BOP; or
- (b) terminating the BOP Participant s participation in the BOP.

If a BOP Participant dies or becomes bankrupt, the participation of that BOP Participant and any other Shareholder with whom the deceased or bankrupt BOP Participant was a joint Shareholder will be terminated upon receipt by the Company of notice of the death or bankruptcy, as the case may be.

Upon termination of participation in the BOP by a Shareholder for any reason (other than termination by the Company), the Shareholder will not be entitled to receive from the Company payment of any money in respect of a BOP Account at the time when participation by the Shareholder in the BOP is terminated or the Shareholder ceases to participate in the BOP.

9. Reduction or Termination of Participation where no notice is given

Where a BOP Participant with partial participation in the BOP disposes of part of the BOP Participant s holding of Shares then, unless the BOP Participant advises the Company otherwise, the Shares disposed of will be deemed to be Shares not participating in the BOP. If the number of Shares disposed of is greater than the number of the BOP Participant s Shares not participating in the BOP, the Shares disposed of will be deducted from the BOP Participant s holding of Shares in the following order:

- (a) Shares not participating in either the DRP or BOP;
- (b) Shares participating in the DRP; and
- (c) BOP Shares.

10. Modification, suspension and termination of the BOP

The BOP may be modified, suspended or terminated by the Company at any time upon the Company giving notice to Shareholders. In the case of a modification, it will be deemed that each existing BOP Participant will continue to participate under the modified BOP on the basis of the last Election Form received by the Company in accordance with these Terms and Conditions unless the Company is notified to the contrary by the BOP Participant in an Election Form.

If the BOP is suspended or terminated by the Company, a BOP Participant will not be entitled to receive from the Company payment of any money in respect of a BOP Account at the time when participation by the BOP Participant in the BOP is suspended or terminated. If the BOP is suspended and subsequently reinstated, subject to rule 8 and unless otherwise determined by the Board, each Shareholder who was a BOP Participant before the suspension is taken to continue to participate in the BOP when it recommences with, subject to these Terms and Conditions, the same degree of participation as immediately before the suspension.

11. Securities Exchange Listing

The Company will promptly make application for Shares allotted under the BOP to be listed on the official list of ASX and the New Zealand Stock Exchange (as applicable).

12. Applications and Notices

12.1 Applications and notices to the Company

Applications and notices to the Company shall be in writing and in accordance with the Election Form. Applications and notices will be effective upon receipt by the Share Registrar in accordance with any directions in the Election Form subject to:

- (a) these Terms and Conditions;
- (b) in the case of applications to participate in the BOP made on an Election Form, acceptance by the Company;
- (c) in relation to any Eligible Dividend, receipt by not later than 5.00pm (Melbourne time) on the relevant Record Date; and
- (d) any other restrictions that the Board may determine from time to time.

The Company will not accept an Election Form from any entity or person who does not represent that they are not (and that they are not acting on behalf or for the account or benefit of an entity or person who is) in or resident in the United States of America, its possessions or territories, or Canada, or any other jurisdiction which the Board may determine in its absolute discretion.

12.2 Notices from the Company

Any notice to Shareholders or announcement to be made by the Company or the Board in relation to the BOP (including in relation to any modification, suspension or termination, any discount or any other matter provided for in these Terms and Conditions) may be made:

- (a) by notice to ASX for release to the market and on the Company s website; or
- (b) by notice to Shareholders in accordance with the provisions of the Constitution which provide for notices to Shareholders.

Any such notice or announcement will be effective from the date given, or any other date provided for in these Terms and Conditions or referred to in the notice or announcement.

13. Taxation

Given the complex nature of taxation and of other legislation, the variety of jurisdictions involved, and the diverse taxation and financial circumstances applying to Shareholders, the Company cannot take any responsibility for any advice expressed or implied in this document.

Shareholders should obtain their own professional advice in relation to the financial and taxation implications of any of the dividend alternatives offered.

This document does not contain the information which would be contained in a prospectus. It is limited to information concerning the operation of the BOP.

Neither the Company nor any of its directors, officers, employees, representatives or agents accept any responsibility or assume any liability for any taxation liabilities incurred by or imposed upon any Shareholder as a consequence of the Shareholder participating in the BOP.

14. General

- (a) The BOP and its operation and these Terms and Conditions shall be governed by the laws of the State of Victoria.
- (b) The accidental omission to give any notice (including any notice of modification, suspension or termination) to, or the non-receipt of any notice by, any Shareholder shall not invalidate the notice, or the effect of the notice, including the modification, suspension or termination of the BOP as the case may be.
- (c) Any determination, notification or calculation to be made or given by the Board or the Company may be made or given by the Board or the Company respectively in its absolute discretion and in the absence of manifest error is binding on each Shareholder who elects to participate in the BOP.
- (d) The Company reserves the right to waive strict compliance with any of the provisions of these Terms and Conditions.
- (e) The Company has the power to settle or resolve any difficulties, anomalies or disputes which arise in connection with, or because of, the operation of the BOP, in the manner it thinks expedient either generally or in

relation to a particular Shareholder or Share and the decision of the Company is binding on all Shareholders of the Company.

15. Interpretation

In these Terms and Conditions, the following definitions apply:

Acquisition Price in relation to an Eligible Dividend, means the arithmetic average of the daily volume weighted average sale price of all Shares sold on ASX in the ordinary course of trading on ASX during the Pricing Period less a discount (if any) determined by the Board from time to time and notified by the Company to Shareholders (with the arithmetic average, after deduction of any discount, rounded to the nearest whole cent but if the fraction is one half of a cent the amount is to be rounded down to the nearest whole cent). The Acquisition Price is to be calculated based on information obtained from ASX or its subsidiaries, and for this purpose the Company may determine at its discretion that a particular transaction is not to be included in the calculation because, in the Company s view, it is not within the ordinary course of trading on ASX.

ASX means ASX Limited (ABN 98 008 624 691) or the Australian Securities Exchange operated by it (as the context requires).

Board means the directors of the Company acting collectively under the Constitution or a committee or person to whom the directors of the Company have delegated a relevant power in accordance with the Constitution or the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth) (or both).

BOP means the Company s Bonus Option Plan the subject of these Terms and Conditions.

BOP Account means an account established and maintained under rule 4.3.

BOP Participant means a Shareholder who is not ineligible to participate as determined by rule 1.2 and:

- (a) whose Election Form has been received and accepted by the Company and is effective in accordance with rules 2 and 12; and
- (b) who has not ceased to participate by operation of rules 8, 9 or 10.

BOP Share means a Share that is taken to be participating in the BOP pursuant to rules 3.1 and 3.2.

Company means Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited (ABN 11 005 357 522).

Constitution means the constitution of the Company from time to time.

DRP means the Company s Dividend Reinvestment Plan.

Election Form means an application to participate in the BOP in the form prescribed or approved by the Company from time to time, which form may be combined with or be a part of any other form or notice and may be electronic if the Company permits.

Eligible Dividend means each cash dividend determined by the Board in respect of Shares and (at the discretion of the Board) includes any special dividends.

Listing Rules means the Listing Rules of ASX as they apply to the Company from time to time.

Pricing Period means, in relation to any Eligible Dividend, the period of 7 trading days (or such other number of trading days as the Board may determine from time to time) commencing on the second trading day immediately following the Record Date in relation to that Eligible Dividend (or such other day as the Board may determine).

Record Date means:

- (a) for the purpose of rule 12.1(c), the date for calculating entitlements to the relevant Eligible Dividend; and
- (b) in all other cases, 7.00 pm (Melbourne time) (or such other time as the Board determines) on the date for calculating entitlements to the relevant Eligible Dividend.

Share means a fully paid ordinary share in the Company.

Share Registrar means the person appointed as registrar of the Share Registry from time to time.

Share Registry means the Company s share register maintained by the Share Registrar.

Shareholder means a holder of a Share or Shares from time to time.

16. Trading Rules

For so long as the Company remains admitted to the official list of ASX, despite anything else contained in these Terms and Conditions:

- (a) if the Trading Rules prohibit an act being done by the Company, the act shall not be done;
- (b) nothing contained in these Terms and Conditions prohibits an act being done by the Company that the Trading Rules require to be done;
- (c) if the Trading Rules require an act to be done or not to be done, authority is given for that act to be done or not to be done (as the case may be);
- (d) if the Trading Rules require these Terms and Conditions to contain a provision and they do not contain that provision, these Terms and Conditions are taken to contain that provision;
- (e) if the Trading Rules require these Terms and Conditions not to contain a provision and they contain that provision, these Terms and Conditions are deemed not to contain that provision; and
- (f) if any of these Terms and Conditions are or become inconsistent with the Trading Rules, these Terms and Conditions are to be taken not to contain that provision to the extent of the inconsistency.

In this rule, Trading Rules mean:

- (a) the Listing Rules; and
- (b) the ASTC settlement rules (or operating rules of a clearing and settlement facility that is a prescribed CS facility under the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth)), as they apply to the Company from time to time.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

Terms and Conditions

1. Participation in the DRP

1.1 Participation by Shareholders

Participation by Shareholders in the DRP is optional, non transferable and subject to these Terms and Conditions.

The degree of a Shareholder s participation may, subject to the restrictions and procedures provided for in these Terms and Conditions, be varied or terminated by the Shareholder or the Company at any time.

1.2 Shareholders not eligible to participate

A Shareholder who is subject to the laws of a country or place other than Australia may not be eligible to participate in the DRP because of legal requirements that apply in that country or place or in Australia. Allotment or transfer of Shares to Shareholders who are not resident in Australia at the time of allotment or transfer will be subject to all necessary government approvals. It is the responsibility of each Shareholder to obtain any such approvals. Before electing to participate in the DRP, Shareholders who are not resident in Australia should seek professional advice to ascertain if any restrictions apply.

The Board may determine at any time that the right to participate in the DRP shall not be available to a Shareholder whose registered address is in a country or place where, in the absence of a registration statement or other formality, the offer of a right to so participate would or might be unlawful.

Until the Board otherwise determines, participation in the DRP is not available directly or indirectly to any entity or person, including any legal or beneficial owner of Shares, who is (or who is acting on behalf of or for the account or benefit of an entity or person who is) in or resident in the United States of America, its possessions or territories, or Canada. Copies of DRP documents shall not be mailed or otherwise distributed or sent into the United States of America, its possessions or territories, or Canada.

2. Application to participate

Application to participate in the DRP is to be made on the Election Form. Upon receipt by the Share Registrar of the Election Form correctly completed, a Shareholder will, subject to rule 12.1, participate commencing on the next Record Date in respect of an Eligible Dividend.

If a Shareholder is shown on the Share Registry as holding more than one parcel of Shares and has been allocated a separate unique holder identification number or security reference number for each of those parcels:

- (a) a separate Election Form is required for each of those parcels; and
- (b) these Terms and Conditions apply as if each of those parcels were registered in the name of a separate Shareholder.

3. Degree and limits on participation

3.1 Degree of Participation

Participation in the DRP may be either full or partial for:

- (a) all of the Shares registered in the name of the Shareholder on a relevant Record Date, or
- (b) the number of Shares registered in the name of the Shareholder specified in an Election Form.

An Election Form which does not specify the degree of participation shall be deemed to be a request for full participation in the DRP of all Shares registered in the name of the Shareholder.

An Election Form which specifies a number of Shares which is greater than the Shareholder s total holding on a relevant Record Date, shall be deemed to be a request for full participation in the DRP of all Shares registered in the name of the Shareholder for the purposes of the Eligible Dividend relating to that Record Date.

Shares issued or transferred under the DRP will be added to those already participating in the DRP and unless the Shareholder notifies the Share Registrar otherwise, dividends paid in respect of these Shares will be automatically reinvested under the DRP.

3.2 Limit on DRP participation

The Board may determine from time to time that not more than a specified number or percentage of Shares registered in a Shareholder s name may participate in the DRP. If the Board does so, the Company must notify Shareholders accordingly. Once notified, each DRP Participant s participation will be subject to that maximum and, if any DRP Participant s participating Shares exceeds the maximum determined by the Board, the number of Shares participating will be that maximum number determined by the Board.

If:

- (a) the Board determines to impose a limit on the number or percentage of a Shareholder s Shares that may participate in the DRP; and
- (b) Shares are held in a broker s clearing account (as defined in the Listing Rules) or by a trustee or nominee,

the broker, trustee or nominee will be permitted to participate up to such limit in respect of each person whose Shares are held that way, subject to the restrictions and procedures provided for in these Terms and Conditions.

4. Operation of the DRP

4.1 Application of dividend

The amount of each Eligible Dividend payable to a DRP Participant on DRP Shares (less Australian Withholding Tax if applicable) will be applied by the Company on the DRP Participant s behalf in subscription for, or to purchase, additional Shares. However, if an amount is payable on the DRP Shares and the Company is entitled to and does retain or otherwise deal with the amount in accordance with the Constitution or the requirements of any law, the amount shall not be available for the purposes of participating in the DRP.

4.2 Bound by Constitution

By applying to participate in the DRP a Shareholder agrees to be bound by the Constitution in respect of all Shares provided to the Shareholder under the DRP.

4.3 DRP Account

The Company will establish and maintain a DRP Account for each DRP Participant. For each Eligible Dividend payment on DRP Shares, the Company will for each DRP Participant:

- (a) determine any cash balance remaining from previous Eligible Dividend payments and held to the credit of the DRP Account of the DRP Participant;
- (b) determine the amount of the Eligible Dividend payable to the DRP Participant in respect of the DRP Participant s DRP Shares;
- (c) determine (where applicable) the Australian Withholding Tax in respect of the Eligible Dividend to be deducted therefrom;
- (d) credit the amount calculated under paragraph (b) and debit the applicable Australian Withholding Tax (if any) calculated under paragraph (c) to the DRP Account of the DRP Participant;
- (e) determine the maximum whole number of Shares to be issued or transferred to the DRP Participant in accordance with rule 4.5;
- on behalf of and in the name of the DRP Participant, subscribe for, or purchase, that number of additional Shares determined under paragraph (e) and debit the DRP Participant s DRP Account with the total of the Acquisition Price for each of those Shares;
- (g) allot, transfer or cause the transfer of that number of additional Shares determined under paragraph (e) to the DRP Participant on, or as soon as practicable after, the payment date of the Eligible Dividend; and
- (h) retain in the DRP Participant s DRP Account, without interest, any cash balance remaining after the DRP Account has been debited in accordance with paragraph (f), which cash balance shall be used in the calculations for determining the maximum number of Shares to be issued under the DRP at the time of payment of the next Eligible Dividend.

4.4 Shares may be newly issued or purchased

The Board may in its discretion determine whether Shares are to be subscribed for or purchased (on ASX or otherwise) or some combination of both, for the purpose of the Company satisfying its obligations under the DRP.

The Company may create a trust (of which Shareholders who have elected to participate in the DRP are the beneficiaries) to acquire those Shares and then transfer or cause the transfer of those Shares to DRP Participants.

4.5 Number of DRP Shares to be issued or transferred

Subject to the discretion of the Board, the number of Shares to be issued or transferred to each DRP Participant in relation to an Eligible Dividend is the quotient (\mathbf{Q}) determined in accordance with the following formula after rounding Q down to the nearest whole number:

Q = D divided by AP

Where:

D is the amount standing to the credit of the DRP Participant s DRP Account after the steps in paragraphs (b), (c) and (d) of rule 4.3 have been completed (inclusive of any cash balance standing to the credit of the DRP Participant s DRP Account before those steps were commenced (referred to in paragraph (a) of rule 4.3)); and

AP is the Acquisition Price in relation to the Eligible Dividend.

5. Shares allotted or transferred under the Plan

Shares allotted under the DRP will, from the date of allotment, rank equally in all respects with all other Shares in the Company.

Shares allotted or transferred under the DRP will be allotted or transferred on, or as soon as practicable after, the payment date of the relevant Eligible Dividend and will be registered on the Share Registry on which the DRP Participant sholding of DRP Shares is currently registered.

6. Cost to Shareholders

No brokerage, commission or other transaction costs will be payable by a Shareholder on Shares provided under the DRP and no stamp or other transaction duties will, under present law, be payable by a DRP Participant.

7. Plan Statements

The Company will send to each DRP Participant a DRP statement for each Eligible Dividend payment providing full details of the DRP Participant s transactions in the DRP and the DRP Account.

8. Variation or Termination of Participation

Subject to rule 12.1, a DRP Participant may at any time give notice to the Company:

- (a) increasing or decreasing the number of the DRP Participant s Shares participating in the DRP; or
- (b) terminating the DRP Participant s participation in the DRP.

If a DRP Participant dies or becomes bankrupt, the participation of that DRP Participant and any other Shareholder with whom the deceased or bankrupt DRP Participant was a joint Shareholder will be terminated upon receipt by the Company of notice of the death or bankruptcy, as the case may be.

Upon termination of participation in the DRP by a Shareholder for any reason (other than termination by the Company), the Shareholder will not be entitled to receive from the Company payment of any cash balance remaining in the Shareholder s DRP Account at the time when participation by the Shareholder in the DRP is terminated or the Shareholder ceases to participate in the DRP.

9. Reduction or Termination of Participation where no notice is given

Where a DRP Participant with partial participation in the DRP disposes of part of the DRP Participant sholding of Shares then, unless the DRP Participant advises the Company otherwise, the Shares disposed of will be deemed to be Shares not participating in either the DRP or the BOP. If the number of Shares disposed of is greater than the number of the DRP Participant s Shares not participating in either the DRP or the BOP, the Shares disposed of will be deducted from the DRP Participant s holding of Shares in the following order:

- (a) Shares not participating in either the DRP or BOP;
- (b) DRP Shares; and
- (c) Shares participating in the BOP.

10. Modification, suspension and termination of the DRP

The DRP may be modified, suspended or terminated by the Company at any time upon the Company giving notice to Shareholders. In the case of a modification, it will be deemed that each existing DRP Participant will continue to participate under the modified DRP on the basis of the last Election Form

received by the Company in accordance with these Terms and Conditions unless the Company is notified to the contrary by the DRP Participant in an Election Form.

If the DRP is suspended by the Company, any cash balance in a DRP Participant s DRP Account will be held by the Company pending the reinstatement of the DRP. If the DRP is suspended and subsequently reinstated, subject to rule 8 and unless otherwise determined by the Board, each Shareholder who was a DRP Participant before the suspension is taken to continue to participate in the DRP when it recommences with, subject to these Terms and Conditions, the same degree of participation as immediately before the suspension.

If the DRP is terminated by the Company, any cash balance in a Shareholder s DRP Account will be returned to the Shareholder.

11. Securities Exchange Listing

The Company will promptly make application for Shares allotted under the DRP to be listed for quotation on ASX and the New Zealand Stock Exchange (as applicable).

12. Applications and Notices

12.1 Applications and notices to the Company

Applications and notices to the Company shall be in writing and in accordance with the Election Form. Applications and notices will be effective upon receipt by the Share Registrar in accordance with any directions in the Election Form, subject to:

- (a) these Terms and Conditions;
- (b) in the case of applications to participate in the DRP made on an Election Form, acceptance by the Company;
- (c) in relation to any Eligible Dividend, receipt by not later than 5.00pm (Melbourne time) on the relevant Record Date; and
- (d) any other restrictions that the Board may determine from time to time.

The Company will not accept an Election Form from any entity or person who does not represent that they are not (and that they are not acting on behalf or for the account or benefit of an entity or person who is) in or resident in the United States of America,

its possessions or territories, or Canada, or any other jurisdiction which the Board may determine in its absolute discretion.

12.2 Notices from the Company

Any notice to Shareholders or announcement to be made by the Company or the Board in relation to the DRP (including in relation to any modification, suspension or termination, any discount or any other matter provided for in these Terms and Conditions) may be made:

- (a) by notice to ASX for release to the market and on the Company s website; or
- (b) by notice to Shareholders in accordance with the provisions of the Constitution which provide for notices to Shareholders.

Any such notice or announcement will be effective from the date given, or any other date provided for in these Terms and Conditions or referred to in the notice or announcement.

13. Taxation

Given the complex nature of taxation and of other legislation, the variety of jurisdictions involved, and the diverse taxation and financial circumstances applying to Shareholders, the Company cannot take any responsibility for any advice expressed or implied in this document.

Shareholders should obtain their own professional advice in relation to the financial and taxation implications of any of the dividend alternatives offered.

This document does not contain the information which would be contained in a prospectus. It is limited to information concerning the operation of the DRP.

However, existing provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 (Cth) (as amended) and the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 (Cth) (as amended) of the Commonwealth of Australia have the effect of subjecting dividends received in Shares under the DRP (and any related franking credits) to tax.

The cost for Australian tax purposes of each DRP Share provided to a DRP Participant under the DRP should include the Acquisition Price for that DRP Share.

Neither the Company nor any of its directors, officers, employees, representatives or agents accept any responsibility or assume any liability for any taxation liabilities incurred by

or imposed upon any Shareholder as a consequence of the Shareholder participating in the DRP.

14. General

- (a) The DRP and its operation and these Terms and Conditions shall be governed by the laws of the State of Victoria.
- (b) The accidental omission to give any notice (including any notice of modification, suspension or termination) to, or the non-receipt of any notice by, any Shareholder shall not invalidate the notice or the effect of the notice, including the modification, suspension or termination of the DRP as the case may be.
- (c) Any determination, notification or calculation to be made or given by the Board or the Company may be made or given by the Board or the Company respectively in its absolute discretion and in the absence of manifest error is binding on each Shareholder who elects to participate in the DRP.
- (d) The Company reserves the right to waive strict compliance with any of the provisions of these Terms and Conditions.
- (e) The Company has the power to settle or resolve any difficulties, anomalies or disputes which arise in connection with, or because of, the operation of the DRP, in the manner it thinks expedient either generally or in relation to a particular Shareholder or Share and the decision of the Company is binding on all Shareholders of the Company.

15. Interpretation

In these Terms and Conditions, the following definitions apply:

Acquisition Price in relation to an Eligible Dividend, means the arithmetic average of the daily volume weighted average sale price of all Shares sold on ASX in the ordinary course of trading on ASX during the Pricing Period less a discount (if any) determined by the Board from time to time and notified by the Company to Shareholders (with the arithmetic average, after deduction of any discount, rounded to the nearest whole cent but if the fraction is one half of a cent the amount is to be rounded down to the nearest whole cent). The Acquisition

Price is to be calculated based on information obtained from ASX or its subsidiaries, and for this purpose the Company may determine at its discretion that a particular transaction is not to be included in the calculation because, in the Company s view, it is not within the ordinary course of trading on ASX.

ASX means ASX Limited (ABN 98 008 624 691) or the Australian Securities Exchange operated by it (as the context requires).

Australian Withholding Tax means any amount that the Company is required to withhold, deduct, remit or otherwise deal with in relation to an Eligible Dividend in accordance with the requirements of any tax law.

Board means the directors of the Company acting collectively under the Constitution or a committee or person to whom the directors of the Company have delegated a relevant power in accordance with the Constitution or the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) (or both).

BOP means the Company s Bonus Option Plan.

Company means Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited ABN 11 005 357 522.

Constitution means the constitution of the Company from time to time.

DRP means the Company s Dividend Reinvestment Plan the subject of these Terms and Conditions.

DRP Account means an account established and maintained under rule 4.3.

DRP Participant means a Shareholder who is not ineligible to participate as determined by rule 1.2 and:

- (a) whose Election Form has been received and accepted by the Company and is effective in accordance with rules 2 and 12; and
- (b) who has not ceased to participate by operation of rules 8, 9 or 10.

DRP Share means a Share that is taken to be participating in the DRP pursuant to rules 3.1 and 3.2.

Election Form means an application to participate in the DRP in the form prescribed or approved by the Company from time to time, which form may be combined with or be a part of any other form or notice and may be electronic if the Company permits.

Eligible Dividend means each cash dividend determined by the Board in respect of Shares and (at the discretion of the Board) includes any special dividends.

Listing Rules means the Listing Rules of ASX as they apply to the Company from time to time.

Pricing Period means, in relation to any Eligible Dividend, the period of 7 trading days (or such other number of trading days as the Board may determine from time to time) commencing on the second trading day immediately following the Record Date in relation to that Eligible Dividend (or such other day as the Board may determine).

Record Date means:

- (a) for the purpose of rule 12.1(c), the date for calculating entitlements to the relevant Eligible Dividend; and
- (b) in all other cases, 7.00 pm (Melbourne time) (or such other time as the Board determines) on the date for calculating entitlements to the relevant Eligible Dividend.

Share means a fully paid ordinary share in the Company.

Share Registrar means the person appointed as registrar of the Share Registry from time to time.

Share Registry means the Company s share register or registers maintained by the Share Registrar.

Shareholder means a holder of a Share or Shares from time to time.

16. Trading Rules

For so long as the Company remains admitted to the official list of ASX, despite anything else contained in these Terms and Conditions:

- (a) if the Trading Rules prohibit an act being done by the Company, the act shall not be done;
- (b) nothing contained in these Terms and Conditions prohibits an act being done by the Company that the Trading Rules require to be done;
- (c) if the Trading Rules require an act to be done or not to be done, authority is given for that act to be done or not to be done (as the case may be);

- (d) if the Trading Rules require these Terms and Conditions to contain a provision and they do not contain that provision, these Terms and Conditions are taken to contain that provision;
- (e) if the Trading Rules require these Terms and Conditions not to contain a provision and they contain that provision, these Terms and Conditions are deemed not to contain that provision; and
- (f) if any of these Terms and Conditions are or become inconsistent with the Trading Rules, these Terms and Conditions are to be taken not to contain that provision to the extent of the inconsistency.

In this rule, Trading Rules mean:

- (a) the Listing Rules; and
- (b) the ASTC settlement rules (or operating rules of a clearing and settlement facility that is a prescribed CS facility under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)), as they apply to the Company from time to time.

23

Shareholder Contact

Information

Australia

ANZ s Share Registrar

c/o Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited

GPO Box 2975

Melbourne Vic 3001, Australia

Telephone: 1800 11 33 99

New Zealand

ANZ s Share Registrar

c/o Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited

Private Bag 92119

Auckland 1020, New Zealand

Telephone: 0800 174 007

United Kingdom

ANZ s Share Registrar

c/o Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited

PO Box 82, The Pavilions,

Bridgwater Road

Bristol BS99 7NH

United Kingdom

Telephone: 0870 702 0000

Other Useful Contacts

Any other Country: (61 3) 9415 4010

Facsimile: (61 3) 9473 2500

Email: anzshareregistry@computershare.com.au

Web: www.anz.com

Dividend webpage:

www.anz.com/aus/shares/services/dividends

24

Australlia and New Zealand Banking Group I	Limited (ANZ) ABN 11	005 357522. ANZ	s colour blue is a trade mark
of ANZ. Item No. 53520 03.2007 W107198			

WWW.anz.com

Company Secretary s Office Level 6, 100 Queen Street Melbourne VIC 3000 Phone 03 9273 6141 Fax 03 9273 6142 www.anz.com

ANZ StEPS quarterly distribution

On 15 March 2007 ANZ paid the quarterly distribution on its ANZ Stapled Exchangeable Preferred Securities (ANZ StEPS) and set the Distribution Rate for the payment due on 15 June 2007.

The distribution paid for the quarter ended 15 March 2007 for each ANZ StEPS was based on a Distribution Rate of 7.4000% p.a. as announced on 18 December 2006.

The Distribution Rate for the quarter ending 15 June 2007 has been set in accordance with clause 3.1 of the Note Terms set out in the Prospectus dated 14 August 2003. The Distribution Rate was calculated as follows:

Market Rate (90 day bank bill rate as at 15 March 2007)	6.3717 % p.a.
Plus the initial margin	1.0000 % p.a.
Distribution Rate	7.3717 % p.a.

This distribution of \$1.8581 for each ANZ StEPS will be paid on 15 June 2007 with the record date being 30 May 2007.

John Priestley Company Secretary Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited

for and on behalf of Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited and ANZ Holdings (New Zealand) Limited

19 March 2007

Corporate Communications 100 Queen Street Melbourne Vic 3000 www.anz.com

For Release: 23 March 2007

ANZ maintains \$4.05 bid for E*TRADE Australia

ANZ reiterated that its cash offer of \$4.05 per share for E*TRADE Australia Limited remains compelling despite the independent expert s report which was released today.

As stated in the report, ANZ s offer provides cash certain value at a price well above E*TRADE Australia s pre-bid share price and that in the absence of ANZ s offer, E*TRADE Australia shares are likely to trade below the offer price. The report itself states that given ANZ s 34.2% shareholding in E*TRADE Australia, there appear to be limited prospects of a higher cash offer.

Commenting on the report, ANZ Group Managing Director, Personal Division, Mr Brian Hartzer said: We remain attracted to the foundation that E*TRADE could bring us, but only at a realistic price. The independent expert s valuation of E*TRADE is unrealistic. The valuation implies a premium of more than 40% to the forecast earnings(1) multiples of the average of all US on-line brokers. It is also a premium of more than 60% to the earnings(2) multiple for the only other listed Australian on-line broking company and a similar premium to E*TRADE shares only 6 months ago.

The valuation is based on earnings forecasts for the year ending 30 June 2007 which have not been endorsed by E*TRADE Australia.

The independent expert s report is qualified in respect of the value of E*TRADE Australia, stating:

- Judgements regarding the value of E*TRADE are subject to considerable uncertainty.
- E*TRADE has experienced strong earnings growth in recent years, but its profitability is highly leveraged to the strength of the Australian and (indirectly) international equity markets. There is no guarantee that recent favourable equity market conditions will continue.

Mr Hartzer also noted that the valuation is predicated on unreasonable synergy assumptions. ANZ is bidding for E*TRADE to grow and enhance the business, and not on the basis of cost synergies, Mr Hartzer said.

ANZ s cash offer for E*TRADE Australia closes at 7.00pm (Melbourne time) on 18 April 2007, unless extended. A copy of the ANZ s Bidder s Statement is available from ANZ s website www.anz.com.

For media enquiries contact:

Paul Edwards, Head of Corporate Communications

Tel: 03-92736955 or 0409-655 550

Email: paul.edwards@anz.com

- (1) Adjusted for full corporate tax for E*TRADE Australia which will become payable from 2007
- (2) Adjusted for full corporate tax

Edgar Filing: AUSTRALIA & NEW ZEALAND BANKING GROUP LTD - Form 6-K

Level 32, 100 Queen Street Melbourne Vic 3000 Australia Phone +61 3 9273 6607 Fax +61 3 9273 6106 www.anz.com

Peter R. MarriottChief Financial Officer

30 March 2007

Company Announcements Australian Securities Exchange Level 10, 20 Bond Street SYDNEY NSW 2000

Company Secretary Changes

Further to the announcement on 15 March 2007 detailing various senior management changes, including Tim L Estrange s appointment as Managing Director, Europe and Americas, the ANZ Board has today formally accepted Mr L Estrange s resignation as a Company Secretary of ANZ.

The Board has also appointed Marian Gibney as a Company Secretary of ANZ with immediate effect.

Yours sincerely

AUSTRALIA AND NEW ZEALAND BANKING GROUP LIMITED

Peter Marriott Chief Financial Officer

15 04/03

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited ABN 11 005 357 522

30 March 2007 268